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" CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
R E

Dear Shareholders,

I am pleased to report the outstanding business results of Huanxi
Media Group Limited (the “Company” or “"Huanxi Media”, together
with its subsidiaries, collectively the “Group”) for the past year. The
movie Full River Red (&I 4T), which was released during the Chinese
New Year holiday in 2023, had total box office receipts of more than
RMB4.5 billion and was the highest grossing Chinese film in 2023.

Box office and critical success

According to the data released by the China Film Administration, the
total box office receipts of films in the People’s Republic of China (the
“PRC") in 2023 exceeded RMB53 billion, a sharp increase of more
than 80% compared with the previous year, reflecting the vibrancy of
China’s film industry after the lifting of the anti-epidemic policy. The
continuous release of quality films has led to a strong recovery of the
film market.

Seeing an opportunity in the recovery of market demand, the Group
released Full River Red (/I 4L), which was invested in and lead
produced by the Group, in the first peak season after the lifting of
the anti-epidemic policy. Full River Red (#,L4L), directed by Zhang
Yimou, makes use of the courtyard houses and narrow alleys of the
ancient county town of Taiyuan and the interplay of light and shadow
to create a tense atmosphere. Against the backdrop of a mysterious
case, it tells the story of a group of righteous men who fight against
evil during the Southern Song Dynasty. The film is well-paced, with
humor provided by characters with different mindsets, such as Shen
Teng as a soldier of no rank, Jackson Yee as the deputy commander of
the guard battalion, and Zhang Yi as the general manager of the grand
chancellor’s office; winning bursts of laughter from audiences. The
film topped the box office charts during the Chinese New Year holiday
with total box office receipts of RMB4.54 billion. It also became the
highest-grossing suspense film in Chinese film history and ranked first
on China's 2023 box office charts.

The Group’s summer holiday release of Papa (£), produced by and
starring Huang Bo, written and directed by Su Liang, stars Huang Bo
and Shan Yuhao as father and son respectively, who embark on an
interesting journey in the process of applying for primary school. The
heartwarming scenes pay homage to the common growth of parents
and their children. At the same time, amid the laughter, the film
addresses real-life educational issues such as admission interviews,
extracurricular tutoring, and interest classes, which evoke passionate
opinions from audiences.
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In the fourth quarter, the Group released Beyond the Clouds (&A=&
1), a film based on the school experience of Principal Zhang Guimei.
In the film, Hai Qing's interpretation demonstrates Zhang Guimei'’s
spirit of fuel-burning lamp and love for education, overcoming
difficulties such as lack of funds, teachers and parental support in
the mountain villages of Yunnan, and helping students change their
destinies with knowledge. The film touches the hearts of audiences
with its sentimentality.

During the year, the Group actively prepared and completed post
productions of a number of popular films, including Li Na (B8 o £
%), directed by Chan Ho Sun Peter and starring Hu Ge, Vincent Cassel
and Hao Lei; Unspoken (AR #7 2 4) (formerly known as Unspoken (#&
FiriE 18)), directed by Chen Daming and starring Zhang Hanyu; Call Me
Crazy (R)8), directed by Gu Changwei and starring Ge You and Karry
Wang; The Mountain (L=1L), produced by Wang Xiaoshuai; Evacuate
From The 21st Century (#2142 & 2 #iBk), directed by Li Yang and
starring Zhang Ruoyun and zZhong Chuxi; The Movie Emperor (4%
Jt4) (formerly known as Red Carpet (&R Z)), directed by Ning
Hao and starring Andy Lau; and Strangers When We Meet BiZE&
), directed and written by Zhang Guoli and starring Zhou Dongyu.
The Group believes that with its rich and diverse themes, dazzling
directors and casts, and attractive film portfolio, it will win the favor of
audiences.

"Huanxi.com” brings together premium domestic
and international film and TV productions

During the year, the Group continued to optimise the content of its
online video platform “huanxi.com” to provide users with a continuous
stream of diverse online film and TV experiences. The Group
carefully planned and launched many high-profile film and television
productions, including the films Full River Red (iiL4L), Papa (£8),
and Anita (5% 35) which chronicles the legendary life of the diva. At
the same time, the Group released many award-winning foreign films
such as Bye Bye Morons (& & 18#%), Skies of Lebanon (T—H#R
22), Lost lllusions (41&), Ali & Ava (P B AL ), The Ties ((&IRE%)
and Memory Box (Bl1E 2 &). In addition, the Group will continue to
nurture in-depth cooperation with different channels to attract a wider
user base and promote the business development of “huanxi.com”.
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BUSINESS STRATEGIES AND PROSPECTS

Looking ahead, the Central Government is actively promoting
economic development and has declared 2024 as the “Year of
Consumption Promotion”. From the introduction of a series of policies
to encourage consumption to the creation of diversified consumption
scenarios, the Central Government has emphasised the need to
organise consumption promotion activities and encourage the
recovery of consumption from the post-epidemic period and better
meet people’s needs for quality of life. Film is an important part of
social culture, and watching films has always been a popular leisure
and entertainment activity. Now that the epidemic has subsided, the
long-suppressed consumer demand for cinema is gradually being
unleashed. With the support of the government’s active promotion
of cultural and entertainment consumption activities, the pace of
recovery of the film market is expected to accelerate further. During
the 2024 Chinese New Year holiday, the number of moviegoers
nationwide reached 160 million and the eight-day box office receipts
totaled RMB8 billion, an increase of 26.4% and 18.5%, respectively,
over the 2023 Chinese New Year holiday, setting a new record for
cinema consumption during the same period.

After the reporting period, the Group has arranged to release The
Movie Emperor (41 ¥ 5t 4), a dark comedy directed by Ning Hao and
starring Andy Lau. The Group plans to release a number of films in
cinemas in 2024 or in the first quarter of 2025, including The Murderer
(#E & FF) directed by Chan Ho Sun Peter and starring Zhang Ziyi and
Lei Jiayin; Li Na (3@ B e L), directed by Chan Ho Sun Peter and
starring Hu Ge, Vincent Cassel and Hao Lei, and The Stage (Ei &)
written and directed by Chen Peisi. The Murderer (&) is based
on a sensational case from 1940s Shanghai, and through the bizarre
experiences of its main character, Mrs. Zhan, it reveals the changes
in the world over the past half century. Li Na (8 & o £3%) is about Li
Na's legendary experience of winning Asia’s first Grand Slam singles
title. The Stage (B &) tells the story of how China’s famous Wuging
troupe was harassed by thugs and overrun by a warlord during their
three-day performance in the early years of the Republic of China — a
period of warlordism.
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In addition, the Group enriched its film portfolio and invested in Call
Me Crazy (RI38) directed by Gu Changwei and starring Ge You and
Karry Wang; Unspoken (LAZZ#: 2 4), directed by Chen Daming and
starring Zhang Hanyu; Evacuate From The 21st Century (#£21t 428 %
2Bk, directed by Li Yang and starring Zhang Ruoyun and zZhong
Chuxi; and the fantasy love story Intercross (A £2), directed by Cheng
Er and starring Wang Yibo and Wang Chuanjun. The Group is actively
preparing for the production and release of these films. The Group
believes that a wide range of themes and works with different styles
can meet the individual needs of audiences and attract wide attention.
Following the great success of Full River Red (i L4L), the Group is
planning to collaborate with Zhang Yimou again to create another
fascinating work.

The Group firmly believes that the “Content is King” strategy is the
key to the success of the film and television industry, and outstanding
directors and creative teams are the core that determines artistic
achievements and commercial value. The Group will continue to
work with top Chinese film directors to produce high-quality original
content. In addition to Zhang Yimou, the Group will also continue to
co-develop and produce leading content with Ning Hao, Xu Zheng,
Chan Ho Sun Peter, Wong Kar Wai, Zhang Yibai, Gu Changwei, Huang
Bo, Chen Daming, Jia Zhangke, Wang Xiaoshuai, etc., which will not
only bring wonderful entertainment and enjoyment to audiences, but
also provide a reliable guarantee for the Group's box office receipts.

In terms of online video platform, the Group continued to develop
“huanxi.com”. The platform optimises the content ecosystem, collects
global film and television masterpieces, incorporates high-quality films
invested in and produced by the Group, and cooperates closely with
major Internet and entertainment companies to attract a wider user
base.

Overall, the Group will continue to optimise the “Content is King"
strategy, strengthen cooperation with top Chinese film directors,
accelerate the launch of high-quality content, and build a leading
online video platform with diverse film and TV content, all with the
aim of consolidating the Group’s competitive advantages. The Group
endeavors to seize the opportunities presented by the recovery of the
film and television industry and continue to create high-value returns
for its shareholders.
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Last but not least, I would like to express my sincere gratitude to all the
members of our Board, our management team, business partners and
staffs for their dedication and contributions to the Group'’s businesses.

Dong Ping
Chairman

Hong Kong, 27 March 2024
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APPENDIX: FAMOUS SHAREHOLDER DIRECTORS AND CONTRACTED DIRECTORS OF THE GROUP
ik - AEEANERREERENEE

investment returns. His directorial debut incense (&
‘X) and another work Mongolian Ping Pong (4% & i)
were nominated for awards in over 50 international
film festivals

BEBFEAARKZEBE  2XEFHERER
HERLR ﬁ%*ﬁ%ﬂ%%%ﬂ%%ﬁu@iﬁi@ﬁé
I +%EABRBREZEERS

o Crazy Stone (T )4 38), a low budget production
he directed in 2006, won at the Taiwan Golden
Horse Awards for Best Original Screenplay. Crazy
Racer (R ERIEE) (2009), which he wrote and
directed, was produced W|th only RMB10 million,
yet brought in box office receipts of over RMB100
million
RZZZRFRE N EXZJ&E%WEE‘\JEEQM’EE%
AEERREERERAE - EXEBRAEHIE
B2 A R 10,000 000752(%&5’7%@%_7 =
NE) - EEZRIE AR 100,000,0007T

o He also directed the huge box office hit Breakup
Buddies (BTERR) (2014), which grossed RMB1.17
billion in box office receipts in the PRC, making it
the highest-grossing domestic Chinese movie of the
year
HHBEZ(OIERI (CE—HEF)  UBEARAER
B AR 1,170,000,000c R EFEFEHEREEE

= e
B R

. He is one of the co-producers of Dying to Survive
(B2 ZM) (2018), which earned RMB3.1 billion
in box office receipts. The movie was nominated
for seven awards at the 55th Taiwan Golden Horse
Awards and won the awards for Best Leading Actor,
Best New Director and Best Original Screenplay.
The movie also won Best Screenplay at the 42nd
Montreal World Film Festival
H2MBA BN (R TIRER) (- N\F)KE
£5 AR #3,100,000,0007t + FEE55ES HHEFR A
ELERE  SREGHESEA  SEFSER

RERZEAR=(R5E - Jb R TEEELES T
B E R 8 2 = BI AN 52

. He also directed Crazy Alien (RIEHISNE A) (2019),
which grossed RMB2.2 billion in box office receipts
in the PRC
HHBSZ(RANIEAN) (ZE—NF) BRE
=& A AR2,200,000,0007C

Director Background Cooperation Details

BE HEEN BERE

Ning Hao* o Famous internationally for his unique directing | ¢ During the cooperation period, the shareholder
=k style, all films he made so far had brought strong director shall direct one to two films (for public release)

every three years
J‘EN\{’EHH N REEEAARES=-F8E—=M
HEZAERMUAERERN AR M AXE)

o The film Crazy Alien (X852 A), with the Group
as exclusive investor and directed by Mr. Ning, was
released on the first day of the Chinese New Year in
2019. It bagged a third-party guaranteed minimum
distribution amount of RMB2.8 billion and generated
revenue of RMB700 million for the Group in 2019
FEEBRKE  ELLENENSZ(RENINE
MNERZE-NFFY— LB REE=FARE
2,800,000,000CREE T2 - ERZT—NEFAK
B R AR #700,000,0007T A

o The film The Movie Emperor (A1 # % %) (formerly
known as Red Carpet (2R E)), with the Group as
exclusive investor, directed by Mr. Ning and starring
Mr. Andy Lau, was released in the first quarter of 2024
REBBREE ELERERIBELETENE
FHREE) AIE(ZRBEL))  ERZTZNEE
—ZE L

Shareholder director
ud R EREE
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Director
BE

Background
BEEEN

Cooperation Details
BERE

Xu Zheng* o
B

In 2012, his directorial debut Lost in Thailand (A & H
i 2 Z= M), which he also wrote, directed, produced
and starred in, earned over USD200 million in box
office receipts
TE-—FEHENRAREEERREENRER(A
BR®zRE) - BEEEFE£200,000,0007T

In 2014, Mr. Xu produced and starred in the film
Great Hypnotist (f&8E A AR) which became a classic
in the thriller film market in the PRC

ZE-ME - RELAZHET T BEERERETL(E
RARD) RAEZERBREY MGLEHR

Dying to Survive (B2 %#®) co-produced by
and starring Mr. Xu earned RMB3.1 billion in box
office receipts in 2018. The film was nominated
for seven awards at the 55th Taiwan Golden Horse
Awards and won the awards for Best Leading Actor,
Best New Director and Best Original Screenplay.
The movie also won Best Screenplay at the 42nd
Montreal World Film Festival and Best Film at the
14th Changchun Film Festival

ZE-N\F - RAEESEBSERTFEN(RT
EE) R R ARS,100,000,0007T ¢ £ 55
EeSRPAEVELZE ZREGRESEA -
KIEMERERFERER A= (ERIE - It/ RRE
FREFFHANBERERE <« KIEBARRE 14/
PEREEVEH  REREHE

Lost in Russia ([E1%%) (2020), written, directed,
produced by and starring Mr. Xu, which was first
released through online video platforms in the PRC
REEERESEEREENEY(HBE) (ZZZ
TE)RBEINBRT TR

During the cooperation period, the shareholder
director shall direct one to two films (for public
release) every three years

REERRN  REEEBAREES=F8E %
MEBE R Em (AMERERRF FRRZE)

Lost in Russia ([15%), the latest in the "Lost” series,
was released through online video platforms on the
first day of the Chinese New Year in 2020
A R EF 2(AB)R S -_SFKEF
V—EREETE L1

L Shareholder director
u AR R EE
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Director Background Cooperation Details
BE BEEEN BERE
Chan Ho Sun o He is the first director crowned the “Best Director” | e During the cooperation period, the Group shall have
Peter* at the Taiwan Golden Horse Awards, the Hong Kong investment right to at least two films directed or co-
bR A] < Film Awards and Mainland China’s Golden Rooster directed by Mr. Chan, in amount up to 60% of the
Awards. His films Almost a Love Story (BHZ %) and total investment in each of Mr. Chan’s productions
Dragon (&%) had made it among Time Magazine's TEERRN  AEBEEBE LM AREERE
10 Best Movies of the Year SHANENEZNRERE  HRRELEREH
ERENERRESSFR BAEFSBEURT PR S A 1E IR B B REH60%
BEred R aESEEINAORESE - HIEN
B (HEZ)RRMR)EEMEREEHISNKREA o  The Group shall have priority over others to
HTWFEETEER purchase exclusive global distribution licenses in
new media with respect to Mr. Chan’s productions
o Leap (B7E) directed by him was released in 2020 FEBEBZERERNABER S EEMNRIE
ERENEZ(BER)EN S _TF LK SRR R T AL 2R
. LiNa (B8 e L£35) directed by him is expected to | e For those productions the Group invested in, the
be released in 2024 Group shall have the right to decide regarding
HHBHEZ(BR » LB BHBR T -_NF L distribution of the films to exclusive new media
ik platforms
HAEECRENRE  FEBBERTRTEY
CEFRIRE T OREEITR
e The film The Murderer (2& ), produced by the
Group and directed by Mr. Chan and starring Ms.
Zhang Ziyi, is expected to be released in 2024.
AEEHR  RAEREREFRZTEENEY
(BEF)BEHHR_S-E L -
wong Kar Wai# | e Dubbed a “movie poet”, renowned movie director, | e During the cooperation period, the Group has the
FRE* producer and screenwriter, Mr. Wong won the “Best right to invest exclusively in a Chinese internet

Director” title at the Hong Kong Film Awards and the
Golden Horse Awards for the movie Days of Being
Wild (P 3¢ I 15)

UEZFAIZBNALELEE  BERES -

HHENEZ(MREB) REEBEY 2 RERS
EREEGER

. He also won the “Best Director” award for Happy
Together (&t /E%) at the 50th Cannes Film Festival
BIE(ENER)REFEVERAREFREBRRE

drama series = 18 episodes in two seasons = co-
directed and produced by Mr. Wong. There will be
12 episodes in the first season

FEAEERA  AEERESTEEMEEEMERE
MER1BER BB R RENBRIEERE &

FH12%

. The Group also has a right to invite Mr. Wong to
produce an extra movie or internet drama series
principally invested by the Group
REETARBBTAEBINEE—BETERLSE
BiRENEYIBERINZRE

. The Group has exclusive right to distribute, sub-
license and broadcast the internet drama series to
the global audience through new media platforms
for a period of 10 years
AEERBET EEREBNEETEMENE
iifa.%fﬁ&wt%%%%ﬂ%ﬁﬁfiﬂﬁ’ﬂ%%ﬁ% CEEET

. Mr. Wong is going to produce and co-direct an
internet drama series Paradise Guesthouse (X & Hi
#8) with 12 episodes
TRAENKRBERZNESER12ERERINTZE
BICREHRER)

#

Shareholder director

B ERE R
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" CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

e

Director
BE

Background
BEEEN

Cooperation Details
BERE

Zhang Xiaoling* | e
(also known
as Zhang
Yibai)

IR BERE
(X&R—H)

Dubbed the “Godfather of Youth Films” in the PRC,
his love story movies have enjoyed wide acclaims
and among them, the 2016 production / Belonged
to You ({R&y 2t REX18) brought in box office
receipts of more than RMB800 million, a record
among movies of its kind

BRERITREELHAR]  ERENZHEREY
R BRI - Ep T RNFERRMRD
it R B B RIE @A A R800,000,0007TF
E - ATHEERBEZNER ML

The box office receipts of films he directed and
produced totaled more than RMB3.1 billion,
putting him in the league of the most commercially
successful directors and producers in the PRC today
HHENERNNEYRZRRBEFBBARE
3,100,000,0007C - Ty Bl B RIS A E B EMKA
BERNNGERER L —

Us and Them (i #9131/ (2018) produced by Mr.
Zhang and directed by Rene Liu recorded a box
office receipts of more than RMB1.36 billion
REFEFESR  FEERENERNENM (=
T—\F) - USZEFE B AK1,360,000,0007T

During the cooperation period, the Group has
priority right over others to invest in at least two of
Mr. Zhang's productions, in the amount of no less
than 55% of the total investment amount of each of
the productions

EEERN  AEEZABENMDAREZDMED
REFERER  REBTPREHREEER
8B BB 2 55%

The Group has priority right to purchase exclusive
global distribution licenses to new media of at least
two of Mr. Zhang's productions
AEEZAREBEZOMBREEERZ2IE
FONE R EATAT R ZHER

The Group has exclusive right to invest in two
seasons of internet drama series directed (or co-
directed) by Mr. Zhang
AEBZEHREEDEEBEAE)NMETEE
RIEHRE 2 BRI EHE

The Group has been granted exclusive global
distribution rights of two seasons of the internet
drama series directed (or co-directed) by Mr. Zhang
to new media
AEEERREENE(FHMENE)NMEBRER
FIRREIZ R BRI EITHE

The Group has participation rights to other
productions of Mr. Zhang
AEBEERREEEMIERZIREDERE

The internet drama series Run For Young (BLA 4
7K 2=) directed by Mr. Zhang was released in 2020
REEHENER(RADEHRE)ER =T =Z
Fy

L Shareholder director
u AR R EE
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
EEHEE

Director
BE

Background
BEEEN

Cooperation Details
BERE

Gu Changwei* | o
BRE

As one of the few Chinese members of the
Academy of Motion Picture Arts and Sciences
(AMPAS), he has long been hailed as “the master
cinematographer in Asia” and subsequently became
a director

BERERIVHEANRNRES  REITCMNE—8
T2 HE  RAEREEY

He directed a number of iconic movies including
Love for Life (&), Peacock (£L#), and was the
cinematographer of Red Sorghum (A =&3R) and
Farewell To My Concubine (% BIHE), winning
accolades at many international film festivals

HELHWAREY  BR(RE)  (FLE)RHR
(MmR) R(BIRIR)  EHREEFRERS
BRI

During the cooperation period, the Group has
exclusive right to invest in two seasons of internet
drama series directed (or co-directed) by Mr. Gu
EEERA  AREZHELTEREEBANE)
HMERERIF BB BRRER

The Group has exclusive global new media
distribution rights for these internet drama series
AEBERBEEBERINTREZ R HBRNE
BRI

The Group has priority right to invest in Mr. Gu's
productions. The exact amount of investment
in each of Mr. Gu's productions is to be agreed
between the Company and Mr. Gu
FEBZAEAREBEESHIER BN - §—
MELEELEmz ABREEMAARNA A HEL
HTR5E

The Group has the right to purchase exclusive global
distribution licenses to new media for at least two of
Mr. Gu's productions and has participation right to
invest in his other productions
FEBZEEEROMBBLEEX EMNRIE
iiﬁﬁﬁ%’% TR CERIMZ AR EEMIER 2
ik

Shareholder director
R EREE

BEEHEEEEARAA -
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< CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

FF HEE
Director Background Cooperation Details
5 BEEN BERR

Zhang Yimou* | e
RELR

As an internationally famed movie director, his
works included Red Sorghum ((1&3R), Raise the
Red Lantern (RELEER ™A, To Live (FE), Not
One Less (—E#FT824), The Road Home (FEIAL
), Hero (1), House of Flying Daggers (1T
IBIK), Curse of the Golden Flower (fii & & & F),
The Flowers of War (£ +=4%), Coming Home (5%
7€) and The Great Wall (F3), etc.

BERMEEE  HENENEZRE(LaR)
(RélggEma®) - (BE) - (—EEFTED) -
(BB - (EH) - (+EER) - CRRE
BEEF) (BBE+=80 - (BR) - (R)E

His works received awards at international film
festivals, including Golden Bear at the Berlin
International Film Festival, Golden Lion at Venice
International Film Festival, and also the Golden
Horse Awards in Taiwan

HEHRENEZ L NECSBREBEEFHAR  BEHEK
B%“?-é%ﬁﬁé%ﬁ BEYESMENSERS

Mr. Zhang was the chief director of the opening
ceremony of the 2008 Beijing Olympics, and was
awarded an honorary doctorate degree by Boston
University and Yale University in the US
REERZENFIRRBEREALER =
BURTHEAZRIERBREF L

Mr. Zhang also directed Full River Red (miL4L),
which grossed RMB4.5 billion in box office receipts
in the PRC

REESHEBEZ ORI BRNBEEAARE
4,500,000,0007T

During the cooperation period, the Group has
exclusive right to invest in three internet drama
series directed by Mr. Zhang, with topics to be
agreed between the Group and Mr. Zhang
EAERRN  AEEREEARRERTEREN
“ R RIITRE - B EARERERE AR
JE

The exclusive investment right of one internet
drama series directed by Mr. Zhang can be
converted into priority investment right of a film
directed by him (with no existing third-party contract
restriction), and the investment amount within the
cooperation period shall not be less than 60% of the
total investment of the film
H—-HREFNENHERINZERNBERRERE
AERAHERE  AXABHRE =76 DR HIH
BY LBAERERE  REEBAZREBINDNZ
BRI EBEN60%

The Group shall own all the tangible and intangible
assets of Mr. Zhang internet drama series, as well
as the rights derived from or related to them
FEBBEERTERBRRITCRA L AEERLR
B EENREITERER KA R

The film One Second (—#)§&), produced by the
Group and directed by Mr. Zhang, hit the screen in
2020

AEEHG  REERENEZ(—HEER=F
e ol

The film Full River Red (W) 4L), produced by the
Group and directed by Mr. Zhang, was released on
the first day of the Chinese New Year in 2023
AEERG  REEFHENEZCRWIAER-Z
ZEFRFO— LB

Huang Bo In 2018, Mr. Huang directed and starred in the comedy 7he | e During the cooperation period, the Group and
(Hanna Island (— 4 E%), which earned over RMB1.35 billion in Mr. Huang will collaborate on investment and
Pictures) box office receipts development of quality film and TV productions

BEMMATE)  —T-\F BEALEERESEK—LEE) ERER EEERN  AEERELERSERERARE

T A R #1,350,000,0007T B RIER
J The film Papa (&) invested by the Group and
starred in by Mr. Huang was released in 2023
AEERERELETENER(ES)EN T
=Fm
g Shareholder director
g BEREE
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT 2,
EEHEE

Director
BE

Background
BEEEN

Cooperation Details
BERE

Chen Daming
BRAEA

Mr. Chen studied screenwriting, directing and acting
in the US in the 1990s and starred in a number of
Hollywood movies. Many of the films he directed
won international awards
REERNTFERBERZBRE - BENKE
LRLELHHEREY  ENE HHBEHIEE
HNER SR

He is currently a visiting professor at the Beijing
Film Academy (L REF %), Vice President of
the Shanghai International School of the Beijing Film
Academy (t REF Bt HG B 2) and has
been appointed by Shanghai Vancouver Film School
as its Art Director

MR REYERTERRRIRELER LEE
%%EFEEIJIKTEE CWREAEERTESTER A
1 L

Vor M

During the cooperation period, the Group has
priority right to invest in at least three of Mr. Chen’s
productions

ERERR  FEEZABRARNBAREED =5
PR 7t & Ve mm 2 T

The Group has exclusive rights to invest in two
seasons of internet drama series directed (or co-
directed) by Mr. Chen
AEBESREEHRSIMEDE)NMERRZR
FIRE 2 BRIEEE

Payments (such as development fund, film director

fees and creative member fees) will be agreed

separately for each of Mr. Chen's films and internet

drama series productions

BREEGEER RABE R ZREBEE 2 (5B

%El%jﬁéfﬁé CEXERERFAAEER K
hIE

The film Unspoken (AR 2 %) directed by Mr.
Chenis expected to be released in 2024
RAERENEL (AR 2B BHER_E T
F i

Jia Zhangke
B

A distinguished international art-house director, he
has received Lifetime Achievement Awards from
several international film organisations
BRERBMBYEE  CEZEEREZEBR
B S RREE)

Directed 12 feature films, all nominated for awards
at the Berlin, Cannes and Venice International Film
Festivals. In 2013, A Touch of Sin (X% 7E) won the
award for Best Screenplay at the 66th Cannes Film
Festival

gyE+—HMRE 2 ABEEM - B R EES
BYE c T —=F  (RET) EF66E R B
BYEAREREE

In 2015, he received the Carrosse d'Or at the
Cannes Film Festival

“T-0F ERPEREYHERERE KT
Rt & HE ]

In 2018, Ash is Purest White (JT#5 %) was a
shortlisted contender of the top honor at the 71st
Cannes Film Festival

—E-)\F EHENCTHR L) ABE7ERS

Fe

ERHIHREET

The Group has exclusive or priority right to invest
in at least three new films directed by Mr. Jia in the
cooperation period

EAERN  AEEEGHEREHE 7RI
HEXEMNBERNBLIRERE

The Group has priority distribution right and
exclusive new media right to the above new films
AEEFES DRFBERERNELBITRENE
RBxRE

BEEHEEEEARAA -
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" CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

FF HEE
Director Background Cooperation Details
5 BEEN BERR

Wang Xiaoshuai | e

EN:L

A pioneer independent film director in the PRC and
recipient of the Ordre des Arts et des Lettres from
the French Minister of Culture

i@%ﬁﬁf‘ﬁﬁ% I BESER XL BT 5 T8
EHFES

Directed 11 feature films that were nominated eight
times in the top three international film festivals
HHERT—BEXRRE - \RAB=KBEREY
BN EE T

In 2005, Shanghai Dreams (& #41) won the Jury Prize
at the 58th Cannes Film Festival

ZTTRE  HREN(SA) BEBERMBEEE
FETEE AR

The Group has priority right to invest in two
productions (including films and internet drama
series) Mr. Wang directed or produced during the
cooperation period

EAEHN  AEREGHIAEHEHEE M
fgi{%ﬁf’ﬁﬁq(@%@é%&%%%%ﬁu%‘ﬁf%ﬂ)ﬂ@@f‘ﬁﬁ
B

The Group has priority right to invest in and
distribute globally his new productions
AEBEREEEMERNBAREEMDIRELE
1THE

The Group has exclusive right to distribute and re-
sell his new productions to new media platforms
worldwide
AEESEEENMERER BN ERETaBRE
TRREERE

The film The Mountain (L 11), invested by the Group
and produced by Mr. Wang, is expected to hit the
screen in 2024
AEERE  TREEHNEI( L) AEERZ
T UF Rk

Manfred Wong | e

ESg

(X&XE)

A veteran filmmaker in Hong Kong who has
directed, produced, and acted in films and is also a
screenwriter for films and TV dramas
BEBBEREXA  EBREIEFEE ER R
FRRB AL

mo

3 &

\

Ventured into the film industry in the early 1990s
and co-founded BoB & Partners Company Limited
(HEHEAR AT in the mid-90s, he has under
his belt more than 30 films including The Storm
Riders (BZE) and the Young and Dangerous (i 217)
series

BPNTERVAREY EE RATERTHEA
REMEBEERLAR - ZREBRBI0HNEY - 81
(BE) - (EXP)RINE

The film Roots and Branches (B 7 1% %) he
produced broke the box office receipt record of
domestic movies in the PRC in 2001 and won
awards at more than 10 film festivals

HEER Z(BNARHH) R ST —F 2 H
BESFVERLH  TEIBRATEAZENE TR
bz}

Hong Kong's first producer to venture into
production of internet drama series. His works
included Feel 7100% (B 5 B&E) and 20/30
Dictionary (5 2 F#2), among others
EREURBREEEISREA  B2ERE(ESR
BE) R(BLFHE)EBREIE

The Group has priority right over others to invest in
at least four of Mr. Wong's productions
FEEZREEENBARBEINBELEEEm2
TR
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 2,

BUSINESS AND OPERATION REVIEW

Investment in Film and TV Programmes Rights
Business

The film market in China showed a strong recovery in 2023, the
demand for films in China continued to pick up and movie themes
became more diversified, resulting in a significant year-on-year
increase in the national box office. During the year, Huanxi Media
seized the opportunity presented by the recovery of the film market
and took the lead by releasing Full River Red (@ L4L), which was
invested in and lead produced by the Group and directed by Zhang
Yimou, during the Chinese New Year holiday in 2023. The film achieved
impressive box office receipts and word-of-mouth recommendations,
it has also been released on the Group's online video platform “huanxi.
com”.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group recorded an
increase in revenue and film investment loss, net to HK$1,332,794,000
(2022: HK$13,630,000), sharply increase of approximately 97 times;
recorded a turnaround from loss to profit, a profit before tax of
HK$212,085,000 (2022: a loss before tax of HK$223,272,000); and a net
profit of HK$159,135,000 (2022: a net loss of HK$221,812,000).

During the year, the Group continued to work closely with top Chinese
film directors to develop and produce high-quality films for the next
one to two years. Among the films in shooting are The Murderer (4
[&3F) directed by Chan Ho Sun Peter and starring Zhang Ziyi and
Lei Jiayin; and The Stage (&, &) written and directed by Chen Peisi.
Moreover, the films completed production include Li Na (B & o +15)
directed by Chan Ho Sun Peter and starring Hu Ge, Vincent Cassel and
Hao Lei; Call Me Crazy (®I38) directed by Gu Changwei and starring
Ge You and Karry Wang; Unspoken (JAX 382 %) (formerly known as
Unspoken (#&FTE 1)), directed by Chen Daming and starring Zhang
Hanyu; Strangers When We Meet BAZE /), directed and written
by Zhang Guoli and starring Zhou Dongyu; Evacuate From The 21st
Century (21143 22 2 #iE), directed by Li Yang and starring Zhang
Ruoyun and Zhong Chuxi; and The Mountain (_t LL1), produced by Wang
Xiaoshuai, etc. Following the great success of the film Full River Red (i
JL4T), the Group plans to collaborate with director Zhang Yimou again
to film another movie with both artistic and commercial value.

o B W B2 B

REREELDRE
EXRERBIMERERK

R-ZF-_=FE  PREZMHERRLEINESR
RY AMBRXFILHERNE  EXEMEBZ
T 2EEFRALARIER  BEERFAREESE
FMHEHFNKE  XTE_T_-FFMEHEY
AEEBREREER  REFRAENEZORT
D) BITBANEEROE YR AKBEHER
BIAF B[EE IR BE

BHE-_E-_=F+-A=+—HBLLtEE K&
EHBREREFREBRE  FHEENEEE
1,332,794,0007T (=8 = — 4 : % #¥13,630,000
L) RIEEMHALTEE RB5EEBERER
& B B A8 #212,085,000c (ZE = =

& B AT BT 1R 7S 85 223,272,0007T) ¢ A ROFEE T
159,135,000 (= —F : FEHEEBK
221,812,0007T) °

FR - AEBESEFHIE - REERENRES
MEEEY - RARK— - WEH LBIERIELTED
E I[EEEHETNEXERERTFRE  &F
BREEEXEN(ERE) - UKARMITHES X
HENER(HA)  BINEBRETREENET S
FEPRATFHNE - AR - Vincent Cassel R BE £ IEH
(BEeLB) BRENE  BERIEAITEN
(RIZE) ~ RAHHE - RBETEEHUARRZ )
(AITECEMRE)) REVHEREE @ ALHE
BEOCHEER) FHRE - REYREEETE
B2 L T 2B - RE/DRERECEL)
& BB ORI RERE - AEBESIER
BREEHREE RS —WMRABMEESRS
HEEENER -
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In terms of the online video platform, “huanxi.com” continued to
achieve steady growth. During the year, the platform released a
number of foreign films that captured market attention, including
Bye Bye Morons (=1 % 158%), which won seven awards at the Cesar
Awards (French Academy), including Best Picture and Best Director;
Skies of Lebanon (T—1##)K2E), the shortlisted film of Critics” Week
at the Cannes Film Festival; Lost lllusions (Z]%), opening film of the
Venice Film Festival and the Best Picture at the Cesar Awards (French
Academy); Ali & Ava (F] 2823 %), a love story that received three
nominations including The Directors’ Fortnight — Cannes, as well as
Outstanding British Film and Best Actor at the BAFTA Awards; The
Ties (#EWREZ), opening film of the Venice Film Festival; The Duke (‘A
B%) starring famous British actors Jim Broadbent and Helen Mirren;
Red Soil (41 1), which was shortlisted for the Cannes Film Festival;
Full Time (& #R3&%)), which was nominated for the Orizzonti Award
for Best Picture, Best Director, Best Actress at the Venice Film Festival
and the winner of Best Editing at the Cesar Awards (French Academy),
and Memory Box ((Bl18 2 &), which was nominated for the Golden
Bear at the Berlin International Film Festival. The content advantage
of "huanxi.com” consolidated the Group’s market position in China’s
online video platform. Going forward, the Group will continue to form
alliances and cooperate with major channels to attract a wider user
base and expand its revenue base.

Overall, the Group will also continue to deepen its cooperation with
outstanding directors and develop more high-quality films. With
strong production capabilities and ample film reserves, as well as
the strategic layout of the online video platform, the Group is poised
to provide audiences with more exciting audiovisual feasts to enjoy,
while continuously driving stable business development.
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EHEEBETEaImE  (BEEalFEETERE  F
NE LR —ZINEXBENEIEF - BIFER
JHBRESF  RESFSTHEARBE(ETF
Z1548%) (Bye Bye Morons) ~ M EF T AR
ANEES R —1 AKX 2= ) (Skies of Lebanon) + &
EHEFARERF R EABIHMBRESH (LR
(Lost lllusions) « EEWMEF B REREBE T + HEH
By EhBREREEHF  RESTA-HEHRESR
BiEHE(PTREETE) (Al & Ava) ~ REFTE®
EF R (UEHEE) (The Ties) - EREZRE
Jim BroadbentfHelen MirrenE @8 A E) (The
Duke) * B BFEIAEF A (AT L) (Red Soil) ~ &
EHEFSHMTRELTEEY  REER &
FBEERBRFRYBBRENEREH (2R
BE) (Full Time) A MM EZEH S RREBREZER
(El1E 2z &) (Memory Box) & @ [BrE Bt A NBE
B BEAEEEFBREGGAT & NTISHAL -
S—HE AEEBEERSKAIEREEE &
SIBECHAFER  ARKRAER -

BRERF - AEBBEBERLREFTENAE
HHEZRMEANERER  BRESENAIEED
REENEXHEE  NLEERBETEHBEM
B REREREZREBROTAEENRE -
REEDXTGRTER -



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Review of Results

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group recorded an
increase in revenue and film investment loss, net to HK$1,332,794,000
(2022: HK$13,630,000), sharply increase of approximately 97 times;
recorded a turnaround from loss to profit, a profit before tax of
HK$212,085,000 (2022: a loss before tax of HK$223,272,000); and a
net profit of HK$159,135,000 (2022: a net loss of HK$221,812,000).
For the last year, as the operational rate of cinema in China was
adversely affected by the pandemic, the Group postponed screenings
of some blockbusters invested by the Group, resulting in a decrease
in the Group's revenue and recording a loss for the last year. For the
year, the Group recorded a turnaround from loss to profit which was
mainly due to the overall satisfactory box office receipts of the Group
during the year. However, the Group expected a decrease in revenue/
expected revenue from its film and TV programmes rights in the first
quarter of the year 2024, the impairment loss of HK$106,196,000 for
the film and TV programmes rights was provided for the year 2023 (31
December 2022: HK$6,083,000) which partially offset the profit of the
Group.

The increase of selling and distribution costs during the year was
mainly due to the increase of movie distribution activities; income tax
expense increased as recorded a turnaround profit during the year,
and loss on film investment funds from investors increased as certain
film investors invested film rights held by the Group which income
distributed by the Group to these investors after the theatrical release
of the films was more than the investment funds received. Therefore,
the Group needed to recognise loss on film investment funds from
investors.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, profit per share of the Group
amounted to HK$0.04 (2022: loss per share of HK$0.06) and net asset
value per share attributable to owners of the Company was HK$0.40
(2022: HK$0.36).

o B W B2 B

Bt 7 B
¥iEMOEE
BE_Z_=F+_-_A=+—HIFEE A&
EHESKRIREZREER  FHRENEEE

1,332,794,00070 (=& = — £ : #1£13,630,0007T)
ANIBIE AN+ S5EEAER - BREADEFR
7E#5212,085,000t (ZE = —F : BREEAIES BB
223,272,0007T) & A K% )77 #159,135,0007T (=
T 4 REIEB221,812,0007T) c £ 0 B
REAERAEERZIRBENTHTE - NEE
HEASERENEEET G L - BEAE
BEFHRERD RREEE  c AFE  NEE
BEBARIEXENAEEFANERER W=
TR WAEEBH S _NFE—FTEEFN
BRENRENRATEHRRAEERD - BitR
CTEC-FABERERBIREEITRERESE
106,196,000c(ZE-—F+=-A=+—H : B
6,083,0007T) © HiE T ANEEBIE 5 FHE o
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BN TSRESEN  ERFREREEERA
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LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group's capital
expenditure, daily operations and investments are mainly funded
by cash generated from its operations. As at 31 December 2023,
the Group had net current assets of HK$735,495,000 (2022:
HK$654,367,000), with cash and cash equivalents of HK$310,146,000
(2022: HK$53,634,000). As at 31 December 2023, the Group's current
ratio (defined as total current assets divided by total current liabilities)
was approximately 1.95 (2022: 1.77). As at 31 December 2023, the
total equity of the Group amounted to HK$1,453,568,000 (2022:
HK$1,328,436,000) with no borrowing (2022: HK$108,267,000). The
Group's gearing ratio, expressed as the percentage of total borrowings
over total capital, was Nil (2022: 0.08) as at 31 December 2023. Total
capital is calculated as total equity plus total borrowings.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s short-term unsecured loan
receivables from independent third parties of HK$18,899,000
(2022: HK$28,131,000) deducted loss allowances of approximately
HK$10,923,000(2022: HK$1,690,000) consisted two corporate
borrowers (2022: Same).

As at 31 December 2023, a short-term unsecured loan receivable
net of loss allowances of approximately HK$18,899,000 (2022:
HK$18,805,000) carried interest at 6% per annum related to a
corporate borrower which was a film rights supplier of the Group. The
Company considered that the advance of the loan to the borrower
would enable the Group to maintain and strengthen its business
relationship with it and might facilitate the enrichment of film and TV
content of the Group’s online video platform by purchasing its online
broadcasting film rights (Note 23(b)).

As at 31 December 2023, a short-term unsecured loan receivable net
of loss allowances of Nil (2022: HK$9,326,000) carried interest at 10%
per annum related to a corporate borrower which was a potential
business partner of the Group. The Company considered that the
advance of the loan to the borrower would enable the Group to
develop the business relationship with it and might enhance further
expansion of the Group’s existing film and TV programmes rights
business and operation of an online video platform by making use of
the borrower’s audio-visual product distribution network in China (Note
23(b)).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS..

The Company considered that the terms of the loans were on normal
commercial terms and were fair and reasonable and in the interest of
the Company and its shareholders as a whole. There was no material
impairments or write-offs of the loan receivables during the year (2022:
Same).

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

As at 31 December 2023, the Company had shareholders’ capital of
approximately HK$36,565,000 (2022: Same) which is constituted of
3,656,472,362 ordinary shares (2022: Same) of HK$0.01 each in issue
(the “Share” or “Shares”). The Company did not carry out any fund
raising activities by issuing new shares of the Company during the
year under review.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSAL
OF SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES AND JOINT
VENTURES

The Group had no material acquisitions and disposal of subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures during the year ended 31 December
2023.

CHARGES ON ASSETS

As at 31 December 2023, the Group did not have any charge on assets
(2022: the Group's secured borrowings of HK$74,434,000 were secured
by other receivables amounting to approximately HK$71,000,000).

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

The Group's cash flow from operations, cash on hand and assets are
denominated mainly in Hong Kong dollars and Renminbi. Although
most of the production costs and management fees are denominated
in Renminbi, foreign currencies are needed for some investment
opportunities and cooperation plans with the PRC and overseas film
companies. The Group will continue to monitor its capital needs
closely and take appropriate measures to minimise any adverse
impact of exchange rate fluctuation on its overall financial status and
lower the Group's financial risks.
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FIMANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
o B W) 5250 A

RISK MANAGEMENT

During the year under review, the Group regularly reviewed the risk
and credit control systems of its profit centers to improve those
systems overall and mitigate credit risk. There have been no significant
changes in the Group’s risk management policy since the year-end
date last year.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had no significant contingent
liabilities (2022: Same).

CAPITAL COMMITMENT

Details of the commitments of the Group as at 31 December 2023 are
set out in Note 33 to the consolidated financial statements.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

The Group firmly believes high-caliber people are the most valuable
asset of a corporation. The Group thus places great attention on
attracting and nurturing talent. It has kept optimising its staff structure
to match its development strategy and business needs. As at 31
December 2023, the Group had 86 full-time employees (2022: 87)
and 4 part-time employees (2022: 4). The Group has in place well-
designed remuneration management and incentive mechanisms,
with employees remunerated based on their positions and work
performance, along with industry trends.

The Group participates in various defined contribution retirement
benefit plans which are available to all relevant employees. Forfeited
contributions cannot be used by the Group to reduce the existing level
of contribution to the defined contribution schemes.

MATERIAL INVESTMENTS

Saved as the film and TV programmes rights set out in Note 22 to
the consolidated financial statements, the Group had no material
investments during the year under review.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS

The Group is seeking for investment opportunities, including but not
limited to, in the media and entertainment related businesses in order
to expand the source of income and prospects of the Group.

22 HUANXI MEDIA GROUP LIMITED - Annual Report 2023

[ B B I

REREER - AREE SRR O AR R
B BE I - DA B OB B 4 6 0 I 1 R
% o BAEEEAE  ARBNERERHE LS
FAHED -

HREE

RZEBE-_=F+_A=+—H AEETEEMFNE
ASARBE(CZE-_—F : HR) -

BARAYE

AEBR - T _=F+_A=t—BHABAREZF
IBEN AR A B IS BRI FESS -

12 & M B3R

REB—EHREEFATRLEREENEE - K
EBEREAMERRANBZEAA - WRE RSN
¥BNFE  BEECASTLEE NZE_=F+
ZA=+—R AEEEAEEZRBEE(=ZZT=
ZF 87 RALEBEE (T ZF 1 48) o
AEBEY T TENFHINESEMUEES - EEX
FE IR HEAEE  TERBRITEBSIME

—
E °

AEE2HBZIFEEHR T A HERES O EHIUR
RAEMET 8] - N B TIF AR U B A TR 45
FEHKEH B IRIT RS SR -

BEARE

ARG B R MR MR 22FF B2 B RS AR
5N - FEBREEF N WEARE -
BEAKREZA®EE
AEBENGRARE (REATRNEERRLE

HEAEBITHE)  NEEAREERARREKRZER
SEMATR °



Set out below are the biographical details of the directors (the
“Directors”) of the Company as at the date of this annual report:

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Dong Ping (“Mr. Dong")

Mr. Dong, aged 62, was appointed as an executive Director on 2
September 2015, re-designated as the chairman (the “Chairman”) of
the board (the “Board”) of Directors on 15 January 2016 and is also a
member of remuneration committee and a member of nomination
committee of the Company. Mr. Dong is also director of a number
of subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Dong has extensive experience,
knowledge and connection in investment and operation of Chinese
media, advertisement, satellite TV, film productions and media fields
and was the former chairman of ChinaVision Media Group Limited
(now known as Alibaba Pictures Group Limited), a company listed on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1060). Mr. Dong
has been the principal investor, producer and co-producer of various
internationally renowned films, including Crouching Tiger, Hidden
Dragon (EASRHEBE) (directed by Mr. Ang Lee (&%), Devils on the
Doorstep (73 1) (directed by Mr. Jiang Wen (ZX)), Peacock (FL£)
(directed by Mr. Gu Changwei (B &), Let the Bullets Fly (:&F587)
(directed by Mr. Jiang Wen (X)), Journey to the West: Conquering
the Demons (Faiz « [£E ) (directed by Mr. Stephen Chow (£
§th)), Dearest (32 E &) (directed by Mr. Chan Ho Sun Peter (R 7] =£)),
Breakup Buddies ((TEFEHR) (directed by Mr. Ning Hao) and Dying
to Survive (TR E:34) (co-produced by Mr. Ning Hao and Mr. Xu
Zheng). Some of these films have won numerous major awards in both
domestic and overseas film festivals. From August 2003 to April 2005,
Mr. Dong was the president of Asian Union Film and Media. Between
31 May 2005 and 11 January 2008, Mr. Dong was appointed as an
executive director of Asian Union New Media (Group) Limited (now
known as Huayi Tencent Entertainment Co. Ltd.), a company listed on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 419), and was the
chairman of the board of directors of this Company from 12 May 2006
to 11 January 2008.

As at the date of this report, Mr. Dong was deemed to be interested
in 1,477,034,354 Shares (being 461,711,082 Shares held by Newwood
Investments Limited ("Newwood”), 92,342,216 Shares held by
Numerous Joy Limited (“Numerous Joy"), 800,000 Shares held by
Highrise Castle Limited (“Highrise"), 42,230,000 Shares held by Mr.
Dong, 2,700,000 underlying Shares held by Mr. Dong, 438,625,528
Shares held by Pacific Wits Limited (“Pacific Wits") and 438,625,528
Shares held by Tairong Holdings Limited (“Tairong"”)) within the
meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter
571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the “"SFO"). Please refer to the section
“Directors’ Interests in Securities” in the Directors’ Report of this
annual report for details.
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” BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS
HHEERE

Mr. Xiang Shaokun, Steven (“Mr. Xiang")

Mr. Xiang, aged 61, was appointed as an executive Director on 2
September 2015 and the Chief Executive Officer of the Company
on 18 September 2015. Mr. Xiang is also director of a number of
subsidiaries of the Group. Mr. Xiang was a partner of Weil, Gotshal
& Manges LLP, an international law firm, where he has led its China
practice since 2004. Previously, Mr. Xiang was a partner in the
Shanghai office of Clifford Chance, an international law firm from
2002 to 2004. A specialist in mergers and acquisitions, Mr. Xiang
has acted as the principal counsel in many significant transactions
including representing Lenovo Group Limited in its acquisition of IBM's
global personal computer business. He holds a degree of juris doctor
from Vanderbilt University School of Law, U.S.A. and a Bachelor of
Arts from Beijing University of International Relations. Mr. Xiang is
licensed to practice law in New York and in Hong Kong. Mr. Xiang has
been consistently ranked as one of the top mergers and acquisitions
lawyers by Chambers.

As at the date of this report, Mr. Xiang was interested in 27,000,000
underlying Shares within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO. Please
refer to the section “Directors’ Interests in Securities” in the Directors’
Report of this annual report for details.
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Ning Hao (“Mr. Ning")

Mr. Ning, aged 46, was appointed as a non-executive Director on 2
September 2015. Mr. Ning majored in photography and obtained a
bachelor degree from Beijing Film Academy (3t ) E 2 255%) in the PRC
in 2003. Mr. Ning is a film director and screenwriter who has directed
seven films between 2003 and 2014, which were engraved with his
unique personal style and won international acclaim. All of Mr. Ning's
films have achieved strong investment returns. His directorial debut
Incense (& X) (2003) and his second film Mongolian Ping Pong (4% &
i#b) (2004) were nominated in more than 50 international film festivals,
including the Berlin International Film Festival, the Locarno Festival
and the Hong Kong International Film Festival. Among these, Incense
(& N) won the Grand Prize at the Fourth Tokyo FILMeX Festival in
2003 and the Golden Prize (Asian Digital Films) at the 28th Hong Kong
International Film Festival in 2004. In 2006, Mr. Ning directed his small
budget film Crazy Stone (& #9454 58), which won the Taiwan Golden
Horse Awards (/&% 5 82) for the Best Original Screenplay. Crazy
Racer (T 89 E) (2009), which was wrote and directed by Mr. Ning,
was produced for an investment of only RMB10 million and achieved
over RMB100 million at the box office. In 2013, Mr. Ning directed No
Man’s Land (& A[&), which won the Annual Tribute Movie by One
Hundred Media (B REHFE B EF) at the 14th Chinese Film
Media Awards (Z BB EH A H). Mr. Ning also directed the huge
box office hit Breakup Buddies (L FEFEHR) (2014) which grossed
RMB1,169 million at the box office in the PRC and became the highest-
grossing domestic Chinese film of the year. Dying to Survive (¥~
= BE49) (2018), co-produced by Mr. Ning and Mr. Xu Zheng, earned
RMB3,100 million in box office receipts and was nominated for several
awards at the Taiwan Golden Horse Awards, Golden Rooster Awards
and others. Crazy Alien (JEIEHSNE A) (2019) which directed by Mr.
Ning achieved RMB2,200 million at the box office.

As at the date of this report, Mr. Ning was deemed to be interested in
1,477,034,354 Shares (being 461,711,082 Shares held by Newwood,
92,342,216 Shares held by Numerous Joy, 800,000 Shares held by
Highrise, 42,230,000 Shares held by Mr. Dong, 2,700,000 underlying
Shares held by Mr. Dong, 438,625,528 Shares held by Pacific Wits and
438,625,528 Shares held by Tairong) within the meaning of Part XV of
the SFO. Please refer to the section “Directors’ Interests in Securities”
in the Directors’ Report of this annual report for details.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

% E

FHTES
BERE(TERE]

BhA A6 R-E—HEFNA_BEZTA
EMITES - BEAN B =FaTHIREY
BRRSSLEN  FEEBY BEAXEAEFER
MigE AT ZFE T NEMHRELIE
¥ OBREBEREARRZERRE ZEALE2BEY
HERLEREDR  HEBREBH(FA (=
TE=F)RE_FDEF(EES) (CETNF) R
A+ZEABRBREFHERE  BEEAERER
B SMEEFEALRELREEYES - £ (F
AYRBER_EEZFR_TTNEHRIESEN
ERRBREECHARERE-_T \EBTERHRE
T e R (NI ERG) - BAER T REFH
BIRABZ(RANABE)TESAES FHE
FEREZERAE -BERABRBSEERTEAR
#10,000,000TC Z (AN BHEY) (ZEZTNF) » 2
E 225k AR #100,000,0007T - BEER T —=
FHREEBAR)  LEFTNUEEESHEEX
BAREEFERNEY - BAESHEERES
FOMERID (CZ—NF) r UBREER AR
1,169,000,000 L 8B HEFEREFEEBEY - A
BERERBRIBELEBASERNEZ(RTREM)
—ZE—)\F) B ERE ARES,100,000,0007T KA
EESEE PEEFSHENHMSHERET
Fi218 - AEAERENTE(REINIIEA) (=
T —NF)BREERE ARK2,200,000,0007T °

/‘ﬁ

RARE BH - BhRAEWHRAR1,477,034,354 %
%17 (B FANewwood#F B 2 461,711,082 I {n -
S @315 792,342 216 B {7 ~ Highriseiy B 2
800,0000% f& {7 + TE 5L A58 2 42,230,0008% & 15
EhREEE 22,700,000 8K M5 - TABEZ
438,625,528/% i (7 I Z= 18 435 5 2 438,625,528 1% B%
P HEFFRBEGPIEXVEMTAT 2= o
EHFE FRMATFHREZTRENESTZES

R —Ef e

BEMEEEERAT - —S-=F58% 25



" BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS
HHE R

Mr. Xu Zheng (“Mr. Xu”)

Mr. Xu, aged 51, was appointed as a non-executive Director on 2
September 2015. Mr. Xu graduated with a bachelor degree from
Shanghai Theatre Academy (L/8EiBIZ7) in the PRC in 1994. Mr.
Xu is an actor, director, screenwriter and producer. He started his
career as an actor in the 1990s. Mr. Xu rose to national stardom in
2000 with the TV series Sunny Piggy (&Yt /& 1&%E )\7K), followed by
other successful TV dramas such as Li Wei the Magistrate (=& &
B) (2002). Mr. Xu then focused more on films, starring in comedies
Call for Love (B 1EW-UEET%) (2007) and Call for Love Il (& &MWL &
#2) (2008), Lost on Journey (AEEE) (2010), No Man’s Land (& A
[&) (2013) (for which he was awarded the best lead actor by the China
Film Directors’ Guild (fBIE & & &%) in 2014) and the huge box
office hit Breakup Buddies (TEF&ER) (2014) and Lost in Hong Kong
(S| (2015). In 2012, his directorial debut Lost in Thailand (A B HE %
2 Z=M) (a road trip comedy) which he also wrote, directed, produced
and starred in, earned over USD200 million and broke the record of
the highest- grossing domestic Chinese film. In 2014, he produced
and starred in The Great Hypnotist (8% X &M) (a suspense thriller
film), which achieved ground-breaking box-office success and a great
reputation in the Chinese suspense thriller film market. In 2018, Mr.
Xu was awarded the best leading actor by the Taiwan Golden Horse
Awards (& &4 5 58) for his performance in Dying to Survive (B2
Gte).

As at the date of this report, Mr. Xu was deemed to be interested in
1,477,034,354 Shares (being 461,711,082 Shares held by Newwood,
92,342,216 Shares held by Numerous Joy, 800,000 Shares held by
Highrise, 42,230,000 Shares held by Mr. Dong, 2,700,000 underlying
Shares held by Mr. Dong, 438,625,528 Shares held by Pacific Wits and
438,625,528 Shares held by Tairong) within the meaning of Part XV of
the SFO. Please refer to the section “Directors’ Interests in Securities”
in the Directors’ Report of this annual report for details.

Ms. Li Ni (“Ms. Li")

Ms. Li, aged 38, was appointed as a non-executive Director on 21
September 2020. Ms. Li has served as the chief operating officer of
Bilibili Inc. (“Bilibili") (NASDAQ Trading Symbol: BILI) (Stock Exchange
stock code: 9626) since November 2014 and vice chairwoman of
the board of directors of Bilibili since January 2015. Ms. Li oversees
the platform operations, sales and commercial cooperation, content
ecosystem partnership, and strategic planning and investments of
Bilibili.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Wong Tak Chuen (“Mr. Wong")

Mr. Wong, aged 59, joined the Company as an independent non-
executive Director on 10 April 2014. Mr. Wong is the chairman of the
audit committee of the Company. Mr. Wong is a fellow member of the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the Institute
of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales, respectively. He
has over 20 years of experience in auditing, financial management,
mergers and acquisitions gained from certain senior finance related
positions in an international accounting firm in Hong Kong, companies
listed in Hong Kong and a company listed in the United States of
America. He is currently a practising Certified Public Accountant in
Hong Kong. Mr. Wong is currently an independent non-executive
director of (i) Eternity Investment Limited (stock code: 764, a company
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange) since 7 November
2011; and (ii) China Healthwise Holdings Limited (stock code: 348, a
company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange) since 11
October 2016. Mr. Wong was an independent non-executive director
of Man Sang International Limited (stock code: 938, a company listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange) from 12 July 2016 to 5
November 2018.

Mr. Li Xiaolong (“Mr. Li")

Mr. Li, aged 58, was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director on 2 September 2015. Mr. Li is a member of each of the
remuneration committee, nomination committee and audit committee
of the Company. Mr. Li has more than 20 years of experience in the
industry of information technology and telecommunications. He is
the founder and chairman of Net 263 Ltd. (Shenzhen Stock Exchange
Code: 002467), a company based in Beijing which provides integrated
communication services for medium-and small-sized enterprises and
professionals. Since September 2004, Mr. Li was the chairman of the
board of Net 263 Ltd., and since August 2006, the director of Net 263
Ltd. He was an independent director at E-Commerce China Dangdang
Inc. from December 2010 to October 2016, and an independent
director at Kongzhong Corp. from 2012 to May 2017. Mr. Li graduated
from Beijing University of Technology, majored in software engineering
of computer science. In January 2013, Mr. Li was appointed as a
committee member of the telecommunications and economic experts
of the Ministry of Industry and Information Technology.

As at the date of this report, Mr. Li was deemed to be interested in
15,060,000 Shares within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO. Please
refer to the section “Directors’ Interests in Securities” in the Directors'’
Report of this annual report for details.
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" BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS
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Mr. Wang Hong (“Mr. Wang")

Mr. Wang, aged 59, was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director on 2 September 2019. Mr. Wang is the chairman of each of
the remuneration committee and nomination committee of the
Company and a member of audit committee of the Company. Mr.
Wang is currently the vice president of Hengdian Group Holdings
Limited, responsible for the group’s overseas affairs. He once served
as the chairman of Hengdian Film and Television Production Co., Ltd.*
(BEE R EUEFR A R]), and produced the animation film Monkey
King: Hero is Back (Fafz &2 2 X B2 &5 2K), received the highest animation
box office record in the PRC, and some TV series. He was the chief
executive officer of Asian Union New Media (Group) Limited (now
known as Huayi Tencent Entertainment Company Limited) (Stock
Code: 0419) between January 2008 and March 2012 and was an
executive director of the company between August 2010 and March
2012, responsible for the overall operation of the company, and
engaged in the investment of Letter from an Unknown Woman (— {EBg
H L ARIFRAZ), Peacock (FL#), And the Spring Comes (3 %), Under
the Hawthorn Tree (LL#&# 2 &) and some other films. He was the
president of the Travel Channel between May 2003 and February 2008,
during which he built up a new Travel Channel with an annual revenue
of over RMB200 million. He also served as the deputy general manager
of a cultural subsidiary of Poly Group between July 1991 and May 2003
and was responsible for the company’s investment business. He had
engaged in the implementation of Poly Culture’s various investment
projects related to the cultural industries. Mr. Wang obtained a
Bachelor degree of Economics in International Trade and Economics
at University of International Business and Economics in 1988.

As at the date of this report, Mr. Wang was interested in 200,000
Shares within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO. Please refer to the
section “Directors’ Interests in Securities” in the Directors’ Report of
this annual report for details.

*  For identification purposes only
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The Directors present their report together with the audited financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding and film investment
company and its subsidiaries are principally engaged in media
and entertainment related businesses, including development and
investment in film and TV programmes rights, as well as operation of
an online video platform.

Details of the activities of the principal subsidiaries are set out in Note
13 to the consolidated financial statements. An analysis of revenue
and film investment loss, net of the Group are set out in Note 5 to the
consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023 are
set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income on page 122.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of a final dividend for
the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: Nil).

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group
for the last five years is set out on page 240. This summary does not
form part of the audited consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movement in share capital of the Company are set out in
Note 30 to the consolidated financial statements.
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SHARE OPTIONS

A share option scheme has been adopted and approved by the
shareholders of the Company at the annual general meeting held on
17 June 2014 (the “Share Option Scheme”). The 10% limit of the Share
Option Scheme (the “Scheme Mandate Limit") has been refreshed on
16 December 2015 and 29 June 2018. As at the date of this annual
report, the Scheme Mandate Limit refreshed on 29 June 2018 has not
yet been utilised and the total number of shares which may be issued
upon exercise of all options to be granted under the Share Option
Scheme is 276,805,540 shares.

On 27 April 2018, 130,700,000 options were granted under the Share
Option Scheme and no share options were exercised, cancelled or
lapsed during the year ended 31 December 2023. As at 31 December
2023, the Company has 130,700,000 options outstanding which
represented approximately 3.57% of the total number of issued shares
of the Company as at that date.

The following table discloses movements in the Company’s share
options during the year ended 31 December 2023:

B

ARRIBRERAZE—NWFAA+TEARTZEE
BERE ERMNIE—TBRERERTE (BB
B]) o BBRREE Z10%RE([sHaRERBENE
RZE—RAF+ A+ "BERZE—N\F A=+
NBEH - RAFERAH R_T—NFXA=F
NBEFMZErEIFERENARER - BIFHERE
B TFRE 2 BRI TER A RERIT 2R,
48 E5276,805, 54008 A% 15 °

RZE—N\FOA=-++H  ARFIREERE
H#%H130,700,0000 R #E - BEE-_ZT =7
+Z A=+ RAULFEVEBREREITE sk
AWM o MR_E-=E+-_R=+—H X2 AH
130,700,00017 15 AR FT1E 27 BERR#E - (B AR BIR% B
HR BTN B S 493.57% °

TREBHE T _=F+_A=1t—HLFER
NGV Y3

Outstanding Lapsed/ Exercise
at the Granted Exercised cancelled  Outstanding price per
beginning during during during at the end share
Participants Date of grant of the year the year the year theyear of the year (HK$)
R BRTRE
2HE RiAH ENERTHE ERRM ERR AM/HE  ERMRGE (%)
Mr. Dong Ping 27 April 2018 2,700,000 - - - 2,700,000 208
ETEE “E-\EEAZTtA
Mr. Xiang Shaokun, Steven 27 April 2018 27,000,000 - - - 27,000,000 208
BRREE “F-\EEAZTtA
Eligible employees 27 April 2018 101,000,000 - - - 101,000,000 208
aERES ZE-\FRAZTtA
Total 130,700,000 - - - 130,700,000
@t
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Notes: Hfat -
1. The share options are exercisable as follows: 1. BB AR AR LA N B I8 T LATTIE -

Number of share options can

Exercise criteria be exercised TEEE AFITEZEBRESRE
(Commencing from the date of (BB ARBTERARE
the grantee’s commencement of B HHEeR)

employment with the Group)

0 On completion of the continuous ~ Up to one-third of the share 0] EEARBEZE BZAECREBREZ=S
employment of the grantee with  options granted REAEER—F 22—
the Group for 1 year

(i) Oncompletion of the continuous  Up to two-thirds of the share (i) FEBEAHFEXE EZRAERLEREZ=5
employment of the grantee with  options granted RAEBRMFE 2=
the Group for 2 years

@iy~ On completion of the continuous  Up to all of the share options (i) HEBABEZE BZAMACERLBERE
employment of the grantee with ~ granted RAEER=F

the Group for 3 years

2. The validity period of the share options is from 27 April 2018 to 17 June 2024 2. BREAMAAE T /\FHAZ+LBE=ZT

(both days inclusive) subject to the provisions for early termination contained “TMFEARATERLE(REEREMB) - EXERER
in the Share Option Scheme and certain vesting conditions applicable to the BT CIRATR LG RERAREERRAZCE TS
relevant grantee(s). BIRHRR -

Details of the Share Option Scheme are set out in Note 34 to the ABREEREAEIMFBENGEA M ERERM T34
consolidated financial statements.

Save as disclosed above, at no time during 2023 was the Company B EXFEEEN R - =FREMERE - K
or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the A&k ET(AJH B R RIEFT LML H  BiEsE
Directors to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, SHR[HEEE A QSR EMEABE 2D E
or debenture of, the Company or any other body corporate. EEMER °

BEMEEEERAT - —S-=F58% 31
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased, sold
or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the year
ended 31 December 2023.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
bye-laws (the “Bye-laws") or the laws of Bermuda which would oblige
the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing
shareholders.

RESERVES

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Group and the
Company during the year are set out in the consolidated statement
of changes in equity on page 126 and Note 31 to the consolidated
financial statements respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVE

Details of the distributable reserve of the Company as at 31 December
2023 are set out in Note 37 to the consolidated financial statements.

As at 31 December 2023, the Company did not have distributable
profit to shareholders (2022: Nil).

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the business performance of the Group during 2023 using
financial key performance indicators and discussion on the important
events affecting the Group since the end of 2023 and the Group's
future business development that the Group may be facing are
provided in the Chairman'’s Statement and Management Discussion
and Analysis of this annual report, the discussions thereof form part of
this Directors’ Report.

Discussions on the Group’s environmental policies, relationships
with its key stakeholders and compliance with relevant laws and
regulations which have significant impact on the Group are set out
below in the Directors’ Report of this annual report. Please also refer
to the Environmental, Social and Governance Report for the Group’s
policies in this regard.
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The following are the principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group
as required to be disclosed pursuant to the Companies Ordinance
(Chapter 622 of the laws of Hong Kong) and are in addition to the
matters referred to in the Chairman’s Statement and Management
Discussion and Analysis of this annual report.

1. Operational Risk

In respect of the risk factor relating to the Group’s business,
given that the Company will invest in a limited number of films,
the success or failure of these films could have a significant
impact on the Company’s results of operations in both the year
of release and in the future. Besides, unauthorised copying and
piracy are prevalent in the PRC and other countries in Asia,
whose legal systems may make it difficult for the Company to
enforce its intellectual property rights.

Mr. Dong, Mr. Ning and Mr. Xu have extensive experience,
strong expertise and a wide business network in the media and
entertainment industry. Mr. Dong, the Company’s substantial
shareholder and the Chairman of the Board, has extensive
experience, knowledge and connection in investment and
operation of Chinese media, advertisement, satellite TV, film
productions and media fields, whilst Mr. Ning and Mr. Xu are
prestigious and successful directors and actors in Chinese movie
industry. Please refer to “Biographical Details of Directors” in this
annual report for the biographical details of Mr. Dong, Mr. Ning
and Mr. Xu.

On 1 June 2016, the Group entered into a cooperation
agreement with Mr. Chan Ho Sun Peter and Master China Films
Limited (a company indirectly wholly-owned by Mr. Wong Kar
Wai) respectively, pursuant to which each of Mr. Chan Ho Sun
Peter and Master China Films Limited has conditionally agreed
to provide to the Group with certain services, and investment
and other rights, relating to film and media productions as set
forth in the relevant agreements. Further, on 6 December 2016,
the Group entered into a cooperation agreement with Mr. Gu
Changwei and Mr. Zhang Xiaoling (also known as Zhang Yibai)
respectively, pursuant to which each of Mr. Gu Changwei and
Mr. Zhang Xiaoling has conditionally agreed to provide to the
Group with certain services, and investment and other rights,
relating to film and internet drama series productions as set
forth in the relevant agreements.
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The Company entered into a cooperation agreement on 24 May
2018 with Unigue Swift Limited, a company having an exclusive
investment right of certain internet drama series productions
or films of Mr. Zhang Yimou, and the amended and restated
cooperation agreement on 11 September 2018 with Unique Swift
Limited and Mr. Zhang Yimou, pursuant to which Unique Swift
Limited has conditionally agreed to procure Mr. Zhang Yimou to
provide the Group with certain services, investment and other
rights, relating to certain internet drama series productions or
films as set forth in the relevant agreements.

The Group entered into a cooperation agreement in June 2021
with Shanghai Hanna Pictures Culture Media Company Limited*
(BEBME AL EEAR A A) ("Hanna Pictures”) pursuant
to which the Group, Hanna Pictures and Mr. Huang Bo has
conditionally agreed to collaborate on investment and
development of quality film and TV productions within the
cooperation period.

Given the above, the Directors are of the view that the
participation of Mr. Dong, Mr. Ning, Mr. Xu, Mr. Chan Ho Sun
Peter, Mr. Wong Kar Wai, Mr. Gu Changwei, Mr. Zhang Xiaoling,
Mr. Zhang Yimou and Mr. Huang Bo in the Group and through
cooperation with them would be instrumental in the Company’s
development in the media and entertainment industry and could
migrate the risk.

The Group will pay close attention to the development of the
pandemic outbreak and its impact on the media market, and will
continue to perform relevant assessments and take proactive
measures to minimise its impact towards the Group's business
operations and financial results.

*  For identification purposes only
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2. Financial Risks

Details of the Group’s financial risks relating to the operations of
the Group include market risk (including foreign exchange risk
and interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk are set out in
Note 3 to the consolidated financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the year are set out in Note 17 to the consolidated
financial statements.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Directors during 2023 and up to the date of the annual report
were:

Executive Directors
Mr. Dong Ping (Chairman)
Mr. Xiang Shaokun, Steven (Chief Executive Officer)

Non-executive Directors
Mr. Ning Hao

Mr. Xu Zheng

Ms. Li Ni

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Wong Tak Chuen

Mr. Li Xiaolong

Mr. Wang Hong

In accordance with Bye-law 99 of the Bye-laws, Mr. Dong Ping, Ms. Li
Ni and Mr. Wong Tak Chuen shall retire by rotation at the forthcoming
annual general meeting. All of them, being eligible, offer themselves
for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

Brief biographical particulars of the existing Directors are set out in
the “Biographical Details of Directors” of this annual report. Directors’
other particulars are contained in this report and elsewhere in this
annual report.
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DIRECTORS' SERVICE CONTRACTS

No Directors being proposed for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting of the Company has a service contract with
the Company or any of its subsidiaries which is not determinable
by the employing company within one year without payment of
compensation (other than statutory compensation).

The existing Directors including the executive Directors, the non-
executive Directors and independent non-executive Directors
are for a term of 2 years (except Mr. Xiang Shaokun, Steven, an
executive Director and the Chief Executive Officer of the Group,
there is no specific term or proposed length of services for Mr.
Xiang's appointment). All of the existing Directors shall be subject to
retirement by rotation and re-election in accordance with the Bye-
laws and the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange (the “Listing Rules”).

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Company has arranged for appropriate insurance cover for
Directors” and officers’ liabilities in respect of legal actions against its
Directors and senior management arising out of corporate activities.
The permitted indemnity provision is in force for the benefit of the
Directors as required by section 470 of the Companies Ordinance
(Chapter 622 of the laws of Hong Kong) when the Directors’ Report
prepared by the Directors is approved in accordance with section
391(1)(a) of the Companies Ordinance.

INDEPENDENCE OF INDEPENDENT NON-
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received, from each of the independent non-
executive Directors an annual confirmation of independence pursuant
to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and considers all of the independent
non-executive Directors are independent.
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DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN SECURITIES EECvESESR

As at 31 December 2023, the interests and short positions of each RZZEZ=F+-A=+—H 85 F MITHEH
Director and chief executive in the shares, underlying shares and R ARA G HEEMBEEZE (FERBHRBEKE
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations — HISEXVER) Z i ~ B MDD R EEES - HEL
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFQ), as recorded in the register SRR AR B B & M IS I HI 3525 BEF 2
required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the — Z&Efft - iR IEE A K EEHISEXVE sk _E T AR R
SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange 2 F 31T AEEEITE S X HHEEST A ([1Z%
pursuant to Part XV of the SFO or the Model Code for Securities  SFBI)ZERITAME R AT MR QRS &K
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) under  ZHEZEARLAT :

the Listing Rules, or known to the Company, were as follows:

Long Positions in the Ordinary Shares of HK$0.01 AT EREEER0.01T2EER KA
Each of the Company and the Underlying Shares BRAZHRE

Number of Ordinary Shares Number of
N underlyin Approximate
EBRYE L 0

Shares held percentage

Corporate Personal under share of the issued

Name of Directors interests interests Sub-total options Total Shares

BERET HERTRG

BEpE AR ER AR M HBEROHA @t BRESL

Mr. Dong Ping® 1,432,104,354 42,230,000 1,474,334,354 2,700,000 1,477,034,354 40.40%
Al

Mr. Ning Hao® 1,432,104,354 42,230,000 1,474,334,354 2,700,000 1,477,034,354 40.40%
B EED

Mr. Xu Zheng® 1,432,104,354 42,230,000 1,474,334,354 2,700,000 1,477,034,354 40.40%
RIgEES

Mr. Xiang Shaokun, Steven® - - - 27,000,000 27,000,000 0.74%

TR KA
Mr. Li Xiaolong® 15,060,000 - 15,060,000 - 15,060,000 0.41%
R AED

Mr. Wang Hong® - 200,000 200,000 - 200,000 0.01%

FursAEe
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Notes:

Save

These Shares include Shares held by Newwood as to 461,711,082 Shares,
Numerous as to 92,342,216 Shares and Highrise as to 800,000 Shares which
are companies incorporated in the British Virgin Islands with limited liability
and directly wholly owned by Mr. Dong. Mr. Dong also personally holds
42,230,000 Shares and 2,700,000 unlisted physically settled share options
of the Company granted on 27 April 2018 pursuant to the Company’s
share option scheme adopted on 17 June 2014. On 14 April 2015, Mr.
Dong, Newwood, Pacific Wits, Mr. Ning, Tairong and Mr. Xu entered into
a shareholders agreement (the “Shareholders Agreement”), which sets
forth certain rights and obligations of each of the parties in respect of the
governance of the Company following completion of the subscription for new
shares in the Company pursuant to a subscription agreement dated 14 April
2015, details of which are set out in the Company’s circular dated 5 August
2015. As Mr. Dong is a party to the Shareholders Agreement, Mr. Dong is
therefore deemed to be interested in all the Shares in which Mr. Ning, Pacific
Wits, Mr. Xu and Tairong are interested by virtue of section 317 of the SFO.
Please refer to notes 2 and 3 for Shares held by Mr. Ning and Mr. Xu.

These Shares include 438,625,528 Shares directly held by Pacific Wits, which
is a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands with limited liability and
directly wholly owned by Mr. Ning. Mr. Ning is a party to the Shareholders
Agreement and is therefore deemed to be interested in all the Shares and
underlying Shares in which Mr. Dong, Newwood, Mr. Xu and Tairong are
interested by virtue of section 317 of the SFO. Please refer to notes 1 and 3
for Shares and underlying Shares held by Mr. Dong and Mr. Xu.

These Shares include 438,625,528 Shares directly held by Tairong, which
is a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands with limited liability
and directly wholly owned by Mr. Xu. Mr. Xu is a party to the Shareholders
Agreement and is therefore deemed to be interested in all the Shares and
underlying Shares in which Mr. Dong, Newwood, Mr. Ning and Pacific Wits are
interested by virtue of section 317 of the SFO. Please refer to notes 1 and 2
for Shares and underlying Shares held by Mr. Dong and Mr. Ning.

These underlying Shares are 27,000,000 unlisted physically settled share
options of the Company granted to Mr. Xiang Shaokun, Steven on 27 April
2018 pursuant to the Company'’s share option scheme adopted on 17 June
2014.

These Shares are held by Panfaith Investments Limited, which is a company
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands with limited liability and ultimately
wholly owned by Mr. Li Xiaolong.

These Shares are jointly held by Mr. Wang Hong and his spouse.

as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, none of the

Directors or chief executive of the Company or any of their associates
had any interests or short positions in the Shares, underlying Shares
and debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company under Section 352 of the SFO,

or as

otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange

pursuant to the Model Code.
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DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in Note 35 to the financial statements headed
“Related Party Disclosures”, the sections headed “Directors’ Interests
in Competing Business” and “Company Contracts of Significance/
Connected Transaction” of the Directors’ Report and elsewhere in
this annual report, no Director nor any entity connected with the
Directors had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, in
any transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance to the
business of the Group to which the Company, its holding company, or
any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party during 2023.

CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDER'S INTERESTS IN
SIGNIFICANT CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in Note 35 to the financial statements headed
“Related Party Disclosures”, the sections headed “Directors’ Interests
in Competing Business” and “Company Contracts of Significance/
Connected Transaction” of the Directors’ Report and elsewhere in
this annual report, at no time during 2023 had the Company or any
of its subsidiaries, and the controlling shareholder (as defined in the
Listing Rules) or any of its subsidiaries entered into any contracts
of significance or any contract of significance for the provision of
services by the controlling shareholder or any of its subsidiaries to the
Company or any of its subsidiaries.

COMPANY CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE/
CONNECTED TRANSACTION

Film Production Agreement and Director
Agreement — connected transactions

On 20 December 2021, () Beijing Huanshixi Culture Media Company
Limited* QL REE XX LEEBR A 7)) and Taizhou Huanxi Culture
Investment Company Limited* (A MEE XL EER A F])
(collectively the “Group Companies”) entered into the film production
agreement with Hainan Ruri Fangsheng Film and Television Culture
Communication Company Limited* (8man B 5 AR LERER
‘A 7)) ("Hainan Ruri Fangsheng”), pursuant to which Hainan Ruri
Fangsheng has conditionally agreed to provide the film production
services to the Group Companies in relation to the film The Movie
Emperor ($1#{5E4) (formerly known as Red Carpet (2 RBAE)) (the
“Film"); and (i) the Company entered into the director agreement with
Mr. Ning Hao, pursuant to which Mr. Ning has conditionally agreed to
act as the director of the Film.

*  For identification purposes only
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As at the date of the film production agreement and director
agreement (collectively the "Agreements”), Mr. Ning is a non-
executive director of the Company and the sole ultimate beneficial
owner of Pacific Wits Limited, a substantial shareholder of the
Company which holds 438,625,528 Shares, representing approximately
12.00% of the issued share capital of the Company as at the date
of the Agreements. As such, Mr. Ning is a connected person of the
Company under the Listing Rules and the transaction contemplated
under the director agreement constitutes a connected transaction of
the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. Notwithstanding
that Hainan Ruri Fangsheng is an Independent Third Party, Hainan
Ruri Fangsheng is the film production company proposed by Mr. Ning
to provide the film production services to the Company in relation to
the Film, and the Board noted that Hainan Ruri Fangsheng and Mr.
Ning will enter into a consultancy agreement, pursuant to which Mr.
Ning will provide consultancy services to Hainan Ruri Fangsheng in
relation to the production of the Film, to the effect that Mr. Ning will
have significant influence over Hainan Ruri Fangsheng in relation to
the production of the Film. In view of the above, the transactions
contemplated under the Agreements are aggregated and are subject
to the reporting, announcement and independent shareholders’
approval requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

The transactions contemplated under the Agreements were approved
by the independent shareholders of the Company at the special
general meeting of the Company held on 21 February 2022. Please
refer to the Company’s announcements dated 20 December 2021 and
21 February 2022, and the Company’s circular dated 31 January 2022
for details. The Film was released in the first quarter of 2024.
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DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN COMPETING EENRPELRCESR

BUSINESS
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plaa

Interests of the Directors in competing businesses to the Group as at
31 December 2023 required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 8.10 of
the Listing Rules were set out as below:

Companies which

Nature of interest
(including close

Directors Directors held interests Major business nature associate’s interest)
EEME(EEETHEA

2= EEHEEEZAR FEEBME T 2 fER)

Mr. Ning Hao REZEBRFEEBRA TV and movie project Ultimate shareholder

kg preparation, TV and movie =IRIEER

R FXLEXRERER AT

ERRIERTFELERERAT

el ERMERERA

BT (B X CERAERAR

planning

THRABEE  FHERE

TV production and distribution
EARED B RUER AT

TV and movie production
BIRENE REFRME

TV and movie production
BRE B REXEIE

TV and movie production

Ultimate shareholder
ISR R

Ultimate shareholder
543133

Ultimate shareholder
SIRAE R

Ultimate shareholder

BRENE MEERIE BERRR
BEBERTEZEERR TV production and Ultimate shareholder
movie distribution BARR
BREARERELER

PR ERERR AT

EBESHIHEEARA

FEEETEERARA

TV and movie production
BREE RNEFRIE

TV and movie production and
movie distribution

BEREE REFRIEUR
BRELT

TV production and
movie distribution
BARET B RERERZBIT

BEEHEEEEARAA -

Ultimate shareholder
55533

Ultimate shareholder
SIRIEER

Ultimate shareholder
RIRARER

—E-=558 41



” DIRECTORS’ REPORT
RN

Companies which

Nature of interest
(including close

Directors Directors held interests Major business nature associate’s interest)
EEME(BEETHEA
=3 EEREREEZAA FTEERME + 2 RER)
EHRETFORINEZEERAT TV production and Ultimate shareholder

ERRIH I EXEUEREER AT

RETHZREREER QT

v

ESES P o L

NERER)

ERRFTRERERAR QA

ERRMRXBEZABERAERAA

AR - RERPRERER QT

IR A TSR XL ERAER AR

AREFH X LBEER Q]

movie distribution
SR RENRERFETT

TV and movie investments
BREE NEFRE

Movie production, radio and

TV production, cultural and

entertainment agency
BEYEE  BEREERMHAE

BUF - SLIREEE LA

TV and movie investments
BREE REFKRE

TV production and
movie distribution
BARE A REREREIT

TV production and
movie distribution
BARE B BERER BT

TV and movie production
BREE REFRIE

TV and movie production
BRET B REXRIE

TV production
BARE B
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Ultimate shareholder
SRR

Ultimate shareholder
SRR

Ultimate shareholder and
close associate’s interest

RRBRERRBERHEA L
P £

Ultimate shareholder and
close associate’s interest

BERBRRERETHEALT
2 W

Ultimate shareholder and
close associate’s interest

SRR ETBE AL
i

Close associate’s interest
BEBB AT #ER

Close associate’s interest
ETHMBAT 2R

Close associate’s interest
BEHB AT ER
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Nature of interest
(including close

Directors Directors held interests Major business nature associate’s interest)
EEME(BEETHEA

=) EERARE AT TEXBMHE T2 ER)

Mr. Xu Zheng BEZELSE UL IESR Planning of TV and movie Ultimate shareholder

TRIEE A4 BRHAREFEE REERR

Beijing Joy Leader Culture
Communication Co. Ltd.
I RELELEEBRAR

BERE(LEBFRERAT

BEEBIEXLEEER AT

ERNT N BERBRAF

ERNTNERERA

EEEmMEX L ERABRAT

Movie production and
investments
BERRERIEE

TV and movie production and
movie distribution

BEREE REFEEUR
BREIT

TV production
ERET A RME

TV production and
movie distribution
BREERERELE

TV and movie production and
movie distribution

ERENE &E?ﬁ%fﬂx&
BRET

TV production and
movie distribution

BARE B RERBERET

BEEHEEEEARAA -

Ultimate shareholder and
close associate’s interest

SRR ETHE AL
R

Ultimate shareholder and
close associate’s interest

RRBERBERHEA LT
2R

Ultimate shareholder and
close associate’s interest

RRBERBERHEA L
£

Ultimate shareholder and
close associate’s interest

SR BETHE AL+
o

Ultimate shareholder and
close associate’s interest

SRR ETHE AL
R

Ultimate shareholder and
close associate’s interest

SRR N EERBE AT
2R
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Companies which

Nature of interest
(including close

Directors Directors held interests Major business nature associate’s interest)
EEME(BEETHEA
=3 EEREREEZAA FTEERME + 2 RER)
EEEBRGXLBERERAT TV production and Ultimate shareholder and

BEEFF

B HRABRAT

NTNFE(EBERRF

EBNT N\ ERER AT

EEEFUL R EERERAA

.
E=

Fir

ERERXAE AR A

The Group is principally engaged in the media and entertainment
related businesses, including development and investment in film

EX(LEERRAR

BEaFZEEPNBARAR

movie distribution
SR RENRERFETT

TV production and
movie distribution
BRE B BEREREIT

TV and movie production and
distribution

TREE REHREUR
BT

TV and movie production and
distribution

BRETE REFREUR
1T

TV and movie production and
distribution

BEREA REZEEUR
BT

TV production
EAREN A &ME

TV and movie production and
distribution

BRETE REFREUR
1T

TV production and
movie distribution
BERE B RERERET

and TV programmes rights, as well as operation of an online video

platform.
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Mr. Ning, together with his family, is the ultimate shareholder of the
above companies (together “Mr. Ning's Companies”). Mr. Ning's
companies are principally engaged in the TV and movie production
and distribution in the PRC. For the film The Movie Emperor (4L #
Jo ) (formerly known as Red Carpet (& RBHE)), the details of the
film production agreement and director agreement — connected
transactions are disclosed under the section headed “Company
Contracts of Significance/Connected Transaction” in this Directors’
Report. Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, none of Mr.
Ning or his close associates was interested in any business in respect
of film production, apart from his and/or his family’s interests in Mr.
Ning's Companies.

Mr. Xu is the majority shareholder of the above companies (together
“Mr. Xu's Companies”). Mr. Xu's Companies are principally engaged in
the TV and movie production, investment and distribution in the PRC.
As at 31 December 2023, none of Mr. Xu or his close associates was
interested in any business in respect of film production, apart from his
interests in Mr. Xu's Companies.

The Directors consider that the Group is capable of carrying on its
businesses independently of, and at arm’s length from, the movie
business of (i) Mr. Ning's Companies and (i) Mr. Xu's Companies ((i) and
(ii) together, the “Other Companies”) as (i) there is a clear separation
between the Group’s businesses and those of the Other Companies;
(i) the Group is not operationally or financially dependent on any
of the Other Companies, or vice versa; and (iii) the Board operates
independently from the boards of the Other Companies. The Board
consists of eight members, comprising of two executive Directors,
three non-executive Directors and three independent non-executive
Directors. All of the Directors are aware of their fiduciary duties as a
director of the Company which require, among other things, that they
act for the benefit and in the best interests of the Company and do not
allow any conflict between their duties as a Director and their personal
interest. In the event that there is a potential conflict of interest arising
out of any transaction to be entered into between the Group and the
Directors or their respective associates, the interested Director(s) shall
abstain from voting at the relevant board meetings of the Company in
respect of such transactions and shall not be counted in the quorum.

From time to time, the Group may consider possible co-investment
opportunities with Mr. Ning’'s Companies and/or Mr. Xu's Companies
in film or other projects. Any such investments and the definitive
terms thereof would be subject to further negotiations at arm'’s length
between the relevant parties. If any co-investment arrangement
between the Group and Mr. Ning's Companies or Mr. Xu's Companies
were to materialise, it could constitute a connected transaction of the
Company under the Listing Rules. Further announcement(s) in relation
to any such investments will be made as and when appropriate in
compliance with the Listing Rules.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS

As at 31 December 2023, save as disclosed under the section
“Directors’ Interests in Securities” in this Directors’ Report of the
annual report, the Company had been notified of the following
substantial shareholders’ interests, being 5% or more of the
Company's issued share capital under Section 336 of the SFO.

Name of shareholders Capacity

BREREE, HE -

R-B_=ZF+_A=1t—8 BREAFRESEHS

ZIERZES ] —F
T EERRER

AR EES - NRAFEHM
CAVREBRE S R ERDIE

3BGIEAN AT B BITAAFS%K A £ 2 s -

Number of
ordinary
Shares held
BEz
ZEREA

Number of
underlying
Shares held®
E=X =gl
HBERGOGEE

Approximate
percentage of
shareholding
BREHD
Aok

Dong Ping® (“Mr. Dong") Beneficial owner, interests of
EXO(ELLE] controlled corporation and a
party to an agreement required
to be disclosed under section 317
of the SFO
BEnlAA  ZEHEEEER
W] K5 IRIR 3 5 R HAE &
EINTEETHEENER

Newwood Investments Limited®  Beneficial owner and interests of a
(“Newwood") party to an agreement required
to be disclosed under section 317
of the SFO
BB ARBBTOHIREES
MEAEIEBIEIN7IRETIRER
=

Numerous Joy Limited Beneficial owner
ZLBR AR EmEEA

Highrise Castle Limited Beneficial owner
E\DIL%EE}\

Ning Hao®? (“Mr. Ning") Interests of controlled corporation
EEO([ERE) and a party to an agreement
required to be disclosed under
section 317 of the SFO
THEE R R ER] AT IRE
m%?&ﬁlﬂiﬂlﬂﬁﬂ%317ﬂ%%\%%ﬁ
BrtEs
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1,474,334,354

92,342,216

800,000

1,474,334,354

2,700,000

2,700,000

2,700,000

40.40%

40.40%

2.53%

0.02%

40.40%
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Number of Number of Approximate
ordinary underlying percentage of
Name of shareholders Capacity Shares held Shares held” shareholding
BEZ BEZ REBLN
BEERE A 54 LZERHE HBEROBE? Aot
Pacific Wits Limited® Beneficial owner and interests of a 1,474,334,354 2,700,000 40.40%
("Pacific Wits") party to an agreement required
e EPSICYNCICI(ES 1) to be disclosed under section 317
of the SFO
EmB ARBRET O IRE S
MGG EN7IEATHED
b
Xu Zheng® ("Mr. Xu") Interests of controlled corporation 1,474,334,354 2,700,000 40.40%
wFO([TREED and a party to an agreement
required to be disclosed under
section 317 of the SFO
THLEE R R HER] ORI
BHERBEEMNENTEET R
E%E”ﬁ%m
Tairong Holdings Limited® Beneficial owner and interests of a 1,474,334,354 2,700,000 40.40%
("Tairong") party to an agreement required
ZRIEIE IR B BR A R1O([ ZRIR ) to be disclosed under section 317
of the SFO
BEnlEE ARBHRTO A IREE
MEAEEBIEIN7IRAETRERN
=
Bilibili Inc.® Beneficial owner 346,626,954 - 9.48%
SR NEE 1EE 1SR i 1) B PR 28 ) EmEEA
FMR LLC.® Beneficial owner 211,001,048 - 5.77%
EmfAA
Maoyan Entertainment® Beneficial owner 208,430,000 - 5.70%
SHAR IR 2L 0 EmEEA
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Notes:
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These Shares include Shares held by Newwood as to 461,711,082 Shares,
Numerous Joy Limited as to 92,342,216 Shares and Highrise Castle Limited
as to 800,000 Shares which are companies incorporated in the British Virgin
Islands with limited liability and directly wholly owned by Mr. Dong. Mr. Dong
also personally holds 42,230,000 Shares and 2,700,000 unlisted physically
settled share options of the Company granted on 27 April 2018 pursuant to
the Company’s share option scheme adopted on 17 June 2014. On 14 April
2015, Mr. Dong, Newwood, Pacific Wits, Mr. Ning, Tairong and Mr. Xu entered
into a shareholders agreement (the “Shareholders Agreement”), which sets
forth certain rights and obligations of each of the parties in respect of the
governance of the Company following completion of the subscription for
new shares in the Company pursuant to a subscription agreement dated
14 April 2015, details of which are set out in the Company's circular dated
5 August 2015. As Mr. Dong and Newwood are parties to the Shareholders
Agreement, Mr. Dong is therefore deemed to be interested in all the Shares in
which Newwood, Mr. Ning, Pacific Wits, Mr. Xu and Tairong are interested by
virtue of section 317 of the SFO; and Newwood is therefore also deemed to
be interested in all the Shares and underlying Shares in which Mr. Dong, Mr.
Ning, Pacific Wits, Mr. Xu and Tairong are interested by virtue of section 317
of the SFO. Please refer to notes 2 and 3 for Shares held by Mr. Ning, Pacific
Wits, Mr. Xu and Tairong.

These Shares include 438,625,528 Shares directly held by Pacific Wits, which
is a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands with limited liability and
directly wholly owned by Mr. Ning. As Mr. Ning and Pacific Wits are parties to
the Shareholders Agreement, Mr. Ning and Pacific Wits are therefore deemed
to be interested in all the Shares and underlying Shares in which Mr. Dong,
Newwood, Mr. Xu and Tairong are interested by virtue of section 317 of the
SFO. Please refer to notes 1 and 3 for the Shares and underlying Shares held
by Mr. Dong, Newwood, Mr. Xu and Tairong.

These Shares include 438,625,528 Shares directly held by Tairong, which
is a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands with limited liability
and directly wholly owned by Mr. Xu. As Mr. Xu and Tairong are parties to
the Shareholders Agreement, Mr. Xu and Tairong are therefore deemed to
be interested in all the Shares and underlying Shares in which Mr. Dong,
Newwood, Mr. Ning and Pacific Wits are interested by virtue of section 317 of
the SFO. Please refer to notes 1 and 2 for the Shares and underlying Shares
held by Mr. Dong, Newwood, Mr. Ning and Pacific Wits.

Such disclosure of interests was made in the form of notice pursuant to Part
XV of the SFO disclosed by Bilibili on 24 September 2020.

Such disclosure of interests was made in the form of notice pursuant to Part
XV of the SFO disclosed by FMR LLC. on 30 November 2023.

Such disclosure of interests was made in the Company’s announcement
dated 14 October 2022.

Details of the share options granted to the substantial shareholders of the

Company under the share option scheme of the Company are set out in the
section “Share Options” in this report.
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, there were no
other persons who had an interest or short position in the shares or
underlying shares of the Company which would fall to be disclosed to
the Company under Section 336 of the SFO, or which were recorded in
the register to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO.

CONTRACTUAL ARRANGEMENTS

According to the existing PRC laws and regulations, foreign investors
are generally restricted to invest in provision of internet audio-visual
programmes services in the PRC.

In January 2018, the Company, through its wholly-owned subsidiary,
Beijing Huan Sheng X|ao Yu Culture Media Company Limited* (& 5 &k
BEXEXLEEAR A R) (“Beijing Subsidiary”) entered into certain
contractual arrangements (the "Contractual Arrangements”) with
Beijing Huarm Shou Ying Culture Company Limited* (t RER = &R X
{EBBR AR (the "VIE") and its subsidiary Beijing Hangaohua Network
Technology Company Limited* (b F 2 =ML B AR A A)
Qingdao Huanxi Shou Ying Culture Company Limited* (5 SEl= &t
XAt ABR A a]) was incorporated on 28 May 2020 and wholly-owned
by the VIE (the VIE and its subsidiaries collectively the “VIE Group”).
The VIE Group is principally involved in the film and TV programmes
production and investment and the provision of internet audio-visual
programmes services in the PRC.

Through the Contractual Arrangements, the Group will receive
economic benefits generated by, and obtain effective financial and
operational control and equity holders’ voting rights over the VIE
Group in order to indirectly engage in the film and TV programmes
production and investment and provision of internet audio-visual
programmes services in the PRC. The VIE Group holds some permits
including the License for Publication of Audio-Visual Programmes
through Information Network ({5 2 4848 {E %R 520 B 77 A1 %) and
Telecommunication and Information Service Business Operation
Permit (E {5 {5 8 RIS EI54C & 75 A1 7). Based on the advice of the
Company’s PRC legal adviser, the Board considers that the Contractual
Arrangements are in compliance with the relevant PRC laws and
regulations and are legally binding and enforceable.

The financial position and results of operations of the VIE Group has
been consolidated into the Group’s financial statements as the VIE
Group are regarded as indirect subsidiaries of the Group under HKFRS
10.

* For identification purposes only
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During the year ended 31 December 2023, there was no material
change in the Contractual Arrangements and/or the circumstances
under which they were adopted, and there was no termination of
the Contractual Arrangements nor failure to terminate when the
restrictions that led to the adoptions of the Contractual Arrangements
are removed.

Particulars of the VIE Group, their registered
owners and a summary of major terms of the
Contractual Arrangements

As at 31 December 2023, particulars of the VIE Group are as follows:

Registered owners

BE_Z_=F+-_A=+—BILFE &H%TH
R/ FERENTH 2 BERAGBERED AT
BEREEEAR U - T2 EBRAE KLk 2 BR B AR RS
TR FE A RRERR LA R BERIIEN

VIEREREZRRHEBAZHBERENR
Pz EE R

RZEBE-_=F+=-_A=+—H ' VIEEEZ2FBW
T

Company hames and the shareholding Registered capital Principal activities
NCIRCE BREEARRE AEMER FEEHR
Beijing Huanxi Shou Ying Culture  Hu Hui (99%) RMB10,000,000 Film and TV programmes

Company Limited* I 252(99%)
I REBEERCARRAR] Ni Kelu (1%)
R334 (1%)
Beijing Hangaohua Network Beijing Huanxi Shou Ying Culture

Technology Company Limited*  Company Limited* (80%)
IREREERRRARAR EtRESEERUEER A FEG0%)
Gu Haibin (20%)

/8 & (20%)
Qingdao Huanxi Shou Ying Beijing Huanxi Shou Ying Culture
Culture Company Limited* Company Limited* (100%)

BEEEREERLERAT] It REE BERXEER A (100%)

The major terms of the Contractual Arrangements are summarised as
below:

(1)  Exclusive Services Agreement
According to the Exclusive Services Agreement, the VIE agreed
to engage the Beijing Subsidiary as its exclusive provider of
technical support and consultancy services requested by the VIE

from time to time with a service fee equalled to the net profit of
the VIE.

*  For identification purposes only

50 HUANXI MEDIA GROUP LIMITED - Annual Report 2023

A FR#10,000,0007T production and investment
B NEREHERIERKE

RMB10,000,000 Provision of internet audio-
A R #10,000,0007T visual programmes services
R E A SRR B R

RMB3,000,000 Film and TV programmes
AR #3,000,0007T production and investment
B NEREEEERKEE

BRREZERHEFMANT -

(1) BHREBEEFHE

RIBBREHAEhE - VERZRETEE
K2 By 32 4% B o 0 A 7 & BB AL 5P /B8 2 )
EREBRHER - REBMRSRVIEZ Fi®
A o



@)

3)

(4)

(5)

Loan Agreement

According to the Loan Agreement, the Beijing Subsidiary agreed
to provide interest-free loans to the registered owners of the VIE
as capital contribution to the VIE. The registered owners of the
VIE, in return for the provision of loans, agreed to enter into an
Equity Interest Pledge Agreement with the Beijing Subsidiary to
pledge all of their equity interest in the VIE as security.

Equity Interest Pledge Agreement

According to the Equity Interest Pledge Agreement, each of
the registered owners of the VIE Group agreed to pledge all
their respective equity interests in the VIE Group to the Beijing
Subsidiary, as a security interest to guarantee the performance
of contractual obligations and the payment of outstanding loans
of the registered owner of the VIE Group.

Powers of Attorney

According to the Powers of Attorney, each of the registered
owners of the VIE irrevocably appointed designee of the Beijing
Subsidiary to act as their attorney on their behalf to exercise
all rights in connection with matters concerning their rights as
shareholders of the VIE.

Exclusive Option Contract

According to the Exclusive Option Contract, each of
the registered owners of the VIE agreed to irrevocably,
unconditionally and exclusively grant an exclusive option to the
Beijing Subsidiary to purchase the equity interests in the VIE
from the registered owners of the VIE, when it is permitted by
the then applicable PRC laws.

Risks associated with Contractual Arrangements
and the actions taken to mitigate the risks

The Group believes the following risks are associated with the
Contractual Arrangements:

If the PRC government finds that the Contractual Arrangements
that establish the structure for film and TV programmes
production and investment as well as provision of internet audio-
visual programmes series businesses in the PRC do not comply
with applicable PRC laws and regulations, we could be subject
to penalties and our business may be materially and adversely
affected,;

@)

3)

(4)

(5)
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o Certain terms of our Contractual Arrangements may not be
enforceable under the PRC laws;

o Our Contractual Arrangements may not be as effective in
providing control over our VIE as equity ownership;

o Any failure by the VIE or their respective ultimate shareholders
to perform their obligations under our Contractual Arrangements
would potentially lead to our having to incur additional costs
and expend material resources to enforce such arrangements,
temporary or permanent loss of control over our provision of
internet audio-visual programmes series businesses or loss of
access to the revenue from these businesses;

o The ultimate owners of the VIE may have potential conflicts of
interest with us, which may materially and adversely affect our
business and financial condition;

o If any of the VIE or its subsidiaries becomes the subject of a
bankruptcy or liquidation proceeding, we may lose the ability to
use and enjoy certain important assets, which could materially
and adversely affect our business; and

o Our exercise of the option to acquire the equity interests of the
VIE may be subject to certain limitations and the ownership
transfer may incur substantial costs.

The Group realised that there are regulatory risks associated with
the Contractual Arrangements. The Group will follow on the latest
developments with regards to the relevant PRC laws, rules and
regulations and seek professional legal advice when necessary.

Revenue and assets involved in the Contractual
Arrangements

Revenue and film investment loss and assets of the VIE Group of
approximately HK$544,933,000 (2022: revenue and film investment
income HK$1,146,000) and HK$473,900,000 (2022: HK$446,384,000),
respectively, are consolidated into the consolidated financial
statements pursuant to the Contractual Arrangements for the year
ended 31 December 2023. The above revenue and assets included
transactions and balances with the Group.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of
the whole or any substantial part of business of the Company were
entered into or exist during the year ended 31 December 2023.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the percentage of turnover
of the Group attributable to the largest customer and the five largest
customers combined are 91.52% and 97.37% respectively. For the
year ended 31 December 2023, the percentage of purchases of the
Group attributable to the largest supplier and the five largest suppliers
combined are 28.56% and 90.00% respectively.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group's largest customer
accounted for 91.52% of turnover of the Group was a group company
of Maoyan Entertainment, a shareholder who owns more than five
percent of the Company’s issued shares, the turnover was mainly
related to the distribution of the Group's films. For the year ended
31 December 2023, the Group's fourth largest customer accounted
for 0.16% of turnover of the Group was a group company of Bilibili,
a shareholder who owns more than five percent of the Company’s
issued shares, the turnover was mainly related to sub-licensing of
some contents of the Group'’s online video platform.

As at 31 December 2023, none of the directors, their associates or
shareholders (which to the knowledge of the directors own more than
five percent of the Company’s share capital) had any interest in the
five largest suppliers or customers of the Group.

RELATIONSHIP WITH KEY STAKEHOLDERS

Our staff is regarded as the most important resource of the Group.
Hence, the Group has been endeavouring to provide our staff with a
fair and harmonious workplace where individuals with diverse cultural
backgrounds are treated equally. We offer a competitive remuneration
package and great opportunities for career advancement based on
employees’ performance.

In respect of the business of the Group, the film industry is fragmented
and highly competitive. Following years of rapid development, there
is a vast number of independent service providers providing various
film and television programmes production and distribution services
and there is a number of reputable and reliable independent service
providers who have been engaged by Hong Kong and overseas film
companies for producing and distributing films and television drama
series in the PRC. Mr. Dong Ping, the Chairman of the Board and an
executive Director, Mr. Ning Hao and Mr. Xu Zheng, both non-executive
Directors, have extensive experience, expertise and connections in the
media and entertainment industries and each of them has noteworthy
background, experience, social status, personal and/or professional
achievements and connections with business partners in the film
industry, their collective knowledge and experience would enhance
the Group to identify appropriate and reliable third party service
providers and negotiate suitable commercial arrangements with such
providers to provide the necessary services to the Company.
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The Group also places effort to maintain good relationships with
financial institutions and professional advisers to maintain its
continuous growth and operation needs.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Board paid attention to the Group’s policies and practices
on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements. External
compliance and legal advisers are engaged to ensure transactions
and business performed by the Group are within the applicable law
framework. Besides, the Group always maintains a safe working
environment for staff in accordance with relevant safety policies.
There was no incident of non-compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that had a significant impact on the Company during 2023.

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

The Group encourages staff to save energy, minimise the use of
natural resources and paper products. The existing businesses
of the Group are not expected to create material damages to the
environment. We will continue to take into account the environmental
protection factor in the future when planning business activities
ahead. Please also refer to the Environmental, Social and Governance
Report of this annual report for details.

REVIEW OF THE RESULTS

The audit committee of the Company has reviewed with the
management the accounting principles and practices adopted by the
Group and discussed internal control and financial reporting matters
including the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2023.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Particulars of the Company'’s corporate governance practices are set
out in the Corporate Governance Report of this annual report.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors, as at the date of this annual
report the Company has maintained sufficient public float as required
under the Listing Rules.
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DONATIONS

During the year, the Group make a donation of HK$2,000,000 to a
charitable and non-profit-making organisation.

EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

There was no material event after reporting period up to the date of
this annual report.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2023 have been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers,
Certified Public Accountants. A resolution will be proposed at the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company to re-appoint
PricewaterhouseCoopers, Certified Public Accountants, as auditor of
the Company.

On behalf of the Board
Dong Ping
Chairman

Hong Kong, 27 March 2024
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board considers that maintaining corporate governance at high
standard is essential for enhancing accountability and transparency of
a company to the investing public and other stakeholders. Therefore,
the Company is committed to good corporate governance practices
for corporate sustainability and business growth.

Throughout the year ended 31 December 2023, the Company has
applied the principles and complied with the code provisions of the
Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) as set out in Appendix
C1 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange (the “Listing Rules”).

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Pursuant to provision C.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of chairman
and chief executive officer should be separate and should not be
performed by the same individual. During the financial year 2023, Mr.
Dong Ping acted as the chairman of the Board (the “Chairman”) and
Mr. Xiang Shaokun, Steven acted as the Chief Executive Officer.

Mr. Dong Ping focuses on the leadership role in the Board to ensure
that the Board works effectively in discharging its responsibilities
whilst Mr. Xiang Shaokun, Steven focuses on day-to-day corporate
management matters of the Group. The Board considers that the
segregation of responsibilities among the Board members meets the
requirements under the CG Code. The roles of the Chairman and chief
executive officer are separate and exercised by different individuals,
Code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code has been complied.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board is vested with the key roles of formulating the Group's
corporate strategic directions and policies; monitoring the financial
performance and internal control system of the Group; reviewing
the corporate governance standard of the Company; and overseeing
the performance of management, which is delegated with the
responsibilities of executing the Board’s decision and in-charging
day-to-day operation. It also decides on matters such as annual and
interim results, notifiable transactions, director appointments or re-
appointments and company policies.

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
financial statements of the Company. In preparing the financial
statements, the generally accepted accounting standards in Hong
Kong have been adopted, appropriate accounting policies have
been used and applied consistently, and reasonable and prudent
judgements and estimates have been made. The financial statements
are prepared on a going concern basis. The Directors confirm that,
to the best of their knowledge, they are not aware of material
uncertainties relating to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt upon the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.
The statement made by the auditor of the Company regarding their
reporting responsibilities on the financial statements is set out in the
Independent Auditor’s Report of the annual report.

Code Provision B.2.2 requires non-executive directors should be
appointed for a specific term and subject to re-election. The existing
Directors including the executive Directors, the non-executive
Directors and independent non-executive Directors are for a term of
2 years (except Mr. Xiang Shaokun, Steven, an executive Director and
the Chief Executive Officer of the Group, there is no specific term or
proposed length of services for Mr. Xiang's appointment). All of the
existing Directors shall be subject to retirement by rotation and re-
election in accordance with the Bye-laws and the Listing Rules.

Throughout the year ended 31 December 2023, the Company complied
with rules 3.10(1), 3.10(2) and 3.10A of the Listing Rules relating to the
appointment of at least three independent non-executive Directors,
at least one independent non-executive Director with appropriate
professional qualifications, or accounting or related financial
management expertise, and a sufficient number of independent
non- executive Directors representing at least one-third of the board,
respectively.
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BOARD COMPOSITION

The Board currently comprises two executive Directors, three non-
executive Directors and three independent non-executive Directors,
whose biographies are set out in the Biographical Details of Directors
of this annual report. All the Directors are high calibre executives
with diversified industry expertise and bring a wide range of skills
and experience to the Group. The Board members have no financial,
business, family or other material/relevant relationships with each
other.

The Company has received, from each of the independent non-
executive Directors an annual confirmation of independence pursuant
to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and considers all of the independent
non-executive Directors are independent.

The list of the Directors has been published on the websites of the
Company and the Stock Exchange, and is disclosed in all corporate
communications issued by the Company pursuant to the Listing Rules
from time to time.

The composition of the Board and their respective attendance in the
general meetings, Board meetings and other committee meetings
during the year ended 31 December 2023 are as follows:

EEgAMX

EXeHAMBENTES  ZRINTEFR =4
BUFRPTEZAN  EFBEEIRNAFHREFTE
FE—f - 2BEFHR/T BBEHZITRAR - AB
TRTERER  RAKETRSBRMEALR - &
E=ZeRBZAMERE XK REBEXNEME
R/ EENBR -

ZN/N IR 'Jxﬁ_L?'EgLﬂ%%*E?FL mARAE

BBMFRBH C BFB U MERERL - ARREBIUIF
HITESEBBEIAL -
EXZREERARANRBRAEM AWM - TFERA

NAEANRRB ETRATEZME RARBAB R

HE_T_=F+-_A=1+—HILEFE EFg2
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SR IMABLFERET

No. of meetings attended/eligible to attend

R/ REEREEERRY
Regular Audit Remuneration  Nomination
General fullBoard  Committee ~ Committee  Committee
meetings meetings meetings meetings meetings
Ezelf ERZEE yMzEE REZES
RRAE REfE EE EE ] EE
Number of meetings SRENY 1 1 2 1 1
Executive Directors HTEE
Mr. Dong Ping (Chairman) EVEEERE) 0/1 3/4 NATER 1 17
Mr. Xiang Shaokun, Steven BRBRE(THEH) " 44 N/ATER N/ATIEF N/ATER
(Chief Executive Officer)
Non-Executive Directors # HTEE
Mr. Ning Hao BEGE 01 2/4 N/ATER N/ARER N/ARER
Mr. Xu Zheng Rl 0/1 0/4 N/AT B N/ATE R N/AT B
Ms. LiNi ikt 01 0/4 N/ATER N/ATER NATER
Independent Non-Executive Directors ~ BUH#H1TEE
Mr. Wong Tak Chuen BEREE 1 3/4 2/2 N/AMER NATER
Mr. Li Xiaolong =\ 1 2/4 12 01 0/1
Mr. Wang Hong Fiss 01 2/4 2/2 11 1
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CHANGE IN INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS

There was no change in Directors’ information since the date of the
annual report 2022, which is required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule
13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTION

The Board has undertaken to perform corporate governance duties
and adopted the terms of reference on corporate governance
functions on 27 March 2012 for better management of the business
and affairs of the Group.

The duties of the Board in respect of corporate governance functions
shall be:

() to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance,

(i) to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management;

(iiiy  to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements,

(iv) to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and
Directors; and

(v)  to review the Company's compliance with the code provisions
set out in the CG Code contained in Appendix C1 of the
Listing Rules and its disclosure requirements in the Corporate
Governance Report.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three Board committees, namely audit
committee, remuneration committee and nomination committee to
oversee particular aspect of the Group's affair. Each of the committees
had defined terms of reference setting out its duty, power and
functions. The committees report to the Board and, where appropriate,
make recommendations on matters discussed.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

As at 1 January 2023, the audit committee was composed of three
independent non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. Wong Tak Chuen
(committee chairman), Mr. Li Xiaolong and Mr. Wang Hong. During
2023, the main role and functions of the audit committee are to review
the financial information of the Company, to oversee the Company'’s
financial reporting system, risk management and internal control
procedures and maintain relations with the auditor of the Company.

The audit committee is mainly responsible for the appointment,
reappointment and removal of the auditor, monitor the integrity of
the Company’s financial information including the interim and final
results of the Group and oversight of the Group's risk management
and internal control systems. The terms of reference of the audit
committee are available on the websites of the Company and the
Stock Exchange.

In 2023, the audit committee had held two meetings. During one
of the meetings, annual results of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2022 was reviewed with the auditor of the Company. The
audit committee also reviewed the accounting principles and practices
adopted by the Group and discussed internal controls and financial
reporting matters with the management team of the Company. The
other meeting was also held during 2023 that interim results of the
Group for the six months ended 30 June 2023 and financial matters
were discussed. The audit committee also reviewed the accounting
principles and practices adopted by the Group and financial reporting
matters with the management team of the Company.

The Company has engaged an external consultant to facilitate the
Board and the audit Committee for the evaluation of the Group’s
risk management and internal control systems for 2023. An annual
internal control review was performed by the external consultant to
make recommendations for improving and strengthening the risk
management and internal control systems. The audit committee, with
the assistance of the management and the external consultant, has
conducted annual review on the effectiveness of risk management
and internal control systems of the Group. Please refer to the section
“Internal Control and Risk Management” in this Corporate Governance
Report for the details on the review by the audit committee on the
Group's internal control and risk management for 2023.
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The audit committee is also responsible for performing the corporate
governance functions for the year 2023. The audit committee
reviewed the Company’s corporate governance policies and practices,
the Company’s policies and practices on compliance with legal
and regulatory requirements and the Company’s compliance with
the CG Code and disclosure in this Corporate Governance Report.
The corporate governance report has been reviewed by the audit
committee and the Board in discharge of its corporate governance
function.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The nomination committee of the Company was set up with key
responsibilities for considering and approving the appointment of
members of the Board and will meet to discuss when nomination
of new Director(s) is received or when circumstances require. In
considering the suitability of a candidate for directorship, the Board will
take into account the candidate’s qualification, experience, expertise
and knowledge as well as the prevailing composition, structure and
size of the Board and the requirements under the Listing Rules.

Under the terms of reference of the nomination committee, the
nomination committee shall, among others, identify individuals
suitably qualified to become Board members and select or make
recommendations to the Board on the selection of, individuals
nominated for directorships; the candidates for directorship will be
selected taken into account a wide range of factors, including but
not limited to, gender, age, cultural and educational background,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and service term. The
terms of reference of the nomination committee are available on the
websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

As at 1 January 2023, the nomination committee was composed of
Mr. Wang Hong (committee chairman and independent non-executive
Director), Mr. Dong Ping (executive Director and Chairman of the
Board) and Mr. Li Xiaolong (independent non-executive Director). The
committee member met once in the year ended 31 December 2023.
The meeting was held to discuss the re-election of Directors at the
annual general meeting held on 28 June 2023.

A policy for board on diversity had been adopted in May 2013 and
a policy for nomination of Directors which sets out the nomination
procedures and the process and criteria to select and recommend
candidates for directorship had been adopted in 2019. Please refer to
the “Corporate Governance” section on the Company’s website for
the Board Diversity Policy and Director Nomination Policy.
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Board Diversity Policy

The board diversity policy is adopted in 2013 and updated in 2015
which is to set out the approach to achieve diversity on the Company’s
Board. In designing the Board’'s composition, Board diversity has
been considered from a number of aspects, including but not limited
to gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of service. All
Board appointments will be based on meritocracy, and candidates
will be considered against objective criteria, having due regard for
the benefits of diversity on the Board. The nomination committee will
review the policy and monitor the implementation of the policy.

Nomination Policy

The nomination policy is adopted in 2019 which sets out the selection
criteria and nomination procedures for appointment of Directors.
Factors assessing the suitability of a proposed candidate for
directorship include but are not limited to reputation, qualifications,
accomplishment and experience, commitment in respect of available
time and relevant interest and potential contribution that can bring
to the Company. Independence requirements as set out in the
Listing Rules will also be considered in case of appointment or re-
appointment of independent non-executive director. The nomination
committee will make recommendation to the Board for consideration.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The remuneration committee of the Company was set up with key
responsibilities of recommending to the Board (i) the policy and
structure for remuneration of Directors and senior management;
and (ii) the remuneration package of executive Directors and senior
management. The Board retains the final authority to approve the
remuneration packages.

Under the terms of reference of the remuneration committee, the
remuneration committee shall, among others, make recommendations
to the Board on the Company’s policy and structure for all Directors’
and senior management’s remuneration and on the establishment of a
formal and transparent procedure for developing remuneration policy.
The remuneration committee also make recommendations to the
Board on the remuneration packages of individual executive Directors
and senior management. This should include benefits in kind, pension
rights and compensation payments, including any compensation
payable for loss or termination of their office or appointment. The
terms of reference of the remuneration committee were revised and
are available on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange
on 23 December 2022.
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As at 1 January 2023, the remuneration committee was composed of
Mr. Wang Hong (committee chairman and independent non-executive
Director), Mr. Dong Ping (Chairman of the Board and executive
Director) and Mr. Li Xiaolong (independent non-executive Director).
The committee met once in the year ended 31 December 2023. The
meeting was held to review the emoluments of the Directors and
to review the remuneration packages of the Directors retired in the
annual general meeting of the Company held on 28 June 2023. No
Director was involved in deciding his own remuneration.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Choi Wing Koon, the Company Secretary of the Company, has
undertaken no less than 15 hours of relevant professional training
respectively for the year ended 31 December 2023.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the remuneration payable to
the auditor of the Company in respect of audit and non-audit services
are approximately HK$3,385,000 (2022: HK$3,285,000) and HK$922,000
(2022: HK$15,000) respectively. Non-audit services provided by the
auditor of the Company were related to annual results announcement
and due diligence.

INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK MANAGEMENT

Risk management and internal control are essential parts of
corporate governance. The Directors have the overall responsibility
for internal control and risk management systems, and review their
effectiveness. The Group has established policies and procedures for
risk management and internal control to ensure the proper monitoring
and control of major risks arising from the Group's activities. The
Group has engaged an external internal control and risk management
consultant (i.e. the Consultant) to perform the Group’s internal audit
function, to review and improve the effectiveness of the Group'’s risk
management and internal control systems. The Company has put in
place risk management and internal control systems which enable the
Group to respond appropriately to significant business, operational,
financial, compliance and other risks. Furthermore, they help ensure
the quality of internal and external reporting within the Group and the
compliance with applicable laws and regulations, and also internal
policies with respect to the conduct of businesses of the Group.
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The Board, through the audit committee and with the assistance of
the Consultant, have conducted reviews on the effectiveness of risk
management and internal control systems of the Group for 2023 once
and considered the Group has operated an effective, appropriate, and
adequate risk management and internal control systems (based on
the findings of the Consultants’ internal control review reports and
discussion with the Consultant). In respect of the Group’s internal
control systems, it aims at safeguarding assets from inappropriate
use, maintaining proper accounts and ensuring compliance with
regulations. The management is primarily responsible for the design,
implementation and maintenance of the internal control system.
The internal control and risk management systems are designed to
provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance against material
misstatement or loss, and to manage, rather than eliminate, risks of
failure to achieve business objectives.

Along with the internal control review, the Consultant has prepared
annual review report on overall effectiveness of the Group’s system
of internal control over the Company’s policies and procedures for
compliance with appendix C1 of the Listing Rules were reviewed for
the year ended 31 December 2023. Along with the risk management
review, the Board, through the audit committee and with the
assistance of the Consultant, have, among others, identified, evaluated
and assessed the key risk factors affecting the Group’s business and
its operation. During the risk assessment process, the management of
the Company has reviewed aspects including operation, compliance
and strategic areas. High-priority risks identified included strategic
risk of investing in entertainment industry, operation risks such as
uncertainties in production quality of media projects, credit risk in
relation to distributors and risks involved in compliance with various
censorship regulations, listing rules compliance, and financial data
reporting standards.

Management would from time to time review the key risks identified
and determine their responses to high-priority risks and where
necessary, report on significant changes and effectiveness of the
systems of risk management.

The Board had adopted a whistle blowing policy including procedures
for employees to report any irregularities on the affairs of the
Ccompany.
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CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code contained in Appendix
C3 to the Listing Rules on terms no less exactly than the required
standard set out in the Model Code. Having made specific enquiry,
all Directors confirmed that they fully complied with the Model Code
throughout the reporting period.

DIRECTORS' TRAINING

According to the code provision C.1.4 of the CG Code, all Directors
should participate in continuous professional development to
develop and refresh their knowledge and skills to ensure that their
contributions to the Board remains informed and relevant. The
Company is committed to arranging and funding suitable training to all
Directors for their continuous professional development. The Company
has from time to time provided Directors with materials relating to the
business and operations of the Group, latest developments regarding
the Listing Rules and their responsibilities under the Listing Rules, legal
and other regulatory requirements.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, all existing Directors have
received the following trainings:
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DIRECTORS' AND OFFICERS' LIABILITIES
INSURANCE

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance cover for liabilities
in respect of legal actions against Directors and officers of the
Company and its subsidiaries arising out of corporate activities of the
Group under Code C.1.8 of the CG Code. The insurance coverage is
reviewed on an annual basis.

DIRECTORS' SERVICE CONTRACTS

No Directors being proposed for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting of the Company has a service contract with
the Company or any of its subsidiaries which is not determined
by the employing company within one year without payment of
compensation (other than statutory compensation).

INSIDE INFORMATION POLICY

Pursuant to the statutory regime for disclosure of inside information
sets out in Part XIVA of the SFO with effect from 1 January 2013,
the Board has adopted an inside information policy on 27 August
2013 which sets out the guidelines to the Directors, officers and all
relevant employees of the Group to ensure that the inside information
of the Group is to be disseminated to public in equal and timely
manner in accordance with the applicable laws and regulations,
which includes, among others, all inside information must be treated
strictly confidential and disclosure of inside information must be
made in a manner that provides the public with an equal, timely and
effective access to the information, such as through the electronic
publication system operated by the Stock Exchange. Generally, no
employee or Director may disclose, discuss or share with outside
parties (except for communication with the Group’s advisers who
owe a duty of confidentiality, e.g. lawyers, and other categories of
persons as allowed under the Part XIVA of the SFO) the information
of price-sensitive nature about the Company that has not been
released to the public. Please refer to the website of the Company
www.huanximedia.com under the section “Corporate Governance” for
the Company’s inside information policy.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

Shareholders’ communication policy was adopted by the Board
on 27 March 2012 and last updated in July 2019. Shareholders’
communication policy and shareholder’s rights are published on the
designated website of the Company.
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RIGHT TO PUT ENQUIRIES TO THE BOARD

Shareholders may direct their enquiries about their shareholdings
to the Company’s branch share registrar and transfer office in Hong
Kong, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited at 17M
Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong.
Enquiries other than shareholdings may be directed to the head office
and principal place of business of the Company in Hong Kong as set
out in the Corporate Information of this annual report for the attention
of the Company Secretary.

RIGHT TO CONVENE SPECIAL GENERAL
MEETING

Pursuant to Section 74(1) of the Bermuda Companies Act and the bye-
law 62 of the Bye-laws, the shareholder(s) of the Company holding at
the date of the deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the
paid-up capital of the Company as at the date of the deposit carries
the right of voting at general meetings of the Company may request
the Board to convene a special general meeting.

The requisition must state the purposes of the meeting, and must be
signed by the requisitionists and deposited at the registered office of
the Company at Victoria Place, 5th Floor, 31 Victoria Street, Hamilton
HM 10, Bermuda for the attention of the Company Secretary and may
consist of several documents in like form each signed by one or more
requisitionists.

If the Directors do not within twenty-one days from the date of the
deposit of the requisition proceed duly to convene a meeting, the
requisitionists, or any of them representing more than one half of the
total voting rights of all of them, may themselves convene a meeting,
but any meeting so convened shall not be held after the expiration of
three months from the said date.
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RIGHT TO PUT FORWARD PROPOSALS AT
GENERAL MEETINGS

On the requisition in writing of either (i) any number of shareholders
of the Company representing not less than one-twentieth of the
total voting rights of all the shareholders having at the date of the
requisition a right to vote at the meeting to which the requisition
relates; or (i) not less than 100 shareholders, the Company shall, at
the expense of the requisitionists:

(@  togive to shareholders of the Company entitled to receive notice
of the next annual general meeting notice of any resolution
which may properly be moved and is intended to be moved at
that meeting; and

(b)  to circulate to shareholders entitled to have notice of any
general meeting sent to them any statement of not more than
one thousand words with respect to the matter referred to in
any proposed resolution or the business to be dealt with at that
meeting.

The requisition must be signed by the requisitionists and deposited
at the registered office of the Company at Victoria Place, 5th Floor,
31 Victoria Street, Hamilton HM 10, Bermuda for the attention of the
Company Secretary.

RIGHT TO PROPOSE A PERSON FOR ELECTION
AS A DIRECTOR

According to the Bye-laws, no person other than a retiring Director
shall, unless recommended by the Directors for election, be eligible
for election to the office of Director at any general meeting, unless
a notice in writing signed by a shareholder (other than the person
to be proposed) duly qualified to attend and vote at the meeting for
which such notice is given of his intention to propose such person for
election as a Director and also a notice in writing by that person of his
willingness to be elected (including that person'’s biographical details
as required by Rule 13.51(2) of the Listing Rules) shall be lodged with
the Company Secretary at the Company's principal place of business
in Hong Kong provided that the minimum length of the period, during
which such notice(s) are given, shall be at least seven days and that
(if the notices are submitted after the dispatch of the notice of the
general meeting appointed for such election) the period for lodgement
of such notice(s) shall commence on the day after the dispatch of the
notice of the general meeting appointed for such election and end no
later than seven days prior to the date of such general meeting.
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If such notice(s) are received less than ten business days prior to the
date of such general meeting, the Company will need to consider
the adjournment of such general meeting in order to allow the
Shareholders fourteen clear days’ notice of the proposal.

DIVIDEND POLICY

A policy on payment of dividend had been adopted in March 2019.
The policy specifies that the Board may pay interim dividends as
appear to the Board to be justified by the position of the Company and
declare and pay special dividends on such dates as they think fit. The
Company may declare dividends in general meetings of the Company,
but the declared dividend shall not exceed the amount recommended
by the Board.

VOTING BY POLL

Pursuant to Rule 13.39(4) of the Listing Rules, any vote of the
Shareholders at a general meeting must be taken by poll except where
the chairman of the general meeting, in good faith, decides to allow
a resolution which relates purely to a procedural or administrative
matter to be voted by a show of hands.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company maintains websites at www.huanximedia.com and
www.irasia.com/listco/hk/huanximedia where information and
updates on the list of Directors and their roles and functions, terms
of reference of the Board committees, procedures for nomination of
Directors for election, announcements, circulars and reports released
to the Stock Exchange and other information are posted.

The Company's constitutional documents are available on the
websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company. There were no
changes in the Company’s constitutional documents during 2023.
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ABOUT THIS REPORT

The Company is pleased to present this Environmental, Social and
Governance (“ESG") Report, which summarises the ESG policies,
initiatives, and performance of the Group, in accordance with the
“"Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide” ("ESG
Reporting Guide”) contained in Appendix C2 to the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
and is issued together with the annual report. This report aims to
provide our stakeholders with a comprehensive understanding of
our major ESG policies, initiatives and performances of the Group in
four dimensions, namely employment and labour practices, operating
practices, environmental protection and community participation.

GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE

In line with the Corporate Governance Code, the Board is responsible
for the Group’s environmental, social and governance strategies and
reporting. The Board is also responsible for evaluating and determining
the Group’s ESG-related risks, and ensuring that appropriate and
effective ESG risk management and internal control systems are in
place. Management is responsible for ensuring the effectiveness of
these systems and reporting to the Board, which is responsible for
monitoring and reviewing the compliance of ESG-related issues with
laws and regulations.

The Group has established the Working Group. The Working Group is
composed of core members from different departments of the Group
and is authorised by the Board according to its terms of reference.
It is responsible for reviewing and evaluating the effectiveness
of the sustainability structure, and managing the ESG issues and
performance which are material to the Group.

During the Reporting Period, we were committed to incorporating
sustainable development into our overall business strategy. To achieve
the above objectives, the Group has implemented an effective internal
control system for environmental, social and governance, and adopted
reasonable risk management measures to embed the concept of
environmental, social and governance into our cultural system.
We judge the effectiveness of implementation based on pollution
emissions and energy usage. The Group firmly believes that the
sustainable development of an enterprise is not only to strive to create
maximum benefits for all stakeholders, but also to achieve sustainable
development through good corporate governance, corporate social
responsibility, compliance with environmental regulations and
consistent philosophy.
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Material ESG issues are being identified and prioritised through
our stakeholder engagement exercise. This year, we conducted an
extensive stakeholder engagement exercise to further understand
and update what our stakeholders consider to be important ESG
issues. The list of material ESG issues was reviewed and validated by
the Board and incorporated into the Group's planning for business
strategies and ESG initiatives. Going forward, the list of material
ESG issues will be reviewed annually by the Board. For more details
on materiality analysis of ESG issues, please refer to the sections
“Stakeholders Engagement” and “Materiality Assessment” below.

REPORTING PRINCIPLES

The ESG Report is governed by the “Comply or Explain” principle
which is the disclosure of the recommended and mandatory Key
Performance Indicators (“KPIs") set out in the ESG Reporting Guide and
follow the four reporting principles — materiality, quantitative, balance
and consistency in the preparation of the ESG Report.

- Materiality: The ESG Report shall disclose any quantitative or
qualitative ESG data that have the potential to influence the
judgment of the reader.

- Quantitative: The environmental, social and governance
objectives identified by the Group should be measurable to
facilitate comparison with previous years, competitors and
industry standards.

- Balance: The ESG report should provide an unbiased picture of
the issuer’s performance. The report should avoid selections,
omissions, or presentation formats that may inappropriately
influence a decision or judgment by the report reader.

- Consistency: The assumptions and calculation methods used
for any KPI should be consistent with previous years to ensure
that the relevant data can be compared effectively. Any changes
to the relevant assumptions or calculation methods should be
clearly disclosed to inform stakeholders.
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REPORTING BOUNDARY

The Company is an investment holding and film investment
company and its subsidiaries are principally engaged in media and
entertainment-related businesses, including development and
investment in film and TV programmes rights, as well as operation of
an online video platform. This ESG Report covers the whole range of
our businesses, including development and investment in film and TV
programmes rights as well as operation of the online video platform.
The geographical locations of the Group’s businesses are situated in
Hong Kong and the PRC. The information stated in this report spans
from 1 January 2023 to 31 December 2023 (the “Reporting Period”)
which aligns with the financial year as this annual report.

The information contained in this report has been collected through
various means, including but not limited to the Group’s internal
control policies; factual evidence of the implementation of ESG-related
measures; KPIs; third-party questionnaires; and quantitative data on
the Group’s annual performance in its business operations and ESG
management.

REVIEW AND APPROVAL

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for ensuring the integrity
of the ESG Report and to the best of their knowledge, the ESG Report
addresses all relevant material issues and fairly presents the ESG
performance of the Company. The Board regularly reviews and
evaluates the Group's policy on sustainable development to ensure
the effectiveness of the system for accomplishing the expectations
and needs of the stakeholders. Internal reviews, such as independent
assessments and analysis, are also arranged to improve ESG
management. The Board, with the assistance of the management and
an external consultant, considered the effectiveness of these systems
as well as the progress made against relevant ESG-related goals and
targets during the year ended 31 December 2023. The Board confirms
that it has reviewed and approved the ESG Report. The ESG Report
was reviewed and approved on 27 March 2024.

72 HUANXI MEDIA GROUP LIMITED - Annual Report 2023

HREHEE

ARB—HREZERLREFZRERT - HHBELQ
REEUERBMREBEET  EREFRER
BIRBRERRENREEERGAT G - AR
5 HegRELIBREATRERMNBEES &2
REZMNEGBRERERIRE AR EBLERTIE
Fa o AEEEBHMEAUNEERPEAM o K
BEMBEREE S -_=F—A—AE=-Z=
=FE+ZA=+—B(HEH) - ERFHRHOM K
FE—H

ABERBERTBEBEZRIAME  BREETR
R AEEAREHEHIBR  BigRE  HekE
BN EERE  BRENER  E=0H
BRHE  RMAKBEEBEENRRE HERERE
BERRBENELCEIE -

ER AL A

ETSRREBRARE HERESRETEN
WETRRESAA - ARE - L RERTREH
HTHREMRBNEASEY AL ADAER
B oHegkEARE EFSTHENRTHASE
EMAFEERER  UWEREREINEZHENE
WHEREE - BUNERE  HEREREE &
977 B ZHEFARE AR T - IS5 S o i o
HE-_ T - =F+_A=+—HItFE BEHgH
EEER—ZIINEEBOBET  BEHBERAN
FRAA R BABRRIRIR - L@ REABIEMEME
B -BEeRTHECEMIMAELRE HekE
JATRE o AIRIE C HEREAWREN-ZT-_WNF=
A= ++B&REIWHE -



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

STAKEHOLDERS ENGAGEMENT

As stakeholders’ opinions are the solid foundation for the Group’s
sustainable development and success, we have regularly refined
our corporate social responsibility (“CSR") practices by connecting
with a range of stakeholders to identify the issues that are material
and relevant to us. The Group has proactively engaged with various
stakeholder groups through different channels on a transparent
platform. Continuous improvements to the communication channels
have been made to maintain a long-lasting relationship with the
stakeholders. We have encompassed every stakeholder to improve
the Group’s relationship with the suppliers, employees, shareholders,
customers, supervisory institutions, and society as a whole. We strive
to understand their ESG concerns.

During the Reporting Period, the Group engaged with the following key
stakeholder groups and identified their concerns on ESG issues:

Stakeholders

FOE ERRHEE

Requirements and expectations
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Communications and actions
BERTEH

Government/Regulatory Authorities e

compliance with laws and regulations

compliance management

BT BB B ARER GHEE
e support for economic development e submission of reports and payment of
SRR R taxes
ERXME RN
Shareholders e financial results e reports and announcements
AR BTG wERRNE
e business developments e general meetings
XBEE N
e  corporate governance e company website, email and hotline
TEER NaEl#Euh - BEBMRAGEE
e channels of communications e press release
EIRERE E
Customers e high-quality products and services e creative and quality products
®P EEELRMRE BIFTEEEM
e meeting customers’ needs e protection of customer information
WEEPHTER and privacy
e feedback channels REEPEN KILE
REERBE o dedicated customer service
EBEPR®
e email and hotline
EBREEES
e press release
rET
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Stakeholders Requirements and expectations Communications and actions
BoE ERRBE EBBRTH

Employees employees’ compensation and benefits e  provision of good remuneration and
EE 1B B89 E iE T welfare

career development

BEER

protection of occupational health
(REE R, S R

work and life balance
FETEATE

Equal opportunity employer
TEReEE

RERITFOFMERN
regular performance reviews and
feedback
TR RRE
employee training

=3=pgl

meetings

Leisure activities

REE S

Seasonal gifts for employees
BT RY

Suppliers and Business Partners
g REBEH

compliance with contracts
BFED
communication channels
EBRERE

business ethics

[EESER:S

Fairness in operation
NELE

performance of contracts according to
law

KERBITEH

attending film festivals

2INERE

dedicated internal control and risk
management
HIAEPEEE K R e B 1R

constant supplier performance review
and evaluation
FEEG AT ER R

emails and meetings

BE R EH
Community and Environment support for charity e donation
L FIRE TRANEEEYE B
eco-friendly business practices e increasing the efficiency of the use of
RIBRIF RV TS T resources and energy

eI &R M B IRE R R

During the Reporting Period, the Group actively consulted with
different stakeholders and took measures to strengthen ties with
stakeholders and maintain friendly relations with them. We regularly
publish interim reports, annual reports, announcements, and circulars
to report the progress of the Group’s actions on matters of concern
to stakeholders. During the Reporting Period, we used a form of

questionnaire to understand the concerns of stakeholders, as detailed

below.
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MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT

During the Reporting Period, the Group conducted an annual review
to determine the major concerns and interests of stakeholders on
environmental, social and governance issues through stakeholder
participation in substantive assessment surveys. According to the
influence and dependence of internal and external stakeholders
on the Group, some internal and external stakeholders (including
management, employees, customers, and suppliers) participated in
the materiality assessment process conducted by the Group for this
report. Selected stakeholders were invited to participate in a survey to
comment on key ESG topics. The purpose of the survey is to determine
the views of stakeholders on the Group’s key ESG issues and to
conduct a substantive assessment of the Group. We have assessed
and identified key environmental, social and governance topics for the
Group and assessed the importance of these topics to the business
and stakeholders to further drive our sustainable business strategy.
The following diagram shows the evaluation process:
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Stage 1 Identify Issues of

Stage 2 Stakeholders

; D
&

Stage 3 Assessment of

Materiality Survey Issues of Materiality
FE—PER BhEEMEE FE_BER FHERE FER AEBEEMEE
A selection of ESG issues that may We invited internal and external The management of the Group are

reasonably be considered important for
the Group and its stakeholders from
various sources, including Main Board
Listing Rules requirement, industry
trends and internal policies. A total of 28
ESG topics were identified and
considered as relevant to the Group with
reference to peer benchmarking results.
HRAEEREFZHENS - KEF
BERRR (BEERETRABEE
CTEBBRABEBER) H— KR
B HgREAZEANCERAEHN
BE 2EREHFLER - RMHEHE
B 28TER A M AL BBEBEAIRE -
HEREREE -

stakeholders to assess the “importance
to the Group” and “importance to the
external stakeholders” of each issue
through questionnaires using a scale of 1
to 5.

BFIBFEREB RN E B BES
HE (A —E2AM/ITR) FEEER
[SAREENERME] & [HIINDF
NENEEK] -

responsible for reviewing and confirming
the assessment result, then reporting to
the Board. Based on the assessment
results, we identified 10 issues that are
extremely critical to the Group, for details
please see the table below.
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The ranking of the Group’s material ESG issues are as follows:

Very Important
FEEE

Important
B

AEESENIRE  HE@REAEERFWT

Less Important
REE

1. Marketing communications (e.g.

11.

Diversity and equal opportunity of

24,

Environmentally preferable products

advertisement) employees and services
EIHEREINES) EEMNZTERFEHE IRIREE M AR TS

2. Observing and protecting
intellectual property rights
e o R AR PR SN 8 EE A

Employee remuneration, benefits and  25.

rights (e.g. working hours, rest periods,
working conditions)
EEHBN - t8F R AR (A0 TIERFE -

Ccommunity support (e.g. donation,
volunteering)

M SR (AR - EREARTS)

3. Customer information and privacy RERRE - TEGREP 26. Hazardous waste production
BEPERRILE BEEEMESE
13. Preventing child and forced labour
4. Number of concluded legal cases B ZE Takaamlss T 27. Water use
regarding corrupt practices, e.g. KB IREE A
bribery, extortion, fraud and 14. Anti-corruption training provided to
money laundering directors and staff 28. Use of materials (e.g. paper,

EEGENETRARMFNEE (0
e BR - BEFREE)

5. Environmental risks (e.g. pollution)
and social risks (e.g. monopoly) of
the suppliers
HER A IRE AR ()54 kit
==k (I EEE)

6. Product health and safety
EmEREETE

7. Greenhouse gas emissions
BEREBEEN

8. Selection and monitoring of

15.

16.

17.

18.

RMEEKE TREMNRESHE

Climate change
RIEE (L

Customer satisfaction
EEREE

Anti-corruption policies and whistle-
blowing procedure
RESBUR REBRE T

Mitigation measures to protect
environment and natural resources
RERT N RABIRIET EIE 1

suppliers 19. Non-hazardous waste production
HEFMNEERER BEEMES
9. Employee development and 20. Air emissions
training & R HEIR
EEBRRE
21. Occupational health and safety
10. Product and service labelling i F S ieboaes
EmRRBGRE
22. Cultivation of local employment
fREZE RS
23. Energy use (e.g. electricity, gas, fuel)
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According to above result, some topics such as (1) Marketing
communications, (2) Observing and protecting intellectual property
rights, (3) Customer information and privacy, (4) Number of concluded
legal cases regarding corrupt practices, and (5) Environmental risks
and social risks of the suppliers, are very important to the Group. The
above topics are categorised as the main elements that drive the
sustainable business development of the Group and we will further
elaborate on them in the following sections.

FEEDBACK CONTACT

The latest business updates are available to the public through
our website (www.huanximedia.com). The Group welcomes all
stakeholders’ feedback regarding the ESG issues. Interested parties
can contact the Group to share their suggestions and opinions through
the channels listed below:

Address: 11th Floor
Far East Finance Centre
16 Harcourt Road
Admiralty, Hong Kong

Email:  info@huanxi.com
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ENVIRONMENTAL

The Group attaches great importance to the “dual carbon” goal,
and following the deployment of the “dual carbon” goal of the
PRC government, draws on overseas experience, strengthens
the carbon footprint accounting of our film industry, and
takes the road of sustainable and high-quality development.
We strictly abide by the Environmental Protection Law of the
PRC, the Air Pollution Control Ordinance, the Noise Control
Ordinance, the Waste Disposal Ordinance and the Water
Pollution Control Ordinance of Hong Kong, and other applicable
laws and regulations, since environmental protection and energy
conservation are very important to our sustainable development.

Considering the nature of our businesses, the impact of the
Group's business activities on the environment and energy
consumption is minimal.

The Group are committed to integrate environmental protection
into our daily business operation:

To promote of pollution prevention, waste reduction, and
recycling;

. For all of our investment decision- making processes,
as one of the key assessment criteria, we perform
comprehensive assessments and give due consideration
to minimise the potential impact on the environment;

° Paying great attention to the latest developments in
environmental protection and occupational hygiene and
safety issues; and

° Providing continuous education and training on
occupational safety and environmental protection to
employees and customers.

During the Reporting Period, the Group complied with laws and
regulations related to air pollution and waste handling including
relevant regulations in the PRC, and to the best of our Directors’
knowledge, the Group did not have any significant environmental
violations.
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A1 Emissions

Exhaust emissions

The Group implements strict management of emissions
generated during our operations to meet the relevant
emission standards. We have gathered, organised, and
analysed greenhouse gas data following ESG Reporting
Guide to control emissions from the source.

Based on the nature of our businesses and the ongoing
assessment by the management of the Group, we did not
generate significant air emissions or hazardous waste.
The Group's greenhouse gas emissions are mainly indirect
emissions, which are caused by the use of electricity in the
Group's workplaces, car travel, and employee travel.

Regarding the above issues, our goal is to reduce the
emissions year by year. The Group has advocated green
office to reduce the negative impact on the environment,
such as saving energy and cutting power off in time to
reduce unnecessary waste; encouraging employees
to use teleconferencing or online conferences to avoid
unnecessary travel; procuring energy efficient electrical
appliances (such as those with Grade 1 energy labels
and fridge with door) and systems; placing “Green
Message” reminders on office equipment and workplace
to further enhance employees’ environmental awareness;
and cleaning the air conditioners regularly to improve
operational efficiency. Moving forward, the Group will
continue to monitor if any significant impact on air quality
from the Group's operations.
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For details of air and greenhouse gas emissions FABERAZERBHREKE - F20
performance, please refer to the table below: T :
Emission category KPIs Unit 2023 2022 Movement
BER D Al HARENER By —EZ= —EB-CF BE
Emissions from vehicles NOX kg 11.46 9.00 +27%
B Ry T
SOx kg 0.35 0.34 +3%
ety T
PM kg 0.84 0.66 +27%
EER kY T
Greenhouse gas emissions™ Scope 1@ tCOe 63 62 +2%
BE RSB #[E1® M= iRE =
Scope 20 tCO,e 81 107 -24%
& [E20 WE— S IRE S
Scope 3% tCO.e 37 17 +118%
& [Z3® WAk E 2
181 186 -3%
Intensity per employee®
REEBEEE)Y
Emission category KPIs Unit 2023 2022
BER D Al BARENESR B —E-= —=E_=
Emissions from vehicles NOX kg 0.127 0.099
BHERBERY Ry T
SOx kg 0.004 0.004
maty TR
PM kg 0.009 0.007
CERRY) T
Greenhouse gas emissions™  Scope 1@ tCOe 0.70 0.68
BE RSB giE@ MR E =
Scope 29 tCO,e 0.90 1.18
#3[F]20 WS LR EE
Scope 3% tCOe 0.41 0.19
#i[E3® WS ikEE
2.01 2.05
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Notes:

1. Greenhouse gas emissions included emissions of carbon
dioxide, methane, and nitrous oxide, where methane and
nitrous oxide emissions were converted to carbon dioxide
emissions based on global warming potential (“GWP").
Therefore, the total amount of greenhouse gas emissions is the
total amount of carbon dioxide emissions equivalent.

2. Scope 1 included direct greenhouse gas emissions from the
combustion of fuels in mobile sources (e.g. vehicles) controlled
by the Group.

38 Scope 2 included indirect greenhouse gas emissions of

electricity purchased from power companies.

4. Scope 3 included the indirect greenhouse gas emissions of
disposal of paper waste at landfill and business travel by
employees.

5 The intensity calculation method is to divide the air, greenhouse
gas, and other emissions in 2023 by the Group's total labour
force of 90 (2022:91).

6. The methodology adopted for reporting on greenhouse gas
emissions set out above was based on “How to Prepare an ESG
Report? — Appendix 2: Reporting Guidance on Environmental
KPIs” issued by the Stock Exchange.

Waste management

The Group strictly abides by the Law of the PRC on the
Prevention and Control of Environmental Pollution by Solid
Waste, the Waste Disposal Ordinance (Cap 354 of the Laws
of Hong Kong), and other relevant regulations. The Group
manages the waste in compliance with these regulations,
and prevents waste from polluting the environment.

As we are engaged in film and TV programmes rights
investments, as well as operation of an online video
platform, there is no significant environmental issue was
noted and no material hazardous waste except batteries
and used computers was generated in our business
activities within the Reporting Period, and we have not
produced a notable level of air or water pollutants. Our
waste is mainly attributed to our daily activities such as
regular trash and paper used for job management and
office documents, which are non-hazardous. We entrusted
qualified third-party companies to recycle and dispose of
those non-hazardous waste.
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A2

We hope that the amount of paper used can decrease year
by year. To reduce the generation of the non-hazardous
waste, we have established office policies related to
saving paper. First of all, the Group encourages employees
to make full use of the Group’s online office system
and minimise the use of paper; secondly, the Group
advocates employees to recycle paper. For example,
double-sided printing is adopted for recycling to reduce
paper waste and reduce waste paper from the source;
thirdly, a constant reminder for our colleagues on the “4-R
Principles — Reduce, Reuse, Replace and Recycle” are well
communicated across department; finally, electronic waste
were recycled whenever practical across our business
operations.

Through our continuous efforts, the Group discharged
0.35 tonnes of wasted papers in 2023, decreased by 39.7%
compared with the previous year (2022: 0.58 tonnes), the
intensity of wasted paper was 0.004 tonnes (2022: 0.006
tonnes) per employee. Moving forward, the Group will
continue to monitor wastes disposal.

Use of Resources

Considering the nature of our businesses, the main
resources consumed by the Group were electricity, petrol,
and water, and no packaging materials are used. The
direct energy consumption refers to the fuel consumed
by motor vehicles; the indirect energy consumption refers
to electricity consumption. During the Reporting Period,
the direct and indirect energy consumption were 124.86
MWh (2022: 135.00 MWh) and 229.09 MWh (2022: 222.37
MWh) respectively., the intensity of total direct and indirect
energy consumption was 3.93 MWh (2022: 3.93 MWh) per
employee.

Payment for water usage has been included in the
management fee to the landlord, thus related consumption
data cannot be obtained. Meanwhile, the Group did not
have problems with shortage of water supply and the
use of packaging material is not applicable to our core
business.
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We aim to continuously improve the efficiency of energy
use in order to achieve the purpose of saving energy. To
better manage the use of resources and improve resource FRARREABRFMAE  AEERHRE
utilisation, the Group has implemented key measures HABERZBLE2EE  2EETR
during the Reporting Period including but not limited to the i

following:

Electricity Consumption EHFE

Strictly control the power consumption of the office
building, turn off the power supply in time when the
computer is not in use, and carefully check whether
the computer, water dispenser, lighting, and other
electrical equipment are powered off after work;

Keep doors and windows closed when air
conditioners are in use and maintaining the

temperature at 24T inside offices;

Replacement of lighting systems in offices and
factories by energy-saving LED lighting systems,

Application of energy-saving modes by default for all
electrical appliances; and

LED advertising panels are switched off during non-

e BREHBRAXKENEEE T
FEREREREBEREER UK
ETHERFAREER - KK

- BELEMESRERTE

==
B,

. EREABRMEME  LEHA
ENEAREBFIEAT

e ENMAERIMOBARRRAE
ERBELEDIREA Z 47T

s FMAESRREERSEMEHLER
B3

o HEIEXWMBIMLEDESRE

business hours.

Water Consumption KRB FE

e Encourage employees to consciously develop e HEEEEBEENHOAKNE
the habit of saving water, turn off taps at will, and B BEFEEKESR  HIR
eliminate waste; and B xR

e Inspect pipelines regularly, check and repair the e THRETE BRELKEEZR

water pipes leakage to avoid wastage.

Paper Saving BRI A

e Enhance electronic means of communication with o WREEEMEFEARASIA K
employees; and

e Actively recycle waste paper and use recycled paper o  TEMREWH AEARILFZLER

as much as possible. IRt
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Petrol Consumption

J Encourage the virtual conferences to replace the
physical ones mostly;

o Advocate employees to take public transportation to
work to achieve green travel;

. Establishment of the operational protocols and
centralised management to ensure the effective use
of vehicles; and

o Regular inspection and maintenance of vehicles are
conducted to enhance burning efficiency of fuel.

The Environment and Natural Resources

The existing business operations of the Group are not
expected to pose a material impact on the environment.
However, the management had nonetheless incorporated
the factor of the potential impact on the environment and
natural resources in business operations planning. The
Group hopes that continuous improvement will contribute
to the global ecological environment.

Although the Group’s impacts on environment are
insignificant and the Group seldom uses natural resources
directly, we still encourage our employees to reduce the
use of natural resources and recycle as much as possible,
as described in section “A2 Use of Resources”.
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A4 Climate Change

The world’s climate has changed significantly in the
past decades — global temperatures have increased and
extreme weather events are becoming more frequent
and severe, which may cause disruptions to business
operations globally, and in turn adversely impact the macro
economy. Although the Group is not involved in large-
scale manufacturing industry and is relatively less affected
by the climate, we will continue to monitor the potential
risks of climate change and its impacts on the Group'’s
operations and adopt the appropriate environmental
protection measures as stated in this report accordingly.
However, we should not underestimate the risks brought
about by climate change, such as operational risks, profit
risks, and so on. The Group believes that all stakeholders
should work together to address climate change, which
will also be regarded as one of the most significant risks
to the world in the coming years. In order to reduce those
risks from extreme weather and natural disasters, we have
put in place emergency response procedures, as outlined
in the employee handbook, such as procedures for work
arrangements under typhoons and black rainstorms,
and safeguards to minimise loss of office equipment and
facilities, business impact, and harm to employee safety,
with details as stated below:

o During the Reporting Period, the Group has provided
insurance to office premises and employees so as
to safeguard the property of the office and safety of
employees.

o Regularly promote the knowledge of natural disaster
prevention to enhance the safety and protection
awareness of the Group’s employees.

o Strengthen the usual inspection, early detection of
hidden dangers and the use of practical preventive
and control measures in an effort to reduce the
damage caused by natural disasters.

o We regularly perform complete backups of system
data to support the resumption of critical business
operations.
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In October 2021, the Hong Kong Government issued the
"Hong Kong's Climate Action Plan”, and formulated various
plans and actions, setting out the vision of “Zero-carbon
Emissions, Liveable City, Sustainable Development”. The
Group understand that climate change may have significant
impacts on our operations. The Group essentially plans to
respond to local government initiatives and follow local
governments’ emission reduction requirements. The Group
aim to reduce our emissions by 3% before 2026 and 20%
before 2036 from the base year of 2021. These emissions
reduction targets will be reviewed by the Board on regular
basis. The Group's long-term target is to achieve carbon
neutrality by 2050, which is the same target as set and
adopted by the governments of Hong Kong.

B. SOCIAL
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B1 Employment

Recruitment

Our staff is regarded as the most important resource of the
Group. Hence, the Group has been endeavoring to provide
our staff with a fair, diversified and harmonious workplace
where individuals with diverse cultural backgrounds
are treated equally. We offer a fair and competitive
remuneration package and great opportunities for
career advancement based on employees’ performance,
experience and qualification.

The Group has established human resources policy that
complies with the requirements of the Labour Law of the
PRC, Employment Ordinance (Chapter 57 of the Laws of
Hong Kong), and other relevant laws and regulations to
standardise employee recruitment, remuneration, vacation,
benefits, anti-discrimination, and other processes.
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The Group strove to optimise the system of human
resources management to promote fairness and equality
within the workplace, human resources policy has been
established to ensure there is no discrimination on the
grounds of age, gender, marital status, family status, sexual
orientation, disability, ethnic group, nationality or religion.
In accordance with our human resources policy, the above
factors are not considered in the decision-making process
of employment, remuneration, and promotion. To ensure
equal opportunities of career development, employees
must disclose the information of relatives working in the
Group in the job application process. The Group advocates
diversified development and is keen to recruit employees
with different cultures, nationalities, and ideas, so as to
promote the continuous innovation of the Group.

An employment contract is required to be signed by the
employee to ensure job title, job duties, working hours,
holidays, remuneration, termination process, and benefits
are agreed. During the year ended 31 December 2023,
to the best of our Directors’ knowledge, the Group was
not aware of any material non-compliance or breach of
relevant laws and regulations regarding employment.

Working hours, rest periods, and benefits

The Group attaches great importance to the welfare of
employees, a five-day workweek arrangement is adopted
in Hong Kong and the PRC to facilitate work-life balance.
In addition to all statutory holidays (including Sundays)
employees are entitled to annual leaves, and other
paid leaves such as maternity leave, paternity leave,
compensation leave, wedding leave, and examination
leave in accordance with the Group's policy.

In addition, employees under employment contract in
Hong Kong are enrolled in Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme and are entitled to the Group’s medical insurance,
including global outpatient and inpatient medical plans
upon completion of their probationary period. The Group
has also purchased full liability insurance for all employees
in accordance with the Employees’ Compensation
Ordinance (Cap.282). For those employees under
employment contract in the PRC, they are covered by Old-
Age Insurance. The Group has also purchased other basic
social insurance and housing fund for our employees in
the PRC to protect their legal rights and interests.
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Employees enjoy medical benefits, provident fund scheme
(if applicable), and other benefits subject to the Group’s
policies. The Group also shows our kindness and care to
our staff. During the Reporting Period, we held an annual
lunch in spring and Christmas lunch in winter to thank and
recognise employees for their dedication and efforts to the
company throughout the year. Seasonal gifts are delivered
to employees in recognition of their contributions and
dedicated work to the Group.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had 86 full-time
employees (2022: 87) and 4 part-time employees (2022: 4).
Total workforce by gender, employment type (for example,
full-time or part-time), age group and geographical region
are as follows:

REAKERER  EEZABEEHN
RESFE(ER) REMER - KK
BAHETREREE NBEHRAR - K
P TAFFERERTE - ARG
RERGREEFARDMELNER RS
B e TIAER X EFEERY - UK
BREREEFHNERRNHNS
4 o

MR-_ZBE-_=F+-_FA=+—8  K&£H
EABEEBEE(ZT =4 : 87%)
A2 #BREE(ZEZZF 1 48) - &
MR EFEER (2B ER) - Fik
MRkt EESHESBEWNT

Workforce by employment type, gender, age group and geographical region
RERER M3  FRANKGEEINES

Gender Age Group Geographical Region
15 AR &
Total Male Female Below 30 30-50  Above 50 PRC  HongKong
mst S 2z 0mAT 30-50m%  S0mRMA L H £
Full-timeZ2 B 86 46 40 41 36 9 55 31
Part-time3& 4 3 1 - - 4 4 -
90 49 41 41 36 13 59 31
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During the Reporting Period, the Group’s employee turnover rate by — PAREHIA - LR - FEEAER KL ibE 2D HARE

gender, age group and geographical region are as follows: EREEMALLENOT -
Turnover Rate by Gender Turnover Rate by Geographical Region
BB D R KL= Rt EE D KR AL
21%
19%

2023 2022 2023 2022

—E-=F —E-—F —ET-=F e St

B Male  Female B Mainland China & Hong Kong
St i Y A BE

Turnover Rate by Age Group
REREREDHRKLLE

26%

Below 30 Between 30 and 50 Above 50
30T 30-507% 5054 £
2023 2022
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The Group is committed to creating a healthy and
safe environment for all employees while promoting a
sustainable corporate culture. We believe that safe working
does not only uphold the adherence to people-oriented
principles but also preserve our talents from exposure
to occupational diseases or injuries, no matter severe or
minor.

Safety guides in respect of reducing occupational hazards
in the office working environment were circulated to
employees to advise employees to address more attention
to health and safety issues. Our administration department
is involved in ensuring the health and safety of employees,
for example, employees are prohibited from piling up
garbage in the office corridor, and the administration
department monitors office hygiene from time to time in
an effort to provide a clean and safe working environment
to employees.

The Group also participates in fire emergency drills
annually to ensure the safe evacuation of all employees in
the event of any disaster.

The Group enhances emergency preparedness and
ensures there are well-stocked first-aid kits in the office
to protect the health and safety of employees, in the
event that they are injured at work. Every case of injury,
if any, is required to be reported to the Human Resources
Department and be individually assessed under the
internal guideline procedures.

In addition to the physical health of employees, the mental
health of employees is equally important. We believe that
proper rest can relieve the fatigue caused by work very
well, so we adopt a five-day workweek in Hong Kong and
the PRC and motivate our staff to keep a practical and
reasonable work-life balance.
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There is full compliance towards Occupational Safety and
Health Ordinance and relevant regulations that protected
employees from occupation hazards. The Group also
complied with Labour Law of the PRC and Law of the PRC
on the Prevention & Control of Occupational Diseases.

Based on the Group's emphasis on the health and safety of
its employees, the Group has never lost working days due
to working-related casualties, and no employee has been
injured or died due to work in the past three years.

Development and Training

The Group attaches great importance to the training
and continuous development of employees. As part
of the Group's valuable assets, we strongly support
the development of employees and help them enrich
their knowledge, skills, and working abilities. During the
Reporting Period, a policy on External Training Subsidy is in
place, we arranged diversified employee training, covering
general capabilities, anti-money laundering, management
skills, and other professional knowledge, to fully meet the
training needs of employees. In addition, we also provide a
subsidy of HK$13,705 (2022: HK$8,440) for employees who
participate in 60 hours (2022: 54 hours) job skills training
courses.

Apart from professional training, the Group believe that
our employees should also have the opportunity to acquire
learning experiences through work assignments to help
them build up their on-going job skills that will help them
grow professionally. We uphold an open and responsible
attitude, listens to opinions with an open mind, and
improves its work efficiency through continuous discussion
and introspection.

In addition to the above, the Group will also conduct salary
evaluation, reward and review based on the performance
evaluation results of employees in January annually,
so that the Group and employees can review their
personal performance and development, and put forward
improvement methods and corresponding training, so as
to promote the personal development of employees.
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During the Reporting Period, the percentage of employees
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RBERAR - ARERAZINEER D

trained in the Group was 12% (2022: 14%) and the total Lt A12%(ZF = F : 14%) - SERLE

training hours of this year were 60 hours (2022: 54 hours),
for details please see the chart and table below:

Percentage of Employees Trained

by Gender

BRIERIE DB
ZiREFSL

= Male Female
B4 g3

B B R0/ N (ZF = — 4 : 54/
B)  BRFBRR TERRIIEK

Percentage of Employees Trained
by Employee Category

BREEEE DK
ZIEREFTL

18%

9%

m Senior management
mRERRE

= Middle management
PREEE
Frontline and other employees
RTAR S E b 2 B
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Average training hours completed per employee by gender
BMERED  SEEETHIINFIIRE

Unit 2023 2022
By —EZ=F —E-CF
Male E 1% Hour /NEF 0.6 0.6
Female Z 1% Hour 7J\B 0.8 0.6

Average training hours completed per employee by employee category
ZREEERED  BERERETHIINFEIHEFE

Unit 2023 2022
By —EZ=F —E-F
Executive management 17 & 12 B Hour /JNBF 0.4 0.4
Middle management /4% & 12 B Hour /) NBF 0.8 0.8
General/Operational staff —#& /#&1E8 T Hour /) \F 07 0.6
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B4 Labour Standards

The Group strictly complies with the Labour Contract Law
of the PRC, the Labour Law of the PRC, the Employment
Ordinance (Chapter 57 of the Laws of Hong Kong), and
other applicable employment laws and regulations.
According to the mandatory provisions of the law, child
labour and forced labour are strictly prohibited within
the Group. During the recruitment process, the age and
identity of all employees of the Group are verified and
background checks and reference checks (if necessary)
are conducted by our human resources department based
on the information provided by applicants before hiring,
among other sources. Applicants who fail to meet the legal
requirements would not be hired.

There is full compliance towards relevant national and local
regulations that prohibits child or forced labour including
the Protection of Children and Juveniles Ordinance (Cap.
213, Laws of Hong Kong). During the Reporting Period, we
did not receive any complaints or reporting of child labour
or forced labour.

To ensure the staff clearly understand their rights and
obligations, the employee handbook and other policies and
guidelines are in place covering the areas of compensation
and dismissal, recruitment, working hours, rest periods,
equal opportunity, antidiscrimination and other fringe
benefits, etc. The Group reviews its related policies from
time to time to ensure the Group complies with the latest
statutory requirements.
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B5 Supply Chain Management

The Group's suppliers mainly provide us with various film
and TV programmes production and distribution services,
and broadcasting rights licensing. The details of the
number of suppliers by region are set out below:

BB - & ROE R

B5 HE#EEE

AEBHMHERIELARMERHSRE
N B B RUFRETT IR KR E
B - AR REOMHEERHRAEH
BRI -

No. of suppliers by geographical region 2023 2022
TR EE S HEREE —E-=% —E-CE
The PRC & 13 15
Hong Kong &% 3 1
Others H A 19 25
Total 485t 35 41

Business contract management is of fundamental concern
to us. The Group has established policies and procedures
related to supply chain management to regulate the
selection and monitoring process of suppliers on a regular
basis. According to those policies, the Group follows the
principles of fairness and consistency in supply chain
management by implement uniform screening criteria
when selecting each supplier. All suppliers and contractors
shall comply with all legal requirements and standards
related to environmental standards, intellectual property
rights and anti-corruption. The Group requires each
company to maintain sound records of supplier selection
and evaluation for the Group’s supervision and inspection
to ensure that all selection and evaluation processes
comply with the above principles.

We monitor and eliminate any ESG risks in our supply chain
by evaluating suppliers’ products and services against our
purchase principles during procurement. In addition, the
Group has required suppliers to purchase insurance for the
production team in the contract terms to ensure that the
relevant risks have been identified and transferred.

HFFEFERERBEOEE - AEED
BEEEEEEEARNBREER
ATE BB IR O BUE MBS RAR -
REBEZFHRR - AEEEHEEE RS
BREAF-HWRE - NMEESHER
RITR—MBERIRE - PIAEHER R
AR R TR EIRIRARE - HIE
ERRRESHEBAAERTE REE
AEBEESETZARBHEFEENHEE
FEE MRS - UHAREEE M
BE - WMAERATABE KA RIED
s B RA o

ERBERET - ZAIRERMNERER
AIFHEH R M ER LIRS - femEE
FOBBRIR I e 38 o I O R 3R IR
HERERRR - MH AREEED
AP ERFEERE SR EBEBER
B - ARECRARREE R R BRI LR -

BEMREEERAT - —E-=FF%K 95




< ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
R~ g ERBE

96

Bé6

The Group comprehensively evaluates the capabilities of
suppliers based on their service quality, market strength,
and practical experience. In addition to the above-
mentioned standards, the environmental and social
responsibility performance of suppliers is also one of the
significant elements examined by the Group. When all
other conditions are met, we will give priority to companies
holding 1ISO14001 environmental management system
certification and prefer to choose the potential suppliers
that demonstrate their commitment to the environment
because we do encourage and expect our contractors
and business partners to uphold a high standard of
morality that is similar to ours. We have been monitoring
our suppliers through communication. We also visit their
workplaces from time to time, to promote proper labour
standards and continuously assessing their environmental
impact.

At present, the Group has established solid cooperative
relationships with numbers of suppliers. We advocate
that these partners abide by strict ethical standards
with us (including but not limited to the perspective of
environmental and social issues). The Group always
maintains strict quality supervision over the services and
products provided by suppliers, and continuously and
comprehensively evaluates the compliance of suppliers in
terms of their environmental and social responsibilities and
service quality.

Product Responsibility
Product responsibility

The Group is principally engaged in media and
entertainment-related businesses. It recognises that
proper advertising of services and products (e.g. films
and TV programmes) provided as well as a timely
response is of great importance to the long-term business
development. The Group understands our customers’
rights and is committed to providing accurate product
and service information for customers in connection with
their purchase or consumption decision. The Group makes
every endeavor to comply with the relevant legislation.
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Being an investor in the media and entertainment field,
the Group has always placed utmost importance to
the safeguard and protection of intellectual property
rights, encompassing the management of confidentiality
and information sharing. The Group complies with all
intellectual property-related laws and regulations, including
but not limited to the Trade Marks Ordinance, Cap. 559,
the Copyright Ordinance, Cap. 528, the Prevention of
Copyright Piracy, Cap. 544, Trademark Law of the PRC,
and Copyright Law of the PRC. Clauses are included in the
film investment agreements and other related cooperation
agreements to protect the Group's interests in the films
and TV programmes rights which it invested in, such as the
Group's income rights, distribution rights, and copyrights in
the productions.

In addition, the Group has strengthened supply chain
management to ensure that the relevant copyrights used
in the production of film and TV programmes have been
licensed before being used or referenced. Once any act
deemed to be infringing occurs, the Group will immediately
take legal measures to ensure that the legitimate rights
and interests of the Group are protected.

With the increase in number of users of “huanxi.com”,
the Group has become more and more aware of the
significance of information security and user privacy
protection. We places the utmost importance on protecting
the privacy of its customers, partners and staff in the
collection, handling, safekeeping, use and retention of
their personal data. We adheres to the applicable data
protection regulations and ensures appropriate technical
measures are in place to protect personal data against
unauthorised disclosure, use or access. The Group
was strictly in compliance with the regulation of the
Cybersecurity Law of the PRC to protect users’ personal
information.
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In addition, we have established information security and
user privacy protection mechanisms to reduce the risk of
user information leakage. Relevant staff are provided with
adequate training in compliance with applicable laws on
data privacy protection, to strengthen their awareness and
to protect personal data against loss, unauthorised access,
use, modification or disclosure. We use a variety of means
to raise employee awareness of information privacy and
data security, for example, we used the company intranet
to deliver critical information. In addition to enhancing
employee awareness, we regularly monitor and check
the system bug to ensure the security of consumers’
registration data. In addition, access to the customer
database is limited to authorised staff.

Product quality

The Group is principally engaged in media and
entertainment-related businesses. The Group always
looks for good investment opportunities that bring
high economic returns for Shareholders and provide
more choices for customers. The Group attaches great
importance to the quality management of film and TV
programmes, and dedicates a lot of time, resources, and
money to each work in order to meet the expectations of
the audiences, because the quality of our films depends
largely on consumers’ preferences and we do multiple
rounds of review before the film is released. In addition
to our own requirements on films, entertainment content
in the form of films or TV series is also required to be
reviewed and approved by the regulatory authorities prior
to release. The primary administrative authority of the PRC
government responsible for censoring such content is the
National Radio and Television Administration. Relevant
laws and regulations mainly include: Copyright Law of the
PRC and Film Industry Promotion Law of the PRC. During
the Reporting Period, there was no breach of relevant laws
and regulations.
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During the Reporting Period, there are several films were
released in cinema circuits, including Full River Red (%L
41), invested and lead produced by the Group, directed
by zZhang Yimou and starring Shen Teng, Jackson Yee,
Zhang Yi and Lei Jiayin; Papa (2), produced by Huang
Bo, written and directed by Su Liang and starring Huang
Bo, Shan Yu Hao; and Beyond the Clouds (3= S L),
starring Hai Qing. The Group has also actively cooperated
with film directors and other strategic partners in order
to enrich its creative team and its film and TV content to
meet the entertainment needs of the public. The Group
believes that the cooperations will facilitate its access to
opportunities in film and TV and new media investments,
as well as enrich the content and accelerate the business
development of its online video platform, “huanxi.com”.

The Group strives to improve its products and services
while listening humbly to customers. The Group makes
every effort to promptly and fairly investigate and resolve
all disputes and complaints lodged by customers,
according to clearly written internal procedures. The
Group has set up designated channels — including hotline,
facsimile and email — for customers to lodge complaints.
Our customers submit their complaints through after-sales
hotline, facsimile or email. Upon receiving a complaint, we
will timely refer the issue to the respective department
head for handling and monitor the progress of complaint
handling to ensure that customer feedback is addressed
properly. Upon receipt of a complaint, the department
head will investigate in a timely manner and report the
findings to senior management. Senior management shall
review the complaint and determine whether internal
controls and procedures need to be enhanced or any
other appropriate action is required to be taken. During the
Reporting Period, the complaint handling rate was 100%.
During the Reporting Period, to the best of our directors’
knowledge, the Group did not involve in product sales and
sales return issues.
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Corruption, whether within the business sector or involving
the public sector, would erode the level-playing field
and our core value of fairness, and impede the efficient
operation of the market. We strictly abide by the anti-
corruption programme, a guide for listed company and
was issued by the Independent Commission Against
Corruption (the “ICAC"). The Group is committed to
achieving the highest possible standards of openness,
probity and accountability, and to preventing bribes,
extortion, fraud, terrorist financing and money laundering.
Employees at all levels are expected to conduct
themselves with integrity, impartiality and honesty. It is
every employee’s responsibility and in all interest of the
Company to ensure that any inappropriate behavioral or
organisational malpractice that compromise the interest of
the shareholders, investors, customers and wider public
does not occur.

The Group's whistleblowing policy has been uploaded
to the Group’s website (www.huanximedia.com). The
policy sets out the procedures for employees to report
any suspected fraud, malpractice, corruption or any
other unethical behaviour, as well as the investigation
procedures. The Group requires that whistle-blowing
must be made in standard written form and presented
to the Board for internal investigation by our executive
management or external engaged auditors, if possible, the
Board will respond to the whistleblower.

The Board and its committees of the Group demonstrate a
strong commitment to anti-corruption business practices
and zero-tolerance of corruption and ensure that the anti-
corruption measures are effective and up-to-date through
monitoring and reviews.
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In addition to establishing a whistle-blowing reporting
channel for employees, the Group also arranged
anti- corruption training for employees to ensure that
subordinate personnel are familiar with and comply with
the Group’s anti-corruption policy. Moreover, the employee
handbook mentioned that the Company is entitled to
terminate the employment contract with any employee
who is involved in any form of corruption, including
bribery and extortion, fraud and money laundering etc.
and reserve the right to take further legal actions against
such person. The Group disseminate information on anti-
corruption occasionally to raise the awareness among
employees.

The Group has strictly adhered to relevant laws and
regulations, including the Prevention of Bribery Ordinance
and the PRC's laws and regulations regarding anti-
corruption and anti-money laundering, including but not
limited to the Criminal Law of the PRC and the Anti- Money
Laundering Law of the PRC. During the Reporting Period, to
the best of our Directors’ knowledge, there was no material
non-compliance or violations regarding corruptions
and there was no legal case or dispute in respect of
bribery, extortion, fraud, or money laundering against
our employees and the Group. Also, no whistleblowing
concerning a criminal offence or misconduct was
reported. Looking ahead, we will continue to invest more
resources to provide anti-corruption training to all levels
of employees and expand the scope of anti-corruption
training data disclosure.
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The Group is committed to making employees part of the
community. We encourage assistance in and participation
in conventions, conferences, exhibitions, and events held
by business communities relevant to our businesses,
with a particular focus on organisations promoting
the development of media industries and community
partnership.

During the Reporting Period, the Group donated
HK$2,000,000 to a charitable and non-profit-making
organisation. In addition, we will do our best to provide
more employment opportunities for community members
in the coming time, and to progress and develop together
with the community. At the same time, we generally
capture public preferences through online research, as we
are in the media business that enriches the lives of people
in the wider community. We will continue to work hard and
innovate to make people’s leisure time no longer boring.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT“
BB A a RE R

ESG REPORTING GUIDE CONTENT INDEX (RE - HERERBREEIDARES
Aspects, General
disclosures and KPIs
BE  —-REER Description Corresponding Section
BREVER ik HEEE
Aspect A1; Emissions
BEA: #uY
General Disclosure Information on the policies and compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant | A1 Emissions# st
—REF impact on the issuer relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into water and land, and
generation of hazardous and non-hazardous waste
EEERARAZREHN MR NS - AERESENNE ENBRRETHETAGEX
PENRELERRAINER
KPIESERUR AL The types of emissions and respective emissions data A1 EmissionsHER
B R REREREE
KPR ERIEIRA12 Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope 2) greenhouse gas emissions (in tonnes) and, where | A1 Emissions# 54

appropriate, intensity
HE @R REREE @E)RERBENE B E) R(nER) B E

KPIES & R 1EA13

Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity
FEEEZENAE NEHE) R(ER)ZE

Not applicable to the Group's
husinesses

TERRAEEER
KPIEAREIRIEA14 Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity AT Emissions HERH
FEEEZENAE A RER)ZE
KPIEIS EE R TRA1S Description of emissions target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them A1 Emissions HEx#)
BT RHNE B ER AR ELE ERERHNSS
KPIES & R IEAT16 Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes are handled, and a description of reduction | A1 Emissions #E5t#

target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them
RIREEEREZRENNAE - RERMETORE B ERARELE EMRME ST

Aspect A2: Use of Resources
EEA2 ERER

General Disclosure
—BEE

Policies on the efficient use of resources, including energy, water and other raw materials
BRERER(BELR  KREMENE) HBE

A2 Use of Resources & &z

KPIEIGE IR IRAL1

Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type in total (kWh in ‘000s) and intensity
RERENNERR/SHREFEREC\TATARHE REE

A2 Use of Resources & &z

KPIBASHE IR IZA2.2

Water consumption in total and intensity
ERKEREE

A2 Use of Resources & & f#

KPIER E MR 1EA23

Description of energy use efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them
BRATET L M RE ARG B R RAEEEL A RMRRM SR

A2 Use of Resources & & A

KPIERE B s iZA24

Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water that is fit for purpose, water efficiency
target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them
RCKRERKE L EEAREE  URMTUNRANGEEERAENELE ERRRNSR

A2 Use of Resources& &z

KPIEISEERIEIRALS

Total packaging material used for finished products (in tonnes) and, if applicable, with reference to per
unit produced
SR @FARARTHNAE OB E) R

hE

ER) SRS

Not applicable to the Group's
businesses
TERANTEEES

BEEHEEEEARAA -

—ECCEFR
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Aspects, General
disclosures and KPIs
EBE - —KEER
BRENEE

Description
it

Corresponding Section
HEE

Aspect A3: The Environment a
EBEA3: BERARER

nd Natural Resources

General Disclosure
—HER

Policies on minimising the issuer's significant impact on the environment and natural resources
REETAHRERAAEREREAT ENHEK

A3 The Environment and Natural
Resources
RERKAER

KPIBERE B AU 1RAS.1

Description of the significant impacts of activities on the environment and natural resources and the
actions taken to manage them
BB R R R RAR A RN EAY ERERNERE BT 2NTY

A3 The Environment and Natural
Resources
RERKAER

Aspect A4; Climate Change
BEAL: RIFE1

General Disclosure
—REE

Policies on identification and mitigation of significant climate-related issues which have impacted, and
those which may impact, the issuer
BRI REHE AR ARG HETAELY BN EXRFRBASFENIR

Ad Climate Change RIEEr

KPIES & R 1EALY

Description of the significant climate-related issues which have impacted, and those which may impact,
the issuer, and the actions taken to manage them

A Climate Change RIEZ (L

BREERAREHETAEEYENEARGERZE - REHTE

Aspect B1: Employment

EEB1: B

General Disclosure Information on the policies and compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant | B1 Employment (E{%

vt impact on the issuer relating to compensation and dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working hours,
rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination, and other benefits and welfare
BETHREE BEREA  IRE R TEEE 7t RERIREMFERETMN
BRRETHRETAGEATENRBZERANNER

KPIEIS E R 1ER1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type (for example, full- or part-time), age group and geographical | B1 Employment (& (&
region
IR ERER(N2RARY)  FRAFRMEHNHESEE

KPIEIS E 7R 1ER12 Employee turmover rate by gender, age group and geographical region B1 Employment {15
iR FRARREEEDNEETALE

Aspect B2: Health and Safety

[BEB2: #ERZ2

General Disclosure Information on the policies and compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant | B2 Health and Safety

—REH impact on the issuer relating to providing a safe working environment and protecting employees from BEkZ2
occupational hazards
BEREZ2TERERREREEABELSENNERETHRETABEAYZNEREERA
Pt &

KPIEREIRIZB2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities occurred in each of the past three years including the reporting | B2 Health and Safety
year BRhkZz2
BE-F(AEREER BERTITHAMABRLE

KPIEASREIE1ZB2.2 Lost days due to work injury B2 Health and Safety
AIGEAXIERS BRRk%z2

KPIBI B IR 12R2.3 Description of occupational health and safety measures adopted, and how they are implemented and | B2 Health and Safety
monitored BERZ2

HEEFRANBRRERR2ER - UREBRIRERTE
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BB - & ROE R 1

Aspects, General

disclosures and KPIs

BE - —REER Description Corresponding Section
BRENEE it HEES

Aspect B3: Development and Training
[EEB3: BRI

General Disclosure Policies on improving employees' knowledge and skills for discharging duties at work. Description of | B3 Development and Training

—HERE training activities BRRE
BEERARERTIAREMDE BN - HEED

KPIEISE R 1E83 1 The percentage of employees trained by gender and employee category (e.g. senior management, middle | B3 Development and Training
management) BRI
RESREERNRRERE  PRERBDHMNRIIEEESL

KPIBASREE IR 1ZR3.2 The average training hours completed per employee by gender and employee category B3 Development and Training
RENRESENE D  BEEETKE N THRE BRI

Aspect B4: Labour Standards
[BEB4: HIEE

General Disclosure Information on the policies and compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant | B4 Labour Standards £ T 2%

—fREE impact on the issuer relating to preventing child and forced labour
BEMLETIRENSIHNERETHETABERYZNERZERANNER

KPIBd SR IR 1ZBA.1 Description of measures to review employment practices to avoid child and forced labour B4 Labour Standards & T12%
BT RRENEEIEEETIREHET

KPIBIS E R 1ER4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices when discovered B4 Labour Standards 2 T 5%

EEEERERRRE EREBRRARRN SR

Aspect B5: Supply Chain Management
[BEBS : HERER

General Disclosure Policies on managing environmental and social risks of the supply chain B5 Supply Chain Management

—HER ERMERNRE RIS RREE e

KPIEISE R 1E85.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region B5 Supply Chain Management
BHREANREEEE fEHER

KPIBA S E IR 12B5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers, number of Suppliers where the practices are being | B5 Supply Chain Management
implemented, and how they are implemented and monitored ftEsER
RLEERAREDNEDN  MERTEBENNEERYE - L RABRTRER A

KPIBA A IR 12B5.3 Description of practices used to identify environmental and social risks along the Supply chain, and how | B5 Supply Chain Management
they are implemented and monitored ftEdER
EREEAA S ERTERENRERLGERNEDN - D REBRRTRERRE

KPIEIS E R IER 4 Description of practices used to promote environmentally preferable products and services when | B5 Supply Chain Management
selecting suppliers, and how they are implemented and monitored fEER

HIEREEEARRESARRERRRHNED - ULRBRTRER DA
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Aspects, General

disclosures and KPIs

BE - —REER Description Corresponding Section
BRENEE it HEE

Aspect B6: Product Responsibility

BB : EREFR

General Disclosure
—HER

Information on the policies and compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer relating to health and safety, advertising, labelling and privacy matters relating to
products and services provided and methods of redress

EHMREERARBNERERS B SERUBSEURBRANIE RETHREIAR
BEAFENRBERRANNER

B6 Product Responsibility
EREfH

KPIF S 2 M iZR6.1

Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to recalls for safety and health reasons
BENCEREMSET AR 2 EREERTMARKNEA L

B6 Product Responsibility
EmEf

KPIB S TR 12R6.2

Number of products and services related complaints received and how they are dealt with
REBRERRREMRFSENRES T

B6 Product Responsibility
EmEfR

KPIBASHE RIS 12R6.3

Description of practices relating to observing and protecting intellectual property rights
mlRgERRENAEESHNED

B6 Product Responsibility
EmEf

KPS & i iER0.4

Description of quality assurance process and recall procedures
HRESRTREREREKER

B6 Product Responsibility
Em&ft

KPIE3S 51305

Description of consumer data protection and privacy policies, and how they are implemented and
monitored
RIDEBEERRERILBICE - URABITRER A

B6 Product Responsibility
EmEfE

Aspect B7: Anti-Corruption

BEB7 : k&S
General Disclosure Information on the policies and compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant | B7 Anti-Corruption R &5
—RBE impact on the issuer relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering

ABMLER  BR  RFRARENRRRETHETAREAY ENEEERLANNER

KPIBASHEAIS1ZR7.1

Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt practices brought against the issuer or its employees
during the reporting period and the outcomes of the cases
REBREETASEEE RETEBENASHARHNE 8 RFDER

B7 Ant-Corruption X &75

KPIF % & Mig1ER7.2

Description of preventive measures and whistle-blowing procedures, and how they are implemented and
monitored
mERERRRET  DREBRTRERRE

B7 Anti-Corruption R &’5

KPIF% & 512873

Description of anti-corruption training provided to directors and staff
HIREERE TRENRESE

B7 Anti-Corruption R &35

Aspect B8: Community Investment

EMBS : HERE

General Disclosure
—RBE

Policies on community engagement to understand the needs of the communities where the issuer
operates and to ensure its activities take into consideration the communities' interests
BENHERERTRENACBNEHETENRRAXH I L ZRHENRMIR

B8 Community Investment
HRRE

KPIES B i 12B8.1

Focus areas of contribution

B8 Community Investment

LIEREE HERE
KPIEIS: E R 1ERs.2 Resources contributed to the focus area B8 Community Investment
HEFEEADAER HERE
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT '
3 7 % B e A

To the Board of Directors of Huanxi Media Group Limited BEEEEEEERATESSE
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability) (REFZEAMA L HFRAF])
OPINION =R

What we have audited EMEETHAR

The consolidated financial statements of Huanxi Media Group Limited #EES@EEEEARAG CATEREIERE]) & EH
(the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”), which are set out BRAFTUATLHI S E£E ) FIFHNE122E 2398
on pages 122 to 239, comprise: RERE TSR E - B

e  the consolidated statement of financial position as at31 e R-Z-_=F+-F=+—HHEAHEK
December 2023; K

e the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other o HEZHIIFENGABHEEEME2EIE
comprehensive income for the year then ended; =

e the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year o  HEZRIFFENGAEREEHE
then ended;

e the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then o EHEZRBIIFENGEABEERER &
ended; and

e the notes to the consolidated financial statements, comprising o A BEHRRWE - BREEASFTHREEH

material accounting policy information and other explanatory NEMRREES
information.
our opinion EMWER

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and  H R A ZSHAMEBRRECRETESMA
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 EBHEHCEBV K REHED) EE M P 5 b
December 2023, and of its consolidated financial performance and 7 SB&£ER - Z-_=F+_A=+—HWNEEY
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance AR MEHEZZB ILEENGAMERBLREGA
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSS”) issued by IR&HE » WD BBREB(AFIEH) HIRBEREZ
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") A °

and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure

requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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"INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B 7 1% B

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’'s Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our
report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”), and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in
the context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a
whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a
separate opinion on these matters.

Key audit matters identified in our audit are summarised as follows:

o Impairment assessment of film and TV programmes rights
classified as intangible assets

o Valuation of film rights investments

o Impairment of prepayments for film and TV programmes rights

108 HUANXI MEDIA GROUP LIMITED - Annual Report 2023
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 2
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued) BRETEEE)
How our audit addressed BAMETNAEE
Key Audit Matter the Key Audit Matter BREHEE BREEHEE

Impairment assessment of film and TV programmes rights classified as intangible assets AERREEZ EER BRI HETS

AFRBIBRENEELRY
EREARENHEF R EF R

Refer to Note 4(b), Note 19 and Note 22 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Our procedures in relation to the impairment B2 B ABREN Tab) - M
assessment of film and TV programmes rights 19 Mz22 <
classified as intangible assets included:

As described in the accounting policies in
Note 22 and Note 38.9 to the consolidated
financial statements, the Group has classified
(i) completed film and TV programmes
rights, (ii) film and TV programmes rights
under production, (ifi) licensed film and TV
programmes rights and (iv) software and
license as intangible assets. All these rights
are measured at cost less accumulated
amortisation and impairment.

Completed film and TV programmes rights
that are subject to amortisation and licensed
film and TV programmes rights are tested for
impairment when impairment indicator existed,
while completed film and TV programmes rights
and under production that are not subject
to amortisation are tested for impairment
annually.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had
completed film and TV programmes rights
of approximately HK$566,362,000, film and
TV programmes rights under production
of approximately HK$495,008,000 and
licensed film and TV programmes rights
of approximately HK$79,908,000 and they
collectively represented approximately 51.1%
of the Group's total assets.

Obtained an understanding of the
management's internal controls and
assessment process of impairment
assessment of film and TV programmes
rights classified as intangible assets and
assessed the inherent risk of material
misstatement by considering the degree of
estimation uncertainty and other inherent
risk factors.

Evaluated the outcome of prior period
assessment of impairment assessment of
film and TV programmes rights classified as
intangible assets to assess the effectiveness
of management's estimation process by
comparing the carrying amount in the
prior year against the respective actual
performance during the year, if any.

Evaluated and tested the key controls over
the impairment assessment of film and TV
programmes rights classified as intangible
assets performed by management,
including the selection of sources of
information, determination of fair values
less cost of disposal and the relevant key
assumptions used.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

How our audit addressed
Key Audit Matter the Key Audit Matter
Impairment assessment of film and TV programmes rights classified as intangible assets
(Continueq)

completed film and TV programmes rights that
are subject to amortisation

Completed film and TV programmes rights that
are Subject to amortisation

Assessed the reasonableness of the sources
of information used by management in
identifying impairment indicators, including

In determining whether there is any impairment o
indicator on respective completed film and
TV programmes rights that are subject to

FARESERE)
AMETALE
BREHEE BREHEE

SEREVEEZ BYRERAIRRNRET (B)

BRTRHEMEZNZEZREYR RTRENETHZIEZRESRS

74 7

AP A B R B R I S LB B
KLERKRNREYE 6

EERATHHENRBECTRZ o
EYRERBIRERDFRMAM

amortisation, the Group considered factors
such as current market condition, political
environment, latest regulatory changes, and
whether there is any adverse change on the
expected performance and distribution plan.
Based on management's assessment, no
impairment indicator has been identified for
these film and TV programmes rights during the
year.

110

management's assessment on current
market condition, political environment and
[atest regulatory changes.

Discussed with management and compared
with available market information to assess
the expected performance and distribution
plan.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued) BRETEEE)
How our audit addressed BANESNAER
Key Audit Matter the Key Audit Matter BREEHEE BREEHEE

Impairment assessment of film and TV programmes rights classified as intangible assets 7 EAEVEEZEZRERSIRENRETE B

(Continueq)

Completed film and TV programmes rights
and under proauction that are not subject to
amortisation

In relation to completed film and TV
programmes rights and under production that
are not subject to amortisation, management
performed annual impairment assessment by
determining the recoverable amount through
fair value less cost of disposal approach using
the discounted cash flow forecast ("DCF").
Based on management's assessment, the
Group has recognised net impairment loss of
approximately HK$106,196,000 for these film
and TV programmes rights during the year.

completed film and TV programmes rights
anad unaer production that are not subject to
amortisation

o Compared the contractual commitments of
respective film and TV programmes rights
on a sample basis with, and discussed with
management in relation to, the financing
plan on the commitments in order to
complete the production and marketing
plan.

o Challenged and evaluated the key
assumptions used by management in
determining the fair value less cost of
disposal such as expected revenue,
estimated costs and discounted rates
on a sample basis with reference to the
contracts and publicly available information,
if any.

o Involved our internal valuation specialists
to assess the reasonableness of model and
assumptions used in the DCF, including the
discount rate.

o Considered the potential impact of
reasonably possible downside changes in
key assumptions adopted in determining
the fair value less cost of disposal.

o Performed specific inquiries with
management about the major crew
members and their background, experience
and profile, and performed relevant
search through external sources on media
coverage on the related popularity of
the crew members to corroborate with
management's production plans.
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"INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key Audit Matter

How our audit addressed

the Key Audit Matter

Impairment assessment of film and TV programmes rights classified as intangible assets

(Continued)
Licensed film ana TV programmes rights

In determining whether there is any
impairment indicator on the licensed film
and TV programmes rights, management
considered them related to the Group’s online
video platform. The Group's licensed film
and TV programmes rights are available for
subscription on its online video platform which
is considered as a cash generating unit (the
“Platform CGU"). Based on management's
assessment, the actual performance was
behind the original forecast, representing an
impairment indicator, triggering a need to
perform an impairment assessment.

In carrying out the impairment assessment, the
Group engaged an external valuer to support
the determination of the recoverable amount
based on the income approach using the
DCF which involves significant estimates and
judgments including discount rate and terminal
growth rate applied in the DCF of the Platform
CGU. Based on management's assessment,
no impairment provision is required for the
licensed film and TV programmes rights
associated with the Platform CGU as at year
end.

112
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Licensed film ana TV programmes rights

Evaluated the reasonableness of
management's assessment in determining
the existence of impairment indicator.

Evaluated management's impairment
assessment by assessing the DCF used in
calculation as set out below:

- Assessed the competency, capabilities
and objectivity of the independent
external valuer by considering its
qualifications, relevant experience and
relationship with the Group.

- Assessed the methodology adopted
and checked the mathematical
accuracy of the underlying DCF
calculation.

- Annual Report 2023
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key Audit Matter

How our audit addressed
the Key Audit Matter

Impairment assessment of film and TV programmes rights classified as intangible assets

(Continueq)

Licensed film and TV programmes rights
(Continueq)

We focused on auditing the impairment
assessment of the film and TV programmes
rights classified as intangible assets hecause
the carrying amounts of the film and Tv
programmes rights classified as intangible
assets and other intangible asset are significant
to the consolidated financial statements and
the identification of impairment indicator
and impairment assessment of these assets
are subject to a high degree of estimation
uncertainty, as well as significant judgments
involved in the selection of assumptions used.

Licensed film and TV programmes rights
(Continueq)

- Assessed the reasonableness of
the key assumptions adopted by
management in its DCF, including the
discounted rate and terminal growth.

= Involved our internal valuation
specialists to assess the model and
assumptions used in the valuation,
including the discount rate and
terminal growth rate.

Based on the procedures performed, we
found the judgments and assumptions made
by management in relation to the impairment
assessment of film and TV programmes rights
classified as intangible assets to be supportable
by the available evidence.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key Audit Matter
Valuation of film rights investments

Refer to Note 3.3, Note 4(c), and Note 22 to the
consolidated financial statements.

As at 31 December 2023, film rights
investments of the Group included financial
assets of approximately HK$193,673,000 and
financial liabilities of approximately HK$942,000,
represented approximately 8.67% of the
Group's total assets and 0.12% of the Group's
total liabilities. The changes in fair values
recorded in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income and
presented as film investment loss, net during
the year of approximately HK$79,343,000.

The fair values are determined by management
based on the income approach using the DCF
which involves key assumptions with significant
estimates and judgments including expected
revenue, estimated costs and discounted rates.
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How our audit addressed
the Key Audit Matter

QOur procedures in relation to the valuation of film
rights investments included:

o QObtained an understanding of the
management's internal controls and
assessment process of valuation of film
rights investments and assessed the
inherent risk of material misstatement
by considering the degree of estimation
uncertainty and other inherent risk factors.

o Evaluated and tested the key controls over
the valuation of film rights investments
performed by management, including
the selection of sources of information,
determination of DCF and the relevant key
assumptions used.

¢+ Evaluated the outcome of prior period
valuation of film rights investments to
assess the effectiveness of management's
estimation process by comparing the fair
values determined in the prior year against
the respective actual performance during
the year, if any.

o Assessed the methodology adopted
and the reasonableness of the sources
of information used by management in
developing the DCF.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key Audit Matter

How our audit addressed
the Key Audit Matter

Valuation of film rights investments (Continueq)

We focused on auditing the valuation of film
rights investments because the carrying
amounts of the film rights investments are
significant to the consolidated financial
statements and the valuation of these assets
and liabilities is subject to a high degree of
estimation uncertainty, as well as significant
judgments involved in the selection of
assumptions used.

o Challenged and evaluated the key
assumptions used by management in
determining the DCF such as expected
revenue, estimated costs and discounted
rates on a sample basis with reference
to the contracts and publicly available
information, if any.

* Involved our internal valuation specialists
to assess the reasonableness of model and
assumptions used in the DCF, including the
discount rate.

o Considered the potential impact of
reasonably possible downside changes in
key assumptions adopted in determining
the fair value less cost of disposal.

Based on the procedures performed, we found
the judgments and assumptions made by
management in relation to the valuation of film
rights investments to be supportable by the
available evidence.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key Audit Matter

How our audit addressed
the Key Audit Matter

Impairment of prepayments for film and TV programmes rights

Refer to Note 4(d) and Note 21 to the
consolidated financial statements.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had
prepayments for film and TV programmes
rights of approximately HK$387,152,000
which represented approximately 17.3% of
the Group's total assets. The prepayments
were made under the agreements with film
directors and/or film production companies in
relation to the acquisition of future film and TV
programmes rights.

The Group has performed an assessment on
whether impairment indicator exists for the
prepayments for film and TV programmes
rights. Management considered the status of
film and TV programmes rights investment
plans and the progress of utilisation of the
prepayments. Based on management's
assessment, no impairment indicator was
identified for the prepayments for film and TV
programmes rights as at 31 December 2023.
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In evaluation of management's assessment
on whether impairment indicators existed
for the Group's prepayments for film and TV
programmes rights, we have performed the
following procedures:

o Obtained an understanding of the
management's internal controls and
assessment process of the arrangements
with film directors and/or film production
companies and assessed the inherent risk
of material misstatement by considering the
degree of estimation uncertainty and other
inherent risk factors.

o Evaluated the outcome of prior period
assessment of impairment of prepayments
for film and TV programmes rights to
assess the effectiveness of management's
estimation process by comparing the
carrying amount in the prior year against
the actual utilisation during the year, if any.

o Evaluated and tested the Group's key
controls over the assessment process of
the arrangements with film directors and/
or film production companies including the
selection of information and assumptions
used.

¢ Inquired with management on the status of
film and TV programmes rights investment
plans with film directors.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key Audit Matter

How our audit addressed

the Key Audit Matter

Impairment of prepayments for film and TV programmes rights (Continueq)

We focused on auditing the impairment of
prepayments for film and TV programmes
rights because the carrying amounts of
prepayments for film and TV programmes rights
are significant to the consolidated financial
statements and the identification of impairment
indicator and impairment assessment of the
prepayments are subject to a high degree of
estimation uncertainty.

+ Inspected the correspondences between
the film directors and management
related to the progress of utilisation of the
prepayments on a sample basis.

o Interviewed certain film directors for
confirming the understanding of the terms
of the agreements and compared the
plans of utilisation of prepayments against
management's investment plans.

o Circulated confirmations with
counterparties as to the balances of
prepayments as at 31 December 2023.

Based on the procedures performed, we found
the judgments made by management in relation
to the impairment assessment of prepayments
for film and TV programmes rights to be
supportable by the available evidence.
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises all of the information
included in the annual report other than the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is
a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THE
AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group's
financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR'’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you,
as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not
a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAS, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit.
We also:

J Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in
the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves
fair presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and
performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible
for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control
that we identify during our audit.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Ho Chun Yu.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 27 March 2024
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 & ZE — T —=F+_A=+—HILtFE

;ICONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

2023 2022
—E-= = S
Note HK$000 HK$'000
PR BT T BT T
Revenue and film investment loss, net Wk EFREBE 558 5 1,332,794 13,630
Cost of revenue WS 2 AR 9 (426,533) (106,251)
Gross profit/(loss) EF,(E18) 906,261 (92,621)
Other income HAn A 7 11,463 2,527
Other gains, net e - F5E 8 24,322 6,264
Loss on film investment funds from investors K 5% & HN TR ERIE
2 BB 27 (268,210) -
Selling and distribution costs SHE R SHAAR 9 (319,356) (5,568)
Administrative expenses ITBRAE 9 (138,224) (123,322)
Net impairment losses on financial assets CREERAGNEEZRE
and contract assets B8 F’E 3.1(b) (3,384) (8,491)
Operating profit/(loss) KERR(BB) 212,872 221,211)
Finance income IR N 1 4,136 3,844
Finance costs i%E R 1 (4,923) (5,905)
Finance costs, net WBER  FE 11 (787) (2,061)
Profit/(loss) before tax BREBLATRF, (E8) 212,085 (223,272)
Income tax (expense)/credit Fris®i () e 12 (52,950) 1,460
Profit/(loss) for the year REERRN(EHE) 159,135 (221,812)
Profit/(loss) for the year attributable to KAREBANEBERTE
owners of the Company wm Al (B 1) 159,135 (221,812)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

oEsakE
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 &

i 2 v WY g

§_$:2¢+:HE+—E¢¢E

2023 2022
—E-= ==
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
B 5T BT T BT
Other comprehensive loss Htt2EER
Item that will not be reclassified to T EEH T EERm
profit or loss: HAE -
Exchange differences arising on translation of #Ihee EEHE &2 5| &
functional currency to presentation EACEHREZE
currency (2,478) (11,103)
Item that may be reclassified to profit or loss: FIREEE# 7 HE 18w~
EE
Exchange differences on translation of REGINETG 2B Z5E
foreign operations (31,525) (93,918)
(34,003) (105,021)
Total comprehensive income/(loss) AEEZEKE (BB
for the year 125,132 (326,833)
Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the RATIHEBAELEAFEEE
year attributable to owners of the Company Uz, (E518) 42 %8 125,132 (326,833)
Profit/(loss) per share for the year KAREBEAEBEEFEEZ
attributable to the owners of the BRER(E8)
Company
- Basic and diluted (in HK$) - EARREE (BT 16 0.04 (0.06)
The above consolidated statement of profit or loss and other — iuihR A& 1855 K H 4th 2 [ Uk 28 7% 18 B BE B B = —

comprehensive income should be read in conjunction with the & °

accompanying notes.

BEEHEEEEARAA -

it ek S

123



6 0 5 IR D %

~ CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

AT 31 DECEMBER 2023 A—ZE—=%F+—-HA=+—8H

2023 2022
—E-= = S
Note HK$000 HK$'000
B 5T BT T BT
Non-current assets FREBEE
Property, plant and equipment VI - RS RS 17 1,619 786
Right-of-use assets FRREE 18 17,359 29,283
Intangible assets mEE 19 - =
Deposits and prepayments e RIEMNK 23 20,091 78,450
Prepayments for film and B NERBIMRETER K
TV programmes rights 21 387,152 449,968
Film and TV programmes rights B RERBINRE 22 294,981 144,887
Deferred tax assets BEFIREE 29 420 =
721,622 703,374
Current assets REEE
Prepayments for film and EXNERBIRERNR
TV programmes rights 21 - 363,722
Film and TV programmes rights B RERBINRE 22 1,039,970 793,905
Trade and other receivables, P U5 AR 5 B EL At E LRI
deposits and prepayments Ee RIERMR 23 103,871 285,373
Contract assets BHEE 5 58,634 10,262
Financial assets at fair value through BERAFEFABSC EMEE
profit or loss 24 - 65
Cash and cash equivalents RekBEeEE 25 310,146 53,634
1,512,621 1,506,961
Total assets EERE 2,234,243 2,210,335
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 2

fan B 1A 5K UL
AT 31 DECEMBER 2023 R=ZE==F+=-_A=+—H
2023 2022
—E-= — g
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
P BT T BEETIT
Equity ez
Share capital fi& s 30 36,565 36,565
Reserves e 31 1,417,003 1,291,871
Total equity R 1,453,568 1,328,436
Non-current liabilities FRBERE
Lease liabilities HEBE 18 3,549 17,193
Deferred tax liabilities EERIERE 29 - 12,112
3,549 29,305
Current liabilities REBAE
Trade and other payables FEA BR SR E b A 5k 26 174,777 145,031
Film investment funds from investors REKEER ?'-E%%xéfmlﬁ 27 535,195 524,471
Film and TV programmes rights B RERBINRE 22 942 970
Contract liabilities AHEE 5 1,150 30,052
Borrowings (R 28 - 108,267
Lease liabilities HEaE 18 14,319 12,722
Amount due to a related party JE—REEALTFIA 35 - 182
Current tax liabilities ENEAfIE B & 50,743 30,899
777,126 852,594
Total liabilities EERE 780,675 881,899
Total equity and liabilities EEhaERE 2,234,243 2,210,335
The consolidated financial statements on pages 122 to 239 were  S$122BHE230E 2 GAPBBRRECR T _NE=

approved by the Board of Directors on 27 March 2024 and were signed

on its behalf:

Dong Ping

ZE¥
Director
o

EEA%

The above consolidated statement of financial position should be read

in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

BEEHEEEEARAA -

Xiang Shaokun, Steven
HAER
Director
3
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~ CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 & ZE — T —=F+_A=+—HILtFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

PNNETE: 2= DN
Share capital Reserves Total
[N f#E #HzE
(Note 30) (Note 31)
(P¥=E30) (BFEE31)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETIT BEETIT BT
At 1 January 2022 R-ZZE_—_F—H—H 36,565 1,618,704 1,655,269
Loss for the year REEBAE - (221,812) (221,812)
Other comprehensive l0ss HEt2mEEER = (105,021) (105,021)
Total comprehensive loss REEEHEEEERE
for the year = (326,833) (326,833)
At 31 December 2022 RZE-_—F+=-A=+—H 36,565 1,291,871 1,328,436
At 1 January 2023 R-ZE-_=F—H—H 36,565 1,291,871 1,328,436
Profit for the year NEE T - 159,135 159,135
Other comprehensive l0ss HEt2HEEE - (34,003) (34,003)
Total comprehensive income AEEE2HEKRGZETE
for the year - 125,132 125,132
At 31 December 2023 R-ZB-_=F+=-HA=+—H 36,565 1,417,003 1,453,568

The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should be read

in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS \
GoBlehaR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 & =& 7*¢+ A=+—HItFE

2023 2022
—E-= ==
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5T BT T BT
Cash flows from operating activities RETBFEEZHERE
Cash generated from/(used in) operations EESETES, (FTFR) 2
RE 32 385,909 (46,357)
Income taxes paid ETFrEH (21,596) =
Net cash generated from/(used in) REFHREE(FiEER 2
operating activities R&EFHE 364,313 (46,357)
cash flows from investing activities RETHEEZEERE
Interest received EHE 1,946 2,027
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEME - BEREEMS
plant and equipment K8 32 331 -
Proceeds from disposal of financial assets HEZRAFEFAEBREZ
at fair value through profit or loss CREEMSHIE 22,153 2,175
Purchases of property, plant and equipment  BEE W - W& MR 17 (1,369) (144)
Net cash generated from RETBFEEZ2HSTFE
investing activities 23,061 4,058
cash flows from financing activities METEMEEZ2HERE
Advance from a related party KE—BRBEEATZBR - 15,000
Repayment to a related party BE—BHEATZFIE (182) (29,955)
Proceeds from borrowings EESGIECE ¢ 13,867 111,111
Repayments of borrowings EEEK (119,710) (94,907)
Principal elements of lease payments HMENKZz AL HD (13,214) (12,955)
Interest paid ETHE (9,014) (1,610)
Net cash used in financing activities RMETEERA RS FE (128,253) (13,316)
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and HeRESEEZ
cash equivalents #in, ORd) B 259,121 (55,615)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning FzRekBEeEE
of the year 53,634 115,369
Effects of exchange rate changes on EXEFHHMENREEFEZ
cash and cash equivalents %% (2,609) (6,120)
cash and cash equivalents at end FHRzEERESEE
of the year 25 310,146 53,634

=

The above consolidated statement of cash flows should be read in bR & IR 4 i & K FE BLRE I B 5F — HH B8 -
conjunction with the accompanying notes.

BESREBERAT - 2558 127



128

" NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
o S B ¥ R W Gk

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 & ZE — T —=F+_A=+—HILtFE

GENERAL

Huanxi Media Group Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated
in Bermuda as an exempted company with limited liability and
its shares are listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The address of the
registered office of the Company is Victoria Place, 5th Floor, 31
Victoria Street, Hamilton HM10, Bermuda and its principal place
of business in Hong Kong is 11th Floor, Far East Finance Centre,
16 Harcourt Road, Admiralty, Hong Kong.

The Company is an investment holding and film investment
company and its subsidiaries are principally engaged in
media and entertainment related businesses which include
development and investment in film and TV programmes rights,
as well as operation of an online video platform. The activities of
its principal subsidiaries are set out in Note 13.

These consolidated financial statements of the Company
and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”)
are presented in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$") and all values are
rounded to the nearest thousand (“HK$'000"), unless otherwise
Stated.

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND CHANGES IN
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

This note provides a list of the significant accounting policies
adopted in the preparation of these consolidated financial
statements. These policies have been consistently applied to all
the years presented, unless otherwise stated.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS.\

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 #

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND CHANGES IN
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation

@)

(b)

(©)

Compliance with HKFRSs and HKCO

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards ("HKFRSs”) and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance ("HKCQ") Cap. 622.

Historical cost convention

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on a historical cost basis, except for certain
financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value.

New and amended standards adopted by the
Group

The Group has applied the following amendments
and annual improvements for the first time for their
annual reporting period commencing 1 January 2023:
HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts

HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice
Statement 2 (Amendments)

Disclosure of Accounting Policies

HKAS 8 (Amendments) Definition of Accounting Estimates
Deferred Tax Related to Assets

and Liabilities Arising from

a Single Transaction
International Tax Reform

= Pillar Two Model Rules

HKAS 12 (Amendments)

HKAS 12 (Amendments)

The amendments and annual improvements listed above
did not have any impact on the amounts recognised in
prior periods and are not expected to significantly affect
the current or future periods.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 & ZE — T —=F+_A=+—HILtFE

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND CHANGES IN
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

130

(d) New standards and interpretations not yet
adopted

Certain new accounting standards, amendments
to accounting standards and interpretations have
been published that are not mandatory for the 31
December 2023 reporting periods and have not
been early adopted by the Group. These standards,
amendments or interpretations are not expected to
have a material impact on the entity in the current or

" NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2

mMAUEEREITBRBE(E)

2.1 RBEEE)

(@)

[ AR ERA 2 R ET BRI R 22 FE

BETHISRER - g5 ERIZ
BIIARREEEM  BRER
2=+ -RA=+—8B#H%E
B AR EK - AAREEY &
RER - BEFZFE8 - 87T
AR BERE ISR RFEHT
SHEBURABRAARZRS

future reporting periods and on foreseeable future

transactions.

ELBEATE -

Effective for
accounting
periods beginning
on or after

AUT BH

Rz EHEBZ
BETHBEX

HKAS 1 (amendments)

BB G EAE 1R UBETA)
HKAS 1 (amendments)

BB G ERE 1R UBETA)
HKFRS 16 (amendments)

BB B HRELERF 165 (BF]A)
HK Int 5 (Revised)

FEREFSH(EER])

HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7 (amendments)

BB ERETR R BBV BEHRE
AR ZE75%%: (BFTA)

HKAS 21 (amendments)

BB ERE21RUBETA)

HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 (amendments)

AV BHREEAEI0R LB R R
R 285% (1B FTA)

Classification of Liabilities as Current or
Non-current

BERRBIGERB A

Non-current Liabilities with Covenants

MR IRMESERB B E

Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback

ERrEETHEERRE

Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (Revised)
Presentation of Financial Statements
— Classification by the Borrower of a
Term Loan that Contains a Repayment
on Demand Clause

BEBREESR (B M BHRENZ7
- BRAHEHRERE BRI T
BEXHD

Supplier Finance Arrangements

HEEmmE T8

Lack of Exchangeability

BRZ P A3t

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an
Investor and its Associate or Joint
Venture

WEEZHEBENREEREZHN
BEHNEHIHE
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2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND CHANGES IN
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

(d) New standards and interpretations not yet
adopted (Continued)

The Group is in the process of assessing potential
impact of the above new standards, amendments
and interpretations that are relevant to the Group
upon initial application. It is not yet in a position to
state whether these standards, interpretations, and
amendments will have a significant impact on the
Group's results of operations and financial position.

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

3.1 Financial risk factors

This note explains the Group’s exposure to financial
risks and how these risks could affect the Group’s
future financial performance. Current year profit or 10ss
information has been included where relevant to add
further context.

The Group’s management monitors and manages the
financial risks relating to the operations of the Group
through internal risk reports which analyse exposures by
degree and magnitude of risks. These risks include market
risk (including foreign exchange risk and interest rate risk),
credit risk and liquidity risk.

There has been no change to the types of the Group's
exposure in respect of financial instruments or the manner
in which it manages and measures the risks.

#0055 e o B nk

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 HEZE — T =+ _A=+—HItFE
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 & ZE — T —=F+_A=+—HILtFE

%i
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 3 HSERERE
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 3.1 BKEBEEE
(@) Market risk () WHEEE
(i)  Foreign exchange risk ) SMNEES
The Group operates in Hong Kong and the REBERERFEARH
People’s Republic of China (the “PRC") with ME(PEDELEER - H
most of the transactions denominated and AREDRXGHUHBEEE
settled in Renminbi (“RMB"), the functional B EEAREIAR
currency of relevant group entities. BEEMEE -
The Group is mainly exposed to the fluctuation AEBFEAZBE RS 2
of HK$ arising from foreign currency trade and EBg - HR B LANEEHER
other receivables, cash and cash equivalents, JE AR TR K% HL At i W R I
trade and other payables and borrowings. ReERREFE - ERNERK
N E M FERT SRIE R AEFK »
The carrying amounts of the Group's foreign A& B R R 5 BAR LA SNES &
currency denominated monetary assets and BrEBEEREKAREY
monetary liabilities at the end of reporting BREEWT -
period are as follows:
Liabilities Assets
=N BE
2023 2022 2023 2022
—E-=H T F —EZ=H —E-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BT T BET T BT T
HKS I (28,110) (5,723) 37,739 79,141

132
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 #

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

@)

Market risk (Continued)

®

Foreign exchange risk (Continued)
Sensitivity analysis

The following table details the Group's
sensitivity to a 5% (2022: 5%) increase and
decrease RMB against HK$. The sensitivity rate
of 5% is used when reporting foreign currency
risk internally to key management personnel
and represents the management’s assessment
of the reasonably possible change in foreign
exchange rates. The changes in (profit)/loss
for the year represented HK$ strengthen 5%
(2022: 5%) against RMB. For a 5% (2022: 5%)
weakening of the above foreign currencies
against RMB, there would be an equal and
opposite impact on the (profit)/loss for the
year.

3
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BRRERERE

3.1 BIREBREEE

(@

5 E R ()

0 SMERE )

3

BRE D

!

Uil

TRFAVNAEERARE L
FBRER FF R TRE5% (=

=

AEEE

P 5%) ZBHREE o
B A BN R

Y PR 5 45 45 5 9% PR 2 B
b 5% - R E BN
EER AT ARED
T fE 2 T o A O
R,/ BB BBRE B
HARBEE FA5%(=F

===

5%) ° fi Lt 5N

HARKRENN (T

& 5%)

AleWAEE (i

),/ EiEEK R ESEE 218

REE -
2023 2022
—E-= =
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BT
Changes in (profit)/loss for the year  AREE GHF)) BB
HK$ o (361) 2,753
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 #{ £ =& =

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

134

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

@)

Market risk (Continued)

(if)

Interest rate risk

The Group's cash flow interest rate risk arises
from cash at banks.

The Group is also exposed to fair value
interest rate risk in relation to fixed-rate
other receivables, film investment funds
from investors and borrowings. Management
considers that the fair value risk in relation to
the fixed-rate other receivables, film investment
funds from investors and borrowings is
insignificant as the other receivables,
film investment funds from investors and
borrowings has a short maturity period.

The Group currently does not have any interest
rate hedging policy in relation to fair value
and cash flow interest rate risks. Management
monitors the Group’s exposure on an ongoing
basis and will consider hedging the interest
rate risk should the need arise.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

#0055 e o B nk

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 i ZE—ZE =+ _-_A=+—H Jtir

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continuead)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(@  Market risk (Continued)

(ii)

Interest rate risk (Continued)
Sensitivity analysis

Regarding the cash flow interest rate risk,
the sensitivity analysis below have been
determined based on the exposure to interest
rates for non-derivative instruments at the end
of the reporting period. For variable-rate bank
deposits, the analysis is prepared assuming the
amount of the relevant asset outstanding at the
end of the reporting period was outstanding
for the whole year. A 50 basis points (2022:
50) increase or decrease represents the
management’s assessment of the reasonably
possible change in interest rates.

If interest rates had been 50 basis points
(2022: 50) higher/lower and all other variables
were held constant, the Group’s profit for
the year would have increased/decreased by
approximately HK$1,021,000 (2022: loss for
the year would have decreased/increased by
approximately HK$208,000).

(b) Credit risk

()

Risk management

Credit risk is managed on a group basis. The
credit risk of the Group mainly arises from
cash and cash equivalents, trade receivables,
contract assets, deposits and other receivables.
The carrying amounts of these balances
represent the Group’s maximum exposure to
credit risk in relation to these assets.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 & ZE — T —=F+_A=+—HILtFE

3

136

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b)

Credit risk (Continued)

(0

(if)

Risk management (Continued)

In order to minimise the credit risk,
management has delegated a team responsible
for determination of credit limits, credit
approvals and other monitoring procedures to
ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover
overdue debts. In addition, the Group reviews
the recoverable amount of each individual debt
at the end of the reporting period to ensure
that adequate impairment losses are made
for irrecoverable amounts. In this regard,
management considers that the Group's credit
risk is significantly reduced.

The Group has concentration of credit risk as
27% (2022: 40%) of the total trade receivables
was due from the Group’s largest debtor.

Impairment of financial assets and contract
assets

The Group has two types of assets that are
subject to the expected credit loss model: trade
receivables and contract assets and other
financial assets carried at amortised costs.

While cash and cash equivalents are also
subject to the impairment requirements of
HKFRS 9, the identified impairment loss was
immaterial.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 & EZE —E =+ -A=+—H Jtir

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b)

Credit risk (Continued)

(if)

Impairment of financial assets and contract
assets (Continued)

Trade receivables and contract assets

The Group applies the simplified approach to
provide for expected credit losses prescribed
by HKFRS 9, which permits the use of the
lifetime expected credit loss provision for
all trade receivables and contract assets.
To measure the expected credit losses,
trade receivables and contract assets have
been grouped based on shared credit risk
characteristics and the days past due.

For trade receivables and contract assets,
management has assessed the expected credit
losses based on the background and reputation
of the customers, historical settlement records
and past experience, and expected realisation
plan for long aged balances including offsetting
with certain payables. Management also
considered the default rates and loss given
default from external rating agency report and
forward-looking information that may impact
the customer’s ability to repay the outstanding
balances. As at 31 December 2023, the l0ss
allowances of approximately HK$1,969,000
and HK$1,078,000 (2022: HK$10,128,000
and HK$172,000) were recognised for trade
receivables and contract assets respectively
based on the expected credit losses rates
ranged from 0% to 27% (2022: 0% to 29%)
applied on different groupings.
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ES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 i ZE — T - =&+ - A=1+—HILFE

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 3 BiREMEIEE

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 3.1 BIEREEE

(b) Credit risk (Continued)

(i) Impairment of financial assets and contract
assets (Continued)

Trade receivables and contract assets
(Continued)

The closing loss allowances for trade

(b) EEmEREE)

() ZMEEREAEENIE
()

RMBER & HEEE)

R+=—A=+—8  EBRKEK

receivables and contract assets as at 31 REREHEENBREBE
December reconcile to the opening loss HEBAYEERBEHER
allowances as follows: ™
2023 2022
—E-=F —F-=
HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BEETFIT
Trade receivables FEUR BR X
At 1 January n—H—H 10,128 6,990
(Decrease)/increase in loss FAERZEEEE
allowances recognised OR A,/ 35
during the year (7,933) 3,776
Exchange difference PE 5 = %R (226) (638)
At 31 December R+=-—A=+—H 1,969 10,128
Contract assets EHEE
At 1 January Rn—H—H 172 55
Increase in loss allowances FAMER 2 E BB EIZ
recognised during the year 917 125
Exchange difference EH E%E (11) 8
At 31 December R+=—B=+—8 1,078 172
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 # =

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b)  Credit risk (Continued)

(if)

Impairment of financial assets and contract
assets (Continued)

Trade receivables and contract assets
(Continued)

Trade receivables and contract assets are
written off where there is no reasonable
expectation of recovery. Indicators that there is
no reasonable expectation of recovery include,
amongst others, the failure of a debtor to
engage in a repayment plan with the Group,
and a failure to make contractual payments.

Impairment losses on trade receivables
and contract assets are presented as net
impairment losses within operating profit.
Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously
written off are credited against the same line
item.

Other financial assets at amortised cost

The credit quality of the other receivables has
been assessed with reference to historical
information about the counterparties
default rates and financial position of the
counterparties. As at 31 December 2023,
the loss allowances of approximately
HK$18,586,000 were recognised for other
receivables (2022: HK$8,349,000).

#0055 e o B nk
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(ii)
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 & ZE — T —=F+_A=+—HILtFE

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 3 BIEBEMREEEZ

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(b)  Credit risk (Continued)

(i) Impairment of financial assets and contract
assets (Continued)

Other financial assets at amortised cost
(Continued)

The closing loss allowances for deposits and
other receivables as at 31 December reconcile

3.1 BIABEEE

(b) EEmEREE)

(ii)

TREEREEERE

()

RBHERAGTENEBER

BEE)

R+—A=+t—B &gk
H b 8 UK IR ) HA R S 1R 18

to the opening loss allowances as follows: HEBAYEERBEHER
T
2023 2022
—E-=F —F-=
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT
At 1 January R—A—H 8,349 3,954
Increase in loss allowances FRERZEERE
recognised during the year N 10,400 4,590
Exchange difference M =R (163) (195)
At 31 December B+=ZA=+—H 18,586 8,349
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 HEZE — T =+ _A=+—HItFE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b)

(©

Credit risk (Continued)

(i) - Net impairment losses on financial assets and
contract assets recognised in profit or l0ss

During the year, the net impairment losses on
financial assets and contract assets recognised

3 BXRREEE
3.1 BEBEEE
b) 1SEmEEGE)

(i) R Rzt ARERR ) B R
BRIBEZ R EERFEH

FA - REBEZABRNESE
BERANEEZRERIE

in profit or loss were as follows: SHERAR
2023 2022
—E-= = S
HK$'000 HK$'000
BEETT BT T
Reversal of/(provision for) FEUEER R AEHEEZ
impairment losses on trade BEEERRE (B
receivables and contract assets 7,016 (3,901)
Provision for impairment losses on  E & gl & & 2 R AR B
other financial assets B (10,400) (4,590)
Net impairment losses on financial £ REERANEEZ
assets and contract assets BEBEFE (3,384) (8,491)

Liquidity risk

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had cash and
cash equivalents of approximately HK$310,146,000,
and the Group had net cash generated from
operating activities for the year of approximately
HK$364,313,000 and profit for the year attributable
to owners of the Company of approximately
HK$159,135,000. Management considers the Group
does not have any significant liquidity risk.

The table below analyses the Group's financial
liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on
the remaining period at the consolidated statement
of financial position date to the contractual maturity
date. Balances due within 12 months equal their
carrying balances as the impact of discounting is not
significant.

€ mBEZEME

RZBEZ=F+=—A=+—H -
AEEFEERSRESEENE
#310,146,0007T © RNEHRF
EREFHMELEZESFHEY
A #364,313,0007T  MAA A
HEANBEARAFE RN EBE
159,135,0007C - BEEER A © A
SEVTAFEANEARBDE S
[BBg e

TERBAEENES R A BERRH
RAEMBAARGEEREANHD
H3 B A9 R &R B BR 2 A 4 BE FY 21 1
ARETON - ARMIRTEYL
TEKXR - R1218 A R H & #& 6
FEREFRE AR -
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/ FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 & ZE — T —=F+_A=+—HILtFE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 3 BIEBEMREEEZ

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 3.1 B¥EKREEE)
(c)  Liquidity risk (Continued) (c) HBELRERE)
Weighted 0On demand Total
Contractual maturities of average o less than 1-3 3 months undiscounted Carrying
financial liabilities interest rate 1 month months to 1year 1-3 years cash flows amount
AEERY RERRE
SRAENANIAA MET G = HSR-{EA -2=ff ZfEAZ-% -B=% REAH REE
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

RETTL AT AT BETT BETT BETTL

2023 it St 3
Non-derivative financial FTELRAR

liabilities
Trade and other payables ERERREMERFE - 147,461 - - - 147,461 147,461
Fim investment funds REREENEZRE

from investors HE - - - 535,195 - 535,195 535,195
Film rights investments BYIMERE - - - 942 - 942 942
Lease liabilities HERE 4.37% 1,130 3,390 10,304 3,579 18,403 17,868

148,591 3,390 546,441 3,579 702,001 701,466

2022 k- S -
Non-derivative financial FTELRAR

liabilities
Trade and other payables ERERREMERFE = 128,946 < = = 128,946 128,946
Fim investment funds REREENEZRE

from investors HE - - - 524,471 - 524,471 524,471
Film rights investments BYIMERE - - - 970 - 970 970
Borrowings &% 1.36% 74,434 33,955 - - 108,389 108,267
Lease liabilities HEARE 4.33% 1147 3442 9,179 17,707 31475 29915
Amountdueto arelated party BN —RBEALIE - 182 - - - 182 182

204,709 37,397 534,620 17,707 794,433 792,751
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 HEZE — T =+ _A=+—HItFE

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 3 BEEBRER(E
3.2 Capital management 32 EXEHE
The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in AEEEEBEEER  UERAESEZE
the Group will be able to continue as a going concern B MERFELSE  RANFEBRIGE
while maximising the return to shareholders through the BREREHREL  BRRETREAMD
optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The Group's W AEEZBEERBEAEFTHEIFE
overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year. [ °
The capital structure of the Group consists of debt which AEEZEAEEBREER (BENGE
includes borrowings in Note 28 and equity attributable to 282 BV RARRBIEE AE(ERS (B
owners of the Company, comprising issued share capital EEBITRARSIERE)
and various reserves.
Management reviews the capital structure periodically. ERETHENEANEE - (ERLER
As part of this review, management considers the cost of ITEz—89  EREZREAKNA K
capital and the risks associates with each class of capital. FEARER ZHEARR - AEEERE
Based on recommendations of management, the Group ERERL I ES  SBRBTHROK
will balance its overall capital structure through new share BTHEENELR FEELHRE
issues as well as the issue of new debt or the redemption K FETHBEBEARLERE o
of existing debt or reduction in capital.
(i)  Fair value hierarchy (i) A FEZEERE
This section explains the judgments and estimates REEMETE R BmEPER
made in determining the fair values of the financial RIEATFEFENERIAAT
instruments that are recognised and measured at BERFELHE RGET - /15
fair value in the financial statements. To provide an tHEBEE A FEHGEAZE
indication about the reliability of the inputs used in ZASEHEER AEBEBRES
determining fair value, the Group has classified its ERAFETETHESHTES A =8
financial instruments into the three levels prescribed ER o FEHENTREITEM -
under the accounting standards. An explanation of
each level follows underneath the table.
Level 1 Level 3 Total
E—K B8 g
Note HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
B & ST T BT BT T
Recurring fair value EEMENFEAE
measurements
At 31 December 2023 P
+=-—A=+—H
Financial assets EREE
Film rights investments BRRIERE 22 - 193,673 193,673
Financial liabilities EA =N
Film rights investments BRRERE 22 - 942 942
BEEEEEARLAT - —E-=FF8K 143
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3

144

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.3 Fair value estimation (Continued)

(i) Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

3 HXERREEE

3.3 DPEMEE

()

Note

N FEZEERE(E
Level 1 Level 3 Total

— R F=M k]

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

By aE BETT B¥TT  BETR

Recurring fair value AEEH LN FEAE
measurements

At 31 December 2022 i

+—A=+—H

Financial assets EMEE

Hong Kong listed equity BB LEMRAES
securities

Film rights investments B RERE

Financial liabilities SEas

Film rights investments BRRERE

There were no transfers between levels 1 and 2 for
recurring fair value measurements during the year.
For transfers in and out of level 3 measurements see
(iii) below.

The Group’s policy is to recognise transfers into and

transfers out of fair value hierarchy levels as at the
end of the reporting period.

HUANXI MEDIA GROUP LIMITED - Annual Report 2023
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 # =

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.3 Fair value estimation (Continued)

(i)

(ii)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

Level 1: The fair value of financial instruments traded
in active markets (such as publicly traded derivatives,
and equity securities) is based on quoted market
prices at the end of the reporting period. The quoted
market price used for financial assets held by the
Group is the current bid price. These instruments are
included in level 1.

Level 2: The fair value of financial instruments that
are not traded in an active market (for example,
over-the-counter derivatives) is determined using
valuation techniques which maximise the use of
observable market data and rely as little as possible
on entity-specific estimates. If all significant inputs
required to fair value an instrument are observable,
the instrument is included in level 2.

Level 3: If one or more of the significant inputs is not
based on observable market data, the instrument is
included in level 3. This is the case for unlisted equity
securities.

Valuation techniques used to determine fair values

Specific valuation techniques used to value financial
instruments include:

. the use of quoted market prices or dealer
quotes for similar instruments; and

° for other financial instruments — discounted
cash flow analysis.

3 BERR

#0055 e o B nk
—Eo=Ft=A=t— Etif
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3.3 DPEMEE

()

(ii)
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

146

3.3 Fair value estimation (Continued)

(i) Fair value measurements using significant

unobservable inputs (level 3)

The following table presents the changes in level 3
items for the year:

=T A=1+—HLEFE

Bt 7 2 By

B (&

3.3 DPEMEE

(i)

HREAEAXT BB A B FETT
AP EEB(E=R)

FABIESAERNEE R
& :

Film rights

investments

BEMERE

HK$'000

BT T

Opening balance at 1 January 2022 R-ZTE——F— A —AEHY&ER 246,287
Additions i 20,618

Changes in fair values NEBEE (2,730)

Derecognition or settlement iR R4 (814)

Exchange differences MEH ZER (19,600)
Closing balance at 31 December 2022 M-E-_—F+-A=+—HaHREA 243,761
Additions e 77,220

Changes in fair values ~EES (79,343)

Derecognition or settlement IR GEE (42,240)

Exchange differences EHER (6,667)
Closing balance at 31 December 2023 R-ZE-_=F+-A=t+-—BHHREsH 192,731

The key unobservable input includes the expected
cash flow derived from the investments and
discounted rate. If the expected cash flows were
increased/(reduced) by 5%, the fair value would
increase/(decrease) by approximately HK$9,637,000
(2022: HK$12,188,000). If the discounted rates were
increased by 1%, the fair value would decrease by
approximately HK$716,000 (2022: HK$4,136,000) and
if the discount rates were decreased by 1%, the fair
value would increase by approximately HK$4,378,000
(2022: HK$4,030,000).
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 HEZE — T =+ _A=+—HItFE

CRITICAL ESTIMATES AND JUDGMENTS

The preparation of consolidated financial statements requires
the use of accounting estimates which, by definition, will seldom
equal the actual results. Management also needs to exercise
judgment in applying the Group’s accounting policies.

Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated. They are
based on historical experience and other factors, including
expectations of future events that may have a financial impact
on the entity and that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances.

(a) Revenue derived from content production
and film investment loss, net

Management considered whether it was appropriate to
recognise the revenue from content production and film
investment loss, net, of approximately HK$1,332,794,000
(2022: HK$13,630,000) in the current year, which is in line
with the Group’s general policy of recognising revenue and
film investment loss, net as set out in Notes 5 and 22.

In making the judgment, management considered the
detailed criteria included satisfying the performance
obligation and the right to receive payment for the
recognition of revenue derived from content production
and measurement of film investment loss, net set out in
the applicable standards. In the event where the criteria
are met but the final statement of the relevant film has not
yet received, judgment is required to estimate the revenue
and related costs of the film investment.

4 EERMEFTRFAE

RGN BEHRRBERGTHE  BERE
& HEBRIZABHRER - EEENKA
REBMA ST B INE#ETTHIE -

AT RHVE RIS EE T - LV ERBE
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EEMAREERERELV BT ENRKS
(ESEVI

(@) RARREEEZHWEREEZRE
BiR - F8

EEEERENAFTERRARBEANDTE
Bz WEREFIREEBE  FEYB
#51,332,794,0007L (ZE = = F : B
13,630,00070) 2 & E « BT EH
SR2Z2FEBBAEEERNE MNEF
WEEE  FERECK -

RIEL HEE - EEECRERNTH
EELZWEMAEBEXREEE %
HMEREREAME 2 FEBRE B
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4 CRITICAL ESTIMATES AND JUDGMENTS
(Continueq)

(b) Measurement of film and TV programmes

148

rights classified as intangible assets,
and impairment of license and software
development costs

At the end of each reporting period, management assessed
the cost apportionment, amortisation policy and estimated
useful lives of the film and TV programmes rights classified
as intangible asset, license and software development
costs. The determination of cost apportionment,
amortisation policy and estimated useful lives requires
management’s significant judgment.

Other than the amortisation, management also i) assessed
whether impairment indicator existed on completed film
and TV programmes rights and available for intended
use, licensed film and TV programmes rights, license and
software development costs and ii) assessed impairment
for film and TV programmes rights either completed but
not available for intended use or under production and
provided impairment up to its recoverable amount in
accordance with the respective impairment assessment.

() Inrespect of the completed film and TV programmes
rights but not available for intended use or under
production, the recoverable amount of the associated
film and TV programmes rights was determined by
using the fair value less cost of disposal approach.

In determining the recoverable amount, the Group
takes into consideration both internal and external
market information, for example, the expected
revenue, the estimated production cost, the
estimated selling and distribution expenses, the
discounted rates and the general economic condition
of the relevant markets.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group
has recognised a net provision for impairment
of completed film and TV programmes rights of
approximately HK$103,138,000 (2022: HK$2,112,000)
and film and TV programmes rights under production
of approximately HK$3,058,000 (2022: HK$3,971,000).
Any reasonable changes in assumptions used in this
assessment, including the forecasted revenue and
discount rate, may not result in a material additional
provision being made in the consolidated financial
Statements.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 # =

4 CRITICAL ESTIMATES AND JUDGMENTS
(Continueq)

(b) Measurement of film and TV programmes
rights classified as intangible assets,
and impairment of license and software
development costs (Continued)

(if)

In respect of the Group's license and software
development costs, together with the film and TV
programmes rights available for subscription on the
Group's online video platform as well as licensed film
and TV programmes rights, they are the essential
elements of the Group’s online video platform.
Management identified the Group’s online video
platform as a cash-generating unit (the “Platform
CGU"), which is the basis for impairment assessment
of Group’s license, software development costs
and film and TV programmes rights available for
subscription. The recoverable amount of the Platform
CGU was determined based on the present value of
the expected future cash flow generated from the
Platform CGU.

Management determined that impairment
indicator existed for the Platform CGU as the actual
performance was behind the original forecast,
representing an impairment indicator, triggering
a need to perform an impairment assessment. In
carrying out the impairment assessment of the
Platform CGU, Management used the fair value
less cost of disposal approach to determine the
recoverable amount by discounting future cash flow
forecast which involved key assumptions including
discount rate of 25% (2022: 25%), compound annual
growth rate of 0.1% (2022: 21.2%) and terminal
growth rate of 3% (2022: 3%). As at 31 December
2023, the carrying amount of licensed film and
TV programmes rights available for subscription
amounted to approximately HK$79,908,000 (2022:
HK$56,102,000). Any reasonable changes in
assumptions used in this assessment, including the
forecasted revenue and discount rate, will not result
in a material provision in the consolidated financial
Statements.
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4 CRITICAL ESTIMATES AND JUDGMENTS
(Continueq)

(c) Fair value of film rights investments

As at 31 December 2023, the carrying amount of film rights
investments amounted to approximately HK$192,731,000
(2022: HK$243,761,000). The respective fair values are
determined by using valuation technigues. Details of the
judgment and assumptions have been disclosed in Note
3.3.

Estimated impairment of prepayments for
film and TV programmes rights

At the end of each reporting period, management
assesses whether the impairment indicator existed for
prepayments for film and TV programmes rights based on
the contract terms of the agreements, estimated budget
of the proposed production and the progress on how the
prepayment has been used or realised.

Based on management’s assessment on the prepayments
of film and TV programmes rights, management
determined that no impairment provision to be charged to
prepayments of film and TV programmes rights during the
year (2022: Same).

Loss allowances of trade receivables and
contract assets

The loss allowances of trade receivables and contract
assets are based on assumptions about risk of default,
expected loss rates and forward-looking information.
Management uses judgments in making these assumptions
and selecting the inputs to the calculation, based on
the past history, existing market conditions as well as
forward looking information at the end of each reporting
period. Details of the key assumptions and inputs used are
disclosed in Note 3.1(b).
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 Eti_g:_iJr_ﬂ = r—= Jtif“

B 1

REVENUE AND FILM INVESTMENT LOSS, 5 WaERkEFREGE FH
NET

An analysis of the Group's revenue and film investment loss, net, FRN - AKENKRENEZREERE  F8
for the year, net of sales related tax, is as follows: (MR HEEBHRIB) DN OT !
2023 2022
—E-= =
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Revenue e
— Share of box office income - DMEER KA 1,292,534 =
- Sub-licensing of film and - DRERZ R EREIMRE
TV programmes rights 83,784 4,258
- Other media related revenue — H b 1 B8 AR B e 35,819 12,102
1,412,137 16,360
Film investment loss, net BYREEE  F58 (79,343) (2,730)
1,332,794 13,630
Information about major customers FEEFEHR
During the year, revenue and film investment loss, net derived FR - HAEERREREZREBE  F
for the customers contributing over 10% of the total revenue and FHEBMEI0% BFEEZ WG REFIRER
film investment loss, net of the Group are as follows: B OFBIT
2023 2022
—E-=H ===
HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BT
Customer A ZPA 1,292,526 N/AA~3E A
Customer B ®FB N/ATiEH 3,999
Customer C =FC N/ATE A 3,249
The revenue and film investment loss, net was derived from WamkEBEHLIREBE  FRERETBEIRES
investment in film and TV programmes rights in the PRC and BYRERBEIMERE -
Hong Kong.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 & ZE — T —=F+_A=+—HILtFE

5 REVENUE AND FILM INVESTMENT LOSS, 5 KWakEFREEFE  FHE
NET (Continued)
contract assets and liabilities EHEERERE
The Group has recognised the following assets and liabilities REBERRUATEEFPENEHANEER
related to contracts with customers: BE:
2023 2022
—E-= ===
HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BEET T
Contract assets BREE 59,712 10,434
Loss allowances (Note 3.1(b)) Esia M (M 5E3.1(0) (1,078) (172)
Contract assets, net BREE  FE 58,634 10,262
Contract liabilities AHEE 1,150 30,052
significant changes in contract assets and BREEREENERES

liabilities

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, contract assets represent
unbilled revenue arisen from the share of box office income,
sub-licensing of film and TV programmes rights and online video
platform related income in accordance with the contract terms.

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, contract liabilities mainly
represent receipt in advance in relation to the co-membership
arrangement with other online platforms operated by different
business partners.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

#0055 e o B nk

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 HEZE — T =+ _A=+—HItFE

REVENUE AND FILM INVESTMENT LOSS,
NET (Continued)

Accounting policies of revenue recognition
Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable for the sales of services in the ordinary
course of the Group's activities.

Revenue is recognised when or as the control of the services
is transferred to the customer. Depending on the terms of the
contract and the laws that apply to the contract, control of the
services may be transferred over time or at a point in time.

Control of the goods or services is transferred over time if the
Group's performance:

. provides all of the benefits received and consumed
simultaneously by the customer;

o creates or enhances an asset that the customer controls
as the Group performs; or

o does not create an asset with an alternative use to the
Group and the Group has an enforceable right to payment
for performance completed to date.

If control of the services transfers over time, revenue is
recognised over the period of the contract by reference to the
progress towards complete satisfaction of that performance
obligation. Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time
when the customer obtains control of the services. Specific
criteria where revenue is recognised are described below.

5
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" NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 #{ £ =& =

REVENUE AND FILM INVESTMENT LOSS,
NET (Continued)

Accounting policies of revenue recognition
(Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

When either party to a contract has performed, the Group
presents the contract in the consolidated statement of financial
position as a contract asset or a contract liability, depending
on the relationship between the entity’s performance and the
customer’s payment.

If a customer pays consideration or the Group has a right to an
amount of consideration that is unconditional, before the Group
transfers a service to the customer, the Group presents the
contract as a contract liability when the payment is made or a
receivable is recorded (whichever is earlier). A contract liability
is the Group’s obligation to transfer services to a customer for
which the Group has received consideration (or an amount of
consideration is due) from the customer.

A contract asset represents the Group's right to consideration
for the services that the Group has transferred to the customers
but is not yet unconditional. A receivable is recorded when
the Group has an unconditional right to consideration. A right
to consideration is unconditional if only the passage of time is
requited before payment of that consideration is due.

Revenue is recognised when specific criteria have been met for
the Group's activity as described below:

a)  Content production

The Group invests in and produces entertainment content
such as film and TV programmes series.

Revenue derived from box office income and sub-licensing
of film and TV programmes rights is recognised at a point
in time when the control of the entertainment content is
transferred to the customers so that the customers can
direct the use and obtain associated benefit.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

#0055 e o B nk

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 & EZE —E =+ -A=+—H Jtir

REVENUE AND FILM INVESTMENT LOSS,
NET (Continued)

Accounting policies of revenue recognition
(Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

b)

¢

Subscription services of online video platform

The Group offers subscription services to members or
customers with exclusive access to the contents of the
Group's online video platform.

The Group is the principal in its co-operations with
partners, including consumer electronics manufacturers
(TVs and cell phones), mobile operators, internet service
providers and online payment agencies, that provide
access to the subscription services or payment processing
services as the Group retains control over its service
delivered to the customers.

The subscription fee receipts are generally for services to
be delivered over time, the receipts are initially recorded
as contract liabilities and revenue is recognised rateably
over the subscription period as services are rendered and
presented. Customers who prepay the subscription fee
but do not activate the service before activation period
expires are referred to as breakage. The Group recognised
an expected breakage amount as revenue in proportion to
the historical pattern of rights exercised by the customers.
Upon expiry of the service period, the unutilised portion of
the prepaid packages are fully recognised in profit or loss.
Payments made to the partners, are recorded as expenses.

Film investment loss, net

Any gain or loss on the film rights investments that are
subsequently measured at fair value through profit or
loss (“FVTPL") is recognised on a net basis in the period in
which it arises.
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< NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 & ZE — T —=F+_A=+—HILtFE

6 SEGMENT INFORMATION 6 DEHEHR

The chief operating decision maker (“CODM") has been HITESEHANARETELEARARE(EE
identified as the executive directors who review the Group's mERKE]) AEERAEE A ®
internal reporting in order to assess performance and allocate & BENGEERSRER - AEEMK
resources. The Group's operations are currently organised into EEBREEA—RIZHRHE - BIER
one reportable segment which is investment in film and TV BRBIRERE - TELEARERTEZ
programmes rights. The CODM reviews the Group’s consolidated DMEBRREER SRRV BEPSE
results of operations in assessing performance of and making BASEEMGELEREE - Bt - BIEZ7
decisions about allocations to this segment. Accordingly, no AI2MDEER o

reportable segment information is presented.

Geographical information =g R
The Group's current operations are mainly located in the PRC REERRBHNEBEIEMRFBRIRES °

and Hong Kong.

Information about the Group's revenue and film investment REB 2 W RBHREBE - FEANRMN
loss, net, net of tax is presented based on the location of the E)ERHEHBEEBEM B ET o 1%
operations of the relevant business units. Information about BEMEWE S 2 ASBEIERBEEERGF
the Group’s non-current assets by geographical location of the BT

assets are detailed below:

Revenue and

film investment loss, net Non-current assets
WaEREZRESE B8 RBEE
2023 2022 2023 2022
—E-=F —=E-— —E-=F — g
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

BET T BT BET T BT

The PRC H 1,258,396 13,630 711,755 687,192
Hong Kong BE 74,398 - 9,867 16,182
1,332,794 13,630 721,622 703,374
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 i ZE—ZE =+ _-_A=+—H Jtif“

OTHER INCOME 7 HkA
2023 2022
—E=-= —E-F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BT IT
Government grants (Note) IR 46 B (B 5E) 9,030 576
Sundry income EAET PN 2,433 1,951
11,463 2,527
Note: Government grants mainly represented the subsidies of Nil (2022: MisE : BB EZ RN B BBUTRHZEIF &K E

HK$576,000) received from Employment Support Scheme of the Hong
Kong government and approximately HK$9,030,000 (2022: Nil) received
from the PRC government. There are no unfulfilled conditions or other

contingencies attaching to these grants.

OTHER GAINS, NET

ZHEEAT(ZE - —F : $1576,0007T) &
1 B R L B 2 4 B 49745 859,030,000t (=
TZZF ) ZEHBMER S M REK
Gt B FIE -

8 Hithlsm - FEE

2023 2022
- g: = —_=__
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT
Net fair value gain/(loss) on financial assets BRATEFABRZEREERN
at FVTPL (Note 24) RNTHEKE S (EER)F5E
(B 5E24) 22,088 (1,169)
Net foreign exchange gains b H a5 e 1,915 5,985
Gain on disposal of property, plant and LEWME - BB R&E WS
equipment (Note 32) (F#7E32) 319 =
Gain on dissolution of subsidiaries A YNGR 6w - 1,446
Others HAth - 2
24,322 6,264
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 & ZE — T —=F+_A=+—HILtFE

9 EXPENSES BY NATURE 9 BRHBEISsZHAX
2023 2022
—E-= —E-—F
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
(ikza BT T ST 5T

Employee benefit expenses (excluding EE@HME X (Ra1E

directors’ remuneration) == 10 48,361 56,290
Directors’ remuneration B EH N 14 38,595 21,322
Depreciation e

- Property, plant and equipment B/ ER NG 17 507 654

- Right-of-use assets -FRAEEE 18(b) 13,107 13,171
Short-term leases expenses EHHAERX 18(b) 677 1,250
Legal and professional fees FERRBEXEER 7,160 5,111
Travelling and entertainment expenses 2 Jik & FE B A % 6,994 4,799
Advertising and marketing expenses & & E R 319,356 5,568
Amortisation of intangible assets M EE B 19 - 2,288
Amortisation of film and TV B R BB 2 B

programmes rights 22 289,138 83,991
Net impairment losses on fimand V.~ E& kB8 EIkiE 2 mEE 2

programmes rights R 22 106,196 6,083
Other media related costs o 15 S AR A AR AN 31,199 =
Pre-production development costs BIHRSL/ERA B B AN - 13,889
Auditor's remuneration ZE RN <

- Audit services - BZART 3,385 3,285

- Non-audit services - IEE RS 922 15
General office expenses —BHAEER 2,937 2,958
Insurances B 1,641 1,641
Others Hb 13,938 12,826
Total cost of revenue, selling and Was 2 A ~ SHE Ry SRR

distribution costs and administrative LA R 1TE 5 X B %E

exXpenses 884,113 235,141
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10 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES 10 EERABAX(TEEESEHM)

(EXCLUDING DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION)

2023 2022
—EC-=F ==

HK$'000 HK$'000

BT T BT T

Wages, salaries and bonus T8 - Hekitsl 41,300 48,201

Pension costs — defined contribution plans RIRE A - B E H5RETE

(Note (a)) (FF3E(@)) 6,457 7,518

Others HAth 604 571

Total employee benefit expenses EERNFAZ 2% 48,361 56,290
(@) Pensions - defined contribution plans (@) BIRE - BEMKETE

No forfeited contributions is available to reduce the QUK SR AT (R R R B 2 JE A
contributions payable in future years. R e

i HA R FE A TR AB B 4 & 7B 535,000
TT(ZZT =4 : A ¥258,0007T) °

Contributions totalling approximately HK$35,000 (2022:
HK$258,000) were payable at the end of reporting period.

(b) Five highest paid individuals (b) EEREMEAL
FRN - AEBREERHEATEEM

HCE-_—F -MBEF HMER
BRAA M SE1ART R D AT o F AR H

The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest
in the Group for the year include two (2022: two) directors
whose emoluments are reflected in the analysis shown in

Note 14. The emoluments payable to the remaining three =R (T —F: =Z) AT ZBEw
(2022: three) individuals during the year are as follows: T
2023 2022
—E-=F —T——
HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BT T
Salaries and other benefits e kHAEFR 7,635 7,635
Performance related bonus WRIBERZTELL 892 =
Retirement benefits RIKAEF 36 36
8,563 7,671
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 & ZE — T —=F+_A=+—HILtFE

10 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES 10 EEEAMXX(TEEEEEM)
(EXCLUDING DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION) (#&)
(Continued)
(b) Five highest paid individuals (Continued) (b) EEBREMEALT(#E)
The number of employees among the five highest paid FWNTFUTHENAEESME AT
individuals whose remunerations fell within the following FEES A :
bands:

Number of individuals

AE
2023 2022
—E-=F ==
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 7#1,500,0017T 2 7% #2,000,0007T - 1
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 75 #£2,000,0017T 2 7 2,500,000 1 -
HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000 752,500,001 7T 2 /%8 % 3,000,0007T 1 1
HK$3,000,001 to HK$3,500,000 75 1#3,000,0017T 2 8 % 3,500,0007T - 1
HK$3,500,001 to HK$4,000,000 7855 3,500,001 7T 2 74 # 4,000,0007T 1 -
3 3
The number of directors among the five highest paid FHNTUTHENAEZ RS AL
individuals whose remunerations fell within the following RREE AR :
bands:
Number of individuals
AE
2023 2022
—E-=F B —F
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 751,500,001 7T 2 /8 % 2,000,0007T - 1
HK$10,500,001 to HK$11,000,000 75 #10,500,0017T 2 /8 %5 11,000,0007T 1 -
HK$18,000,001 to HK$18,500,000 75 #18,000,0017T 2 /8 %5 18,500,0007T - 1
HK$26,000,001 to HK$26,500,000 7B 126,000,001 7T 2 75 ¥ 26,500,000 1 -
2 2
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 # =

11 FINANCE COSTS, NET

11 MBER - FE

A 17 B 5 e 5 M Rk
=5+-A=+—AILEE

2023 2022
—E-=F =Eg==4&=
HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BRI
Finance income B WA
Bank interest income FRITHBHWA 1,946 112
Other interest income H b F 2 U A 2,190 3,732
4,136 3,844
Finance costs e
Interest expenses for lease liabilities HEBGBZHERXZ
(Note 18(b)) (P 5E18(b)) (1,054) (1,610)
Interest expenses on a borrowing —EEBFRZHERX - ®)
Interest expenses for film investment funds REREENEFIRENIE
from investors ZHBERX (3.869) (4,287)
(4,923) (5,905)
Finance costs, net BRER  F8 (787) (2,061)
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12

162

INCOME TAX EXPENSE/(CREDIT)

Under the Law of the PRC on Corporate Income Tax (the “CIT
Law”) and Implementation Regulation of the CIT Law, the tax rate
of the PRC subsidiaries is 25% from 1 January 2008 onwards.

Pursuant to the CIT law, 10% withholding tax is levied on the PRC
sourced income on foreign entities without establishments or
places of business in the PRC.

Hong Kong profits tax is calculated at 16.5% of the estimated
assessable profit for both years. No provision for Hong Kong
profits tax has been made in the consolidated financial
statements as the relevant group entities have incurred tax
losses (2022: Same).

No overseas profits tax has been calculated for the group
entities that are incorporated in the British Virgin Islands (the
“BVI") or Bermuda as they are exempted from tax (2022: Same).

Income tax expense/(credit) charged/(credited) to the profit or
loss represents:

12 FREHEX(ER)

RIFESEAFVOE(RERFVE]) ki
XA ERED B —TENF—A—
B - PEMEARZHER25% °

RIBEEEMETE - LENPBIRARLE
BREXRSANIIRERARERREETE
B RE YA SR 10%H BT ©

MEFE 2 BEME TG RME BRBOEH
AR E16.5%H - AR ABEEEERE LR
HEE RUERGEMBEHRRARETEHN
SUREHEB(CZE-—F : BR) -

HRERBEBARESXNARENLZER
ERENGHL  UHMERZSEREERG
ERINEH(CE__F : R -

Mk B, GrA)BERREERAS(E%) T
e

2023 2022

—E-= —E-—
HK$000 HK$'000
BT T BETIT
Current tax B HAT 18 65,067 =
Deferred income tax EE TSR (12,117) (1,460)
Income tax expense/(credit) FrEsfims, (%) 52,950 (1,460)
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12 INCOME TAX EXPENSE/(CREDIT) (Continued) 12 FriE#HBE X (&%) (ZE

The Income tax expense/(credit) for the year can be reconciled
to the profit/(loss) before tax per the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income as follows:

REFZAEHRAST (Hf) BirsBnm &
ftb 2 TH W 2 2% 2 BR A AT /mf'/(léﬂa)“ﬁi%ﬁﬂ
TS 8

2023 2022
—E=HF — g

HK$'000 HK$'000

BT T BT
Profit/(loss) before tax BB ATE ], (E518) 212,085 (223,272)

Tax calculated at domestic tax rates applicable ¥Z@E RN & BEE R,/ (E518) 2

to profit/(10ss) in the respective countries B R E 2 FIE 55,930 (47,571)
Expenses not deductible for tax purpose T REMB 2R 35,346 4,479
Temporary difference not recognised RER TR ERE 26,549 =
Income not taxable BAERR 2 WA (11,288) (1,585)
Tax loss not recognised RIER 2 BIAEE 20,120 43,921
Utilisation of tax loss not recognised B FAARERZTIAEE (79,256) (572)
Withholding tax A 5,825 -
Others Efh (276) (132)
Income tax expense/(credit) FrisBims, (%) 52,950 (1,460)

The weighted average applicable tax rate was 26.4% (2022:
21.3%). The change in weighted average applicable tax rate was
mainly caused by a change in mix of profits earned or losses
incurred by the group entities.

MEFHEAB R RB264%(ZF ==
m3% MEFHERT R EHETERH

EERAHIE M ATEALEIBNESE
Eﬁ%ﬁ
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13 PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 13 AAREEMNEARFE

164

OF THE COMPANY

Place of incorporation/ Particulars of
operation and kind issued share capital/ Effective economic
Name of entities of legal entities Principal activities registered capital interest held by the Group
BRIRE/
B8 F/ EERERAERRER TEEK EMERFE FEEFBERSERSE
2023 2022
—E-=E —E--F
Beijing Huan Sheng Xiao Yu Culture Media The PRC, limited liability company ~ Film and TV programmes rights RMB100,000,000 100% 100%
Company Limited ©&@ PE - BEREMAR investments AR 100,000,007
IRBBXEUBEEARAR EYREREIRER)
Huan Huan Xi Xi (Tianjin) Culture Investment The PRC, limited liability company ~ Film and TV programmes rights RMB100,000,000 100% 100%
Company Limited @& FE - BRELAR investments AR 100,000,007
BEBEE(RR)ULREERAR BV REREIRER
Taizhou Huanxi Culture Investment Company ~ The PRC, limited liability company ~ Film and TV programmes rights USD40,000,000 100% 100%
Limited 2@ P BREAAR investments %£60,000,0007C
aMNEELREERAF BEYREREIRERE
Beijing Huanshixi Culture Media Company The PRC, limited liability company ~ Film and TV programmes rights RMB30,000,000 100% 100%
Limiteg ©&@® PE - EREFAR investments AR H30,000,0007
IRBTEXLERBERAF EYRERARERE
Gain Flow Developments Limited BVI/Hong Kong, limited company Online video platform development  USD1 ordinary share 100% 100%
JERERER AR ERERRES /% BRAR ERBRBTAEE ERTLER
Power Thought Investments Limited BVI/Hong Kong, limited company Film and TV programmes rights USD1 ordinary share 100% 100%
NEREERAR LEEARES/EE  ARAR  investments ESITLER
BEYREREIRER
HX Investment (HK) Limited Hong Kong, limited company Film and TV programmes rights HK$1 ordinary share 100% 100%
HEREBRERAA % ABRAT investments RETLER
EYREREIRER)
Wiz Limited Hong Kong, limited company Provision of management services to - HK$1 ordinary share 100% 100%
EMERAT B8 BROH the Group BEAITEER
MARBREER R
Graceful View Holdings Limited BVI/Hong Kong, limited company Investment holding USD1 ordinary share 100% 100%
RERERES/BE ARAR  REER EITLRR
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13 PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

0 U5 3 W Bk

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 i ZE—ZE =+ _-_A=+—H Jtif“

13 RAFAEEWMBRAFEE)

Place of incorporation/ Particulars of
operation and kind issued share capital/ Effective economic
Name of entities of legal entities Principal activities registered capital interest held by the Group
BRIRE/
1 i/ B S REARRER TEEH EMERGFE FEEFEERSERS
2023 2022
—E-=Zf —E-CF
Sinofocus Media (Holdings) Limited BVI/Hong Kong, limited company Investment holding USD1 ordinary share 100% 100%
RERER (R ERAA ABEBRES/BE BRAE  RERR eyl
Huanxi Entertainment (HK) Limited Hong Kong, limited company Investment holding HK$10,000 ordinary shares 100% 100%
BERE(BFRERAA 4 BRAR REARR B®I0,000 EBR
Huanxi Media Investment Limited Hong Kong, limited company Investment holding HK$1 ordinary share 100% 100%
BEYRRAERAA FE  ARAR REER B ITERR
Joyful Sky Holdings Limited BVI/Hong Kong, limited company Investment holding USD1 ordinary share 100% 100%
ERBRERAR LRERRES/B% BRAR REER ERTERR
Mansford Holdings Limited BVI/Hong Kong, limited company Investment holding USD1 ordinary share 100% 100%
RBEMRES/BE BRAE  RERR 2 rLak
Noble Fort Investments Limited BVI/Hong Kong, limited company Investment holding USD1 ordinary share 100% 100%
LRERREE /B4 BRAR REER ERTLRR
Beijing Huanxi Shou Ying Culture Company The PRC, limited liability company ~ Film and TV programmes production - RMB10,000,000 100% 100%
Limited G486 E - BEREMAR and investment AR H10,000,0007
FREBEERIYLAERARY WO EYRERHARERRE
Beijing Hangaohua Network Technology The PRC, limited liability company ~ Provision of internet audio-visual RMB10,000,000 100% 100%
Company Limited @&® T8 BRELAR programmes services ARE10,000,0007
I REREBENRER ARG BB A R
Qingdao Huanxi Shou Ying Culture Company The PRC, limited liability company ~ Film and TV programmes production  RMB3,000,000 100% 100%
Limited ®2® HE - EREEAF and investment ARE3,000,0007C
EEEEEMULBRAF BEYRERHALEREE
BEEREEBRATF - ZEZ=FFRK 165
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'NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

o S B ¥ R W Gk

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 & ZE — T —=F+_A=+—HILtFE

13 PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

™M

@

These subsidiaries are registered as wholly-owned enterprises of
Taiwan, Hong Kong or Macau corporate body under the PRC Law.

This subsidiary is registered as wholly-owned enterprise of foreign-
invested corporate body under the PRC Law.

These subsidiaries are registered as enterprise invested/controlled by
natural persons under the PRC Law.

The English names for the PRC subsidiaries are for identification
purposes only.

These subsidiaries are controlled by the Group by virtue of the
contractual agreements effective from 19 January 2018. Beijing Huan
Sheng Xiao Yu Culture Media Company Limited (“Beijing Subsidiary”) is
a wholly-owned enterprise of Taiwan, Hong Kong or Macau corporate
body in the PRC. The Group operates an online video platform in
the PRC through contractual arrangements with its affiliated PRC
entities, Beijing Huanxi Shou Ying Culture Company Limited and Beijing
Hangaohua Network Technology Company Limited and Qingdao
Huanxi Shou Ying Culture Company Limited (the “VIE Group”). Beijing
Subsidiary has entered into a series of contractual arrangements with
the VIE Group and their respective shareholders. These contractual
arrangements enable the Group to (1) have power to direct the
activities that most significantly affect the economic performance of
the VIE Group; (2) receive substantially all of the economic benefits
from the VIE Group in consideration for the services provided by
Beijing Subsidiary; and (3) have an exclusive option to purchase all
or part of the equity interests in the VIE Group at the minimum price
permitted under the PRC laws, when and to the extent permitted by
the PRC law, and request any existing shareholders of the VIE Group
to transfer all or part of the equity interest in the VIE Group to any
entity designated by the Group at any time in its discretion. The Group
believes that its ability to exercise effective control give it the rights
to receive substantially all of the economic benefits from the VIE
Group in consideration for the services provided by Beijing Subsidiary.
Accordingly, as the primary beneficiary of the VIE Group and in
accordance with the HKFRSs, the Group consolidates their assets,
liabilities, results of operations and cash flows in the consolidated
financial statements.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company as at 31
December 2023 and 2022 which principally affected the results
or assets of the Group. Management is of the opinion that to
give details of other subsidiaries would result in particulars
of excessive length. None of the Company’s subsidiaries had
issued any debt securities at year end

166
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
#0055 e o B nk

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 #{ £ =% =

(a) Directors emoluments

14 BENEFITS AND INTEREST OF DIRECTORS

=5+-A=+—AILEE

14 ESE2ENRER
(@) EEM=

The remuneration of the directors of the Company paid

and payable by the Group are set out below:

For the year ended 31 December 2023

AREBED N RENAAREEFH M

T

BE_ZE-=F+-A=t—-HLEHFE

Pension costs -
Performance defined
Salariesand  related bonus contribution Total
Fees  other benefits (Note i) plan emoluments
BRER
BHzRL BREHA -
e HERHEMER (FirEi) REMHKEE Heunm
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BETT BETT BETR BETT
Executive directors BITES
Mr. Dong Ping R 331 1,493 9,100 - 10,924
Mr. Xiang Shaokun, Steven (Note i) B33 504 (FitsEi) - 17,113 9,100 18 26,231
Sub-total NG 331 18,606 18,200 18 37,155
Non-executive directors *UTES
Mr. Ning Hao BEEE 240 - - - 240
Mr. Xu Zheng RIESEE 240 - - - 240
Ms. LiNi Tkt 240 - - - 240
Sub-total gt 720 - - - 720
Independent non-executive ~ BUFHFTEE
directors
Mr. Wong Tak Chuen BERLE 240 - - - 240
Mr. Li Xiaolong TINERE 240 - - - 240
Mr. Wang Hong Fi%sE 240 - - - 240
Sub-total Nt 720 - - - 720
Total pke 1,771 18,606 18,200 18 38,595
BEEERESERRAT - —FE-=FFRH 167




&% NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
3 f £r A 55 R B R

/ FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 & ZE — T —=F+_A=+—HILtFE

14 BENEFITS AND INTEREST OF DIRECTORS
(Continueq)

14 EECENRERE

(a) Directors emoluments (Continued) (a) EEEE(2)

AEEENRENARAREZNFHHMN
T#) :

The remuneration of the directors of the Company paid
and payable by the Group are set out below (Continued):

For the year ended 31 December 2022 BE_T-__F+_A=+—HILFE

168

Pension costs —
Performance (efined
Salaries and related bonus contribution Total
Fees other benefits (Note ) plan emoluments
BER
B RRERA-
we  HeREME i) BER G EoEm
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BETT BRI BETT BETT
Executive directors HITES
Mr. Dong Ping ER 330 1,476 - - 1,806
Mr. Xiang Shaokun, Steven (Note ii) B35 5% 4 (FifsEi) - 18,058 - 18 18,076
Sub-total gt 330 19,534 - 18 19,882
Non-executive directors *unES
Mr. Ning Hao BEEE 240 - - - 240
Mr. Xu Zheng LS 240 - - - 240
Ms. Li Ni FERT 240 - - - 240
Sub-total gt 720 - - - 720
Independent non-executive ~ BUFHFTEE
directors
Mr. Wong Tak Chuen BEREE 240 - - - 240
Mr. Li Xiaolong FINEEE 240 - - - 240
Mr. Wang Hong TaEsE 240 - - - 240
Sub-total g 720 - - - 720
Total g 1770 19,534 - 18 1322

HUANXI MEDIA GROUP LIMITED - Annual Report 2023
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

0 U5 3 W Bk

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 HEZE — T =+ _A=+—HItFE

14 BENEFITS AND INTEREST OF DIRECTORS
(Continueq)

(@)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

Directors emoluments (Continued)

Notes:

(i) The performance related bonus is determined by reference to
individual performance of the directors and approved by the
remuneration committee of the Company (the “Remuneration
Committee”).

(i) Mr. Xiang Shaokun, Steven is the chief executive officer of the
Company and his emoluments disclosed above included these
services rendered by him as the chief executive officer.

For the year, no emoluments were paid by the Group to
any of the directors as an inducement to join or upon
joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office.
None of the directors waived any emoluments for the year
(2022: Same).

Directors’ retirement benefits

None of the directors received or will receive any
retirement benefits during the year (2022: Same).

Directors’ termination benefits

None of the directors received or will receive any
termination benefits during the year (2022: Same).

Consideration provided to third parties for
making available directors’ services

During the year, the Group did not pay consideration to
any third parties for making available directors’ services
(2022: Same).

Information about loans, quasi-loans and
other dealings in favour of directors,
controlled bodies corporate by and
connected entities with such directors

During the year, there was no loans, quasi-loans and other
dealing arrangements in favour of directors, or controlled
bodies corporate by and connected entities with such
directors (2022: Same).

14 EECEFNRERE

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

BEEREBEARAF - —FE-=FFH

EEME ()
Wi

) BERRBERZEADBRBEESEARS
EE BRARRHMZRe(HFHMZR
SR -

(i)  FARBEER/ATRBITHER - LA
KECHEE BIEERETRERME
IR MBS 2 &

TR AKERERTAESAER
& AERINAREB S INA LK E IR
ZERBIELBBEE - FR - SIEE
ERELAME (CT=_F : HR) -

EENRAERN

FR - MEESWEIEB S WETER
KEMNCCZZEZ=F : B8R -

ESNEREERN

FR o HEEEWEEE S W AT
Bef (24 : HR) -

RERREERFEAE=SEH
KB

FA - AEBIRAERHENESRR
BmAERNE= T HRE(CE =
F MR -

BRANESE  ESZHREER
HAEEERRZIHZANER 8
HUERREMRZZNER

FR - MBEAEE  EEEHHEE R
HEEERARBAMA LEFMER
BUERRAEMIZLH(ZT
F MR -
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S B BB R i

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 #{ &£ =% ==

14 BENEFITS AND INTEREST OF DIRECTORS
(Continued)

14

Directors’ material interests in
transactions, arrangements or contracts

(f)

Save as disclosed in Note 35, no significant transactions,
arrangements and contracts in relation to the Group’s
business to which the Group was a party and in which a
director of the Company had a material interest, whether
directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at
any time during the year (2022: Same).

15 DIVIDENDS 15
Neither dividends were paid, declared or proposed for the year,

nor has any dividend been proposed since the end of reporting
period (2022: Same).

16 PROFIT/(LOSS) PER SHARE 16

(a) Basic
Basic profit/(loss) per share is calculated by dividing

the profit/(loss) attributable to owners of the Company,
excluding any costs of servicing equity other than ordinary

—Ft+-A=t—HLLFE

EECEMNKERE

() EERXRE REFEHANEK
i

BTSSR RE B - RERKERN
A IEEHE$$@/A&$
NEIME R ER A EA R (B
&zmwm$%l%%ﬁ%mﬁmi
K25 RYRAN(CE-—F : 4

R -

BRE
RARFER - WERM « TR ES RS (A
BB - MBEREHERE - FEZHRMAT
MRB(ZE=—F : #FE) -
BOEF,(E58)
(a) E&X
BRERNRH,(BB) HEARRHE

AT, (BER) (T RIEZBARAIN
ZAEAI AT R s A AS) BR IA F R E 37T

shares by the weighted average number of ordinary shares TR 2 NEFIEETE -
outstanding during the year.
2023 2022
—E=-= =

Profit/(loss) attributable to owners of the AN BEA A1 F, (E518)

Company (in HK$'000) (BT T) 159,135 (221,812)
Weighted average number of ordinary ~ A ESRERNLEERF

shares for the purpose of basic (B518) 2 L mAR IntE 5 #

and diluted profit/(loss) per share (in (F1

thousands) 3,656,472 3,656,472
Basic profit/(loss) per share (in HK$) BRERNRF,(E5B) (B¥T) 0.04 (0.06)

(b) Diluted

Diluted profit/(loss) per share is the same as basic profit/
(loss) per share as there were no potential dilutive shares
in issue during the year (2022: Same).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS\
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 #{ £ =% =

17 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

17 Y% - BERRZRE

=5+-A=+—AILEE

Furniture,
Leasehold fixtures and Motor
improvements equipment vehicles Total
HENELEE KR EBERRHE R ag
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BET T BT BT
At 1 January 2022 W-E-—%—f-H
Cost XA 5,011 3,060 4740 12,811
Accumulated depreciation 2EHE (4918) (2437) (4,115) (11,470)
Net book amount FEHFE 3 623 625 1,341
Year ended 31 December 2022 BE-Z-—_F+-A=1—H
I35
Opening net book amount HERFE 93 623 625 1,341
Additions e - 14 = 144
Depreciation charge (Note 9) TEER (M) 93) (274) (287) (654)
Exchange differences BHEE - (29 (20 (45)
Closing net book amount HARRE A - 468 318 786
At 31 December 2022 WZZ-—F+-A=+-H
Cost XA 4,807 2723 4,69 12,222
Accumulated depreciation 2EHE (4,807) (2,255) (4,374) (11,436)
Net book amount RETE - 468 318 786
Year ended 31 December 2023 HE-E-=F+-A=1-H
l:3:3
Opening net book amount HREFE - 468 318 786
Additions bt - 130 1,239 1,369
Disposal L& - - (12) (12)
Depreciation charge (Note 9) FEBA (19) - (199) (308) (507)
Exchange differences EXER - (7) (10) (17)
Closing net book amount HAREFE - 392 1,227 1,619
At 31 December 2023 RZB-=f+-F=1-H
Cost XA 4,738 2,806 5,354 12,898
Accumulated depreciation REHE (4,738) (2,414) (4,127) (11,279)
Net book amount EEFE - 392 1,227 1,619

Depreciation charge are included in administrative expenses of
approximately HK$507,000 (2022: HK$654,000).

E &R ATTHR 34978 % 507,000 (= F

— 4 @ B#654,0007T) ©

HESRKEERRATF -

it ek S
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_ | NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
y 5 S0 5 Ak Wit B

’ FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 HEZE =T ==F+=-_A=+—HIFE
18 LEASES 18 #HE
This note provides information for leases where the Group is a AHIFEHIAEBIEAERBAZHEERR o
lessee.
(@ Amounts recognised in the consolidated (@) RAEEHMBRARBRAZEHE
statement of financial position
The consolidated statement of financial position shows the FEMBIKRAKEYEESHBN 2R
following amounts relating to leases: LU
As a lessee ERABEA
2023 2022
—E-= ==
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT
Right-of-use assets ERAEEE
Motor vehicle pat 1,326 =
Properties LES 16,033 29,283
17,359 29,283
Lease liabilities HEEE
Current B 14,319 12,722
Non-current JERED 3,549 17,193
17,868 29,915
The additions of the right-of-use assets was HK$1,602,000 FRILEE AR E ERBE1,602,0007T
during the year (2022: Nil). (ZZZ=F &)
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 HEZE — T =+ _A=+—HItFE

18 LEASES (Continued) 18 HE#E
(b) Amounts recognised in the consolidated (b) AFREERREMEEKGERE
statement of profit or loss and other RZTH

comprehensive income

The consolidated statement of profit or loss and other FeEERkHEMEARKSK2YHEHES
comprehensive income shows the following amounts EENSEOT -
related to leases:

2023 2022
—E-= =
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
Bt & BEETT BT T
Depreciation charge of ERAREEZIEER
right-of-use assets
Motor vehicle E 267 =
Properties S 12,840 13,171
9 13,107 13,171
Interest expenses (included in FMERZGFATKER)
finance costs) 11 1,054 1,610
Expenses relating to short-term REREREATGIA
leases (included in administrative TR
expenses) 9 677 1,250
The total cash outflow for leases for the year was FRNEBEERENE S REEEOA
approximately HK$14,945,000 (2022: HK$15,815,000). B #14,945,0000 (ZE = —F ¢« B

15,815,0007T) °
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 & ZE — T —=F+_A=+—HILtFE

18 LEASES (Continued) 18 HAE(E

(c) The Group’s leasing activities (c) AEEMHEETH

The Group leases offices and motor vehicle. Rental
contracts are typically made for fixed periods of 2.5 to 3
years except for short-term leases.

Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and
contain a wide range of different terms and conditions. The
lease agreements do not impose any covenants other than
the security interests in the leased assets that are held by
the lessor. Leased assets may not be used as security for
borrowing purposes.

Termination options

Termination options are included in a number of property
and equipment leases across the Group. These are used
to maximise operational flexibility in terms of managing
the assets used in the Group’s operations. The majority of
termination options held are exercisable by both parties.

HUANXI MEDIA GROUP LIMITED - Annual Report 2023
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 i ZE—ZE =+ _-_A=+—H Jtif“

19 BREE

Software
development
License costs Total
AR BHRRRAK kel
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BT BT
At 1 January 2022 W-ZE-—%#—HF—H
Cost B% 858 24,165 25,023
Accumulated amortisation ZEEH (858) (21,749) (22,607)
Net book amount RHEFE - 2,416 2416
Year ended 31 December 2022 BE_Z-_—_F+-_A=1+—HLIEFE
Opening net book amount HOEmFE = 2,416 2416
Amortisation charge (Note 9) BB R (:9) - (2,288) (2,288)
Exchange differences EHER - (128) (128)
Closing net book amount HAEmFE = = =
At 31 December 2022 RZE-—#+-A=1+—H
Cost 3% 792 22,283 23,075
Accumulated amortisation e (792) (22,283) (23,075)
Net book amount RHFE - - -
Year ended 31 December 2023 HE-ZE-=F+_-_A=+-HILEE
Opening and closing net book amount  E3%) 2 B SR B & - - -
At 31 December 2023 RZ2Z=%+-A=1-H
Cost 5% 769 21,648 22,417
Accumulated amortisation REHEH (769) (21,648) (22,417

Net book amount

Amortisation charge are included in cost of revenue of Nil (2022:

HK$2,288,000).

REFE - - -

BEERGARBIRART (T
75 #2,288,0007T) °
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 HZ — T —=F+_-_A=+—HItFE

N

20 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 20 REFEIHNERMIA

The Group holds the following financial instruments: REEFETYSHT
2023 2022
—E-= =
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT IT
Financial assets SRMEE
Financial assets at amortised cost: REHEA T ENSRIEE
Trade receivables FEURER SR 24,554 62,571
Other financial assets at amortised cost R SR AR
AEMNEtMESREE 63,960 177,288
Cash and cash equivalents RekHeEE 310,146 53,634
Financial assets at FVTPL: BAFEFABRZEMEE -
Film rights investments BEXRERE 193,673 244,731
Hong Kong listed equity securities BELTRAES - 65
592,333 538,289
Financial liabilities A= =N
Financial liabilities at amortised cost: REEA T ENSRIAE
Trade and other payables JRE AT B R B EL At P A< RRIE (147,461) (128,946)
Film investment funds from investors REFREENEZIRERIE (535,195) (524,471)
Amount due to a related party Nt — R RiEA LA - (182)
Borrowings &k - (108,267)
Lease liabilities HEBRE (17,868) (29,915)
Financial liabilities at FVTPL: BERAFEGFABS ERMAE
Film rights investments BYRERE (942) (970)
(701,466) (792,751)
The Group’s exposure to various risks associated with the AEEF R TERZNSERBNMES
financial instruments is disclosed in Note 3.1. The maximum BE - MEPAROKAEERRHO AL
exposure to credit risk at the end of the reporting period is the SHeMEENEREE -
carrying amounts of each class of financial assets mentioned
above.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 i ZE—ZE =+ _-A=+— Emiﬁ

21 PREPAYMENTS FOR FILM AND TV
PROGRAMMES RIGHTS

21 EXRERBIREFREMN K

2023 2022
—EC-=F ==
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Non-current FERB
Prepayments for film and TV programmes F'F‘?J%EP 2B REBREIRETE
rights under development (Note a) 5k (M sEa) 387,152 449,968
Current E
Prepayments for film and TV programmes SR 2 B N BIRBIMRETE
rights under production (Note b) (B RED) - 363,722
Total ik 387,152 813,690
Notes: MizE
(@  The prepayments for film and TV programmes rights under (@ HABRPZETREEBRERNRIIEASER

development represent the prepayments made by the Group to
respective parties in relation to the film and TV programmes rights
which is yet to be concluded. The prepayments will form part of the
contribution by the Group for the investments in the proposed film
and TV programmes rights. The related terms will be further agreed
between the respective parties upon the signing of the agreements.

((9)] The prepayment for film and TV programmes rights under production
represents prepayments made by the Group in relation to the
distribution right, broadcasting right, new media broadcasting right and
related income rights of films.

REARTRONEZREREIRERASTELZ
BNR - ZEBRAFEERAEBEHEEY
RERBIREREZ D HE - HBGERKH
BTN REBRE-SETE °

ZEUER ZEY RERBIRETRMN FIEAEE
PREF R EITR - N - AR U R AR
B Uk a5 E E HH RV TR R
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¢ FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 HZE—E - =F+-A=+—HILFE
22 FILM AND TV PROGRAMMES RIGHTS 22 EXRERBIRAE
2023 2022
—E-=HE B F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BEETIT
Completed film and TV programmes rights Bl B kL ERE RE
(Note a) ) 566,362 37,725
Film and TV programmes rights under BUER 2 B REBREIMRE
production (Notes a and e) (MfsEake) 495,008 600,234
Film rights investments (Notes b and c) B RERE (f3Ebke)
- Financial assets at FVTPL - BAFEFABRRZ
TRbEE 193,673 244,731
- Financial liabilities at FVTPL - EAVEFAEBZZ
cRaE (942) (970)
Licensed film and TV programmes rights B B RERBIRE
(Note d) (SE) 79,908 56,102
1,334,009 937,822
Represented by: EVly=T
Non-current assets IEMBNEE 294,981 144,887
Current assets mEEE 1,039,970 793,905
Current liabilities mBAaE (942) (970)
1,334,009 937,822
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22 FILM AND TV PROGRAMMES RIGHTS 22 E¥XRERBEIREE)
(Continued)
Completed Film and TV Licensed
fimand TV  programmes film and TV
programmes  rights under Filmrights  programmes
rights production  Investments rights
(Note a) (Notes aand e) (Note b) (Note d) Total
BEXRZEYR BEFZEY ERECEY
EREINE EREGE EBYHERE ERAINE
GRE) (Hitake) (Fit&kh) (i gkd) axg
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BETT BETT BETT BETT
At 1 January 2022 W-Z--%-A-H 43145 259,415 246,287 90,559 639,406
Additions b - 413,143 20,618 54,800 438,561
Changes in fair values (Note ¢) A FHEZD (M) - - (2,730 - (2.730)
Transfer & - (36,032) - - (36,032)
Amortisation (Note 9) ZH(ME9) - - - (83,991) (83,991)
Derecognition or settlement RIEEAGLEE = (2,784) (814) = (3598)
Net impairment loss (Note 9) (Note &) JB{E B8 %48 (H529) (Bizta) 2112 (3971) = = (6,083)
Exchange differences ERES (3,308) (29,537) (19,600) (5,266) (57,711)
At 31 December 2022 RZBZ_F+-A=1-H 37,725 600,234 243,761 56,102 937,822
Additions iE B 357,026 463,669 77,220 42,408 940,323
Changes in fair values (Note ¢) AHEE (M) - - (79,343) - (79,343)
Transfer i 549,159 (549,159) - - -
Amortisation (Note 9) 2 (F1:9) (271,142) - - (17,996) (289,138)
Derecognition or settlement BIRAIEE - - (42,240) - (42,240)
Net impairment loss (Note 9) (Note &) B /&518F & (M719) (i :a) (103,138) (3,058) - - (106,196)
Exchange differences ERES (3,268) (16,678) (6,667) (606) (27,219)
At 31 December 2023 RZBZZ§+ZA=+-8 566,362 495,008 192,731 79,908 1,334,009
BEEERESERRAT - —FE-=FFRH 179
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22 FILM AND TV PROGRAMMES RIGHTS
(Continueq)

Notes:

@

180

During the year, the Group recognised a net provision for impairment
of completed film and TV programmes rights of approximately
HK$103,138,000 (2022: HK$2,112,000) and film and TV programmes
rights under production of approximately HK$3,058,000 (2022:
HK$3,971,000).

The balance represents the Group’s investments in film productions
which entitled the Group to predetermined percentage of income to
be generated from the films based on the Group’s investment portion
as specified in respective film rights investments agreements.

During the year, the Group recognised film investment loss, net,
amounted to approximately HK$79,343,000 (2022: HK$2,730,000) based
on the Group’s investment portion as specified in respective film rights
investments agreements.

The balance represents the acquired license rights from independent
third parties for broadcasting licensed films or TV programmes series
on the Group’s online video platform and sub-licensing the license
rights to other independent third parties, if applicable.

The Group has entered into certain joint operation arrangements
to produce and distribute two films (2022: three). The Group has
participating interests ranging from 50% to 55% (2022: 50% t0 75%)
in these joint operations. As at 31 December 2023, the carrying
amounts of intangible assets recognised in the consolidated statement
of financial position relating to the Group’s interests in these joint
operation arrangements are approximately HK$104,905,000 (2022:
HK$371,297,000).
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 HEZE — T =+ _A=+—HItFE

22 FILM AND TV PROGRAMMIES RIGHTS

(Continued)

Accounting policies of film and TV
programmes rights

Film and TV programmes rights under production

Film and TV programmes rights under production are carried at
cost, less accumulated impairment loss, if any. Cost includes
all direct costs associated with the production of film and TV
programmes rights.

Film and TV programmes rights under production are transferred
to “Completed film and TV programmes rights” upon completion
of production.

Ccompleted film and TV programmes rights

Completed film and TV programmes rights are carried at cost,
less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment
losses, if any. The cost of film and TV programmes rights is
apportioned between the exhibition and licensing, if applicable.
In case that apportionment is applied, the cost related to
exhibition is expensed on a straight-line basis over the shorter
of estimated useful lives or the first public exhibition period.
The cost related to licensing is expensed on a straight-line basis
over the shorter of estimated useful lives or the underlying
license periods. The apportionment, estimated useful lives
and amortisation are subject to management’s review at the
end of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in
estimation being accounted for on a prospective basis.

EXRERBIREE)

i
i

BB E 2T BER

TR

B 2 BYR BRBIRH

SUER 2 BE R EGBIRIER K AR R 5
BEEBIWE) AR - KABERSEEZLE
BEINRERBE 2 PIEEEAA -

SUER ZBEE R BRI RER BETA R 8
BREEZKZEY R ERBIRE] -

EXHZ B R ERBIRE

EEKZER R ERB RER K AR R 5+ #
R REFHREREWA) IR - EXRERE
RV 22 7S R TRBR e I A o0 8 (ANGE ) © B3R
R # LB - RITRARARBE RN AN B ARA R
AET A EAFRR A EARPOABREE HE)
SIERIST - RAEARRARANE A B ARA R A AT
] {6 P 4 B sk AR R IR B A BRE 3B B ) B HE
FASC o D EELLD] - Rt ERFE RN REHEE
MNEEREPREERERMN - EAEHAE
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22 FILM AND TV PROGRAMMES RIGHTS

(Continued)

Accounting policies of film and TV
programmes rights (Continued)

Film rights investments

Film rights investments are the Group’s investments in film
production project which entitles the Group to share certain
percentage of income to be generated from the related film
based on the Group’s investment portion as specified in
respective film rights investments agreements but the Group
has no control nor joint control over the investments. Film rights
investments are carried at fair value.

Licensed film and TV programmes rights

Licensed film and TV programmes rights represent the Group’s
investment in film and TV programmes rights licenses. The Group
acquired the licensed rights from outsiders for broadcasting of
films or TV programmes series on its online video platform or
sub-licensing the license rights to other parties, if applicable.
Licensed film and TV programmes rights are carried at cost, less
accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses,
if any.

Licensed film and TV programmes rights are amortised on a
straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives up to two
years. The estimated useful life and amortisation method are
reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of
any changes in estimation being accounted for on a prospective
basis.

Derecognition

Film and TV programmes rights are derecognised on disposal,
or when no future economic benefits are expected from use or
disposal. Gains and losses arising from derecognition of film and
TV programmes rights are recognised in profit or loss when the
asset is derecognised.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 & EZE —E =+ -A=+—H Jtir

22 FILM AND TV PROGRAMMES RIGHTS

(Continued)

Impairment assessment of film and TV
programmes rights

For film and TV programmes rights under production and
completed ones with impairment indicators identified,
management has performed impairment assessment using the
value in use (“VIU") method, which is calculated based on the
present value of future cash flows directly generated by the
relevant film and TV programmes rights.

When estimating the future cash flows to be generated by
the relevant film and TV programmes rights, management
considers inputs including but not limited to revenue streams
from different distribution channels such as theatrical release,
television release or internet release, the expected timing of
various revenue streams, and production and distribution costs.

When discounting the future cash flows in the VIU projections,
management has used pre-tax discount rate of 15%, which
reflected time value of money and specific risks of the relevant
industries.

For film and TV programmes rights under production, impairment
of approximately HK$3,058,000 were recognised in cost of
revenue during the years ended 31 December 2023 based on
management’s assessment.

For completed film and TV programmes rights, impairment
of approximately HK$103,138,000 were recognised in cost of
revenue with respect to a completed film and a completed TV
programme based on their expected revenue performances in
the box office and sub-licensing revenue streams with reference
to anticipated market capacity.
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/ FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 & ZE — T - =F+_-A=+—HI-FE

23 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, 23 EWRFIKREMEVRRIE - &#E
DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS )SEEENEN
2023 2022
—_E-= — g
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
Trade receivables JFE U AR 3R
- Share of box office income - HDhHERRA 1,007 1,091
= Sub-licensing of film and TV programmes - D EEZLREBREIRE
rights 16,615 7,839
= Film rights investments - BXMERE 8,864 63,653
- Others - H 37 116
26,523 72,699
Loss allowances (Note 3.1(b)) s tE R (M1 5E3.1(h) (1,969) (10,128)
24,554 62,571
Deposits e 6,227 5,060
Prepayments (Note a) SENEAGEE)) 25,599 113,636
Other receivables (Notes b and ¢) H b WA (M sEb o) 86,168 190,905
Loss allowances (Note 3.1(b)) B E B 5 (B 5E3.1(0) (18,586) (8,349)
99,408 301,252
123,962 363,823
Represented by: EVly=T
Trade receivables FEULAR X 24,554 62,571
Deposits e 906 668
Prepayments TERTK 10,668 39,443
Other receivables o fE Wk IE 86,168 190,905
Loss allowances EIE A (18,425) (8,214)
Current portion BIHAES 5 103,871 285,373
Deposits 2e 5,321 4,392
Prepayments SELNEN 14,931 74,193
Loss allowances ik (161) (135)
Non-current portion JERNEREL o 20,091 78,450
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 i ZE—ZE =+ _-_A=+—H Jtif“

23 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES,
DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS (Continued)

Notes:

@

The prepayments mainly represent the prepayments made by the
Group in relation to a) pre-production development of identifiable
film and TV programme projects; b) acquisition of licensed film rights
from independent third parties for broadcasting on the Group's online
video platform; and c) co-membership arrangement with other online
platforms operated by different business partners.

As at 31 December 2023, other receivables included short-term loan
receivables net of loss allowances of approximately HK$18,899,000
(2022: HK$28,131,000), which represented by the loan receivables from
independent third parties of Nil (2022: HK$9,326,000) carried interest at
10% per annum, approximately HK$18,899,000 (2022: HK$18,805,000)
carried interest at 6% per annum.

As at 31 December 2022, other receivables amounted to
HK$71,000,000 were used to secure borrowings amounted to
HK$74,434,000 (Note 28).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

% 1 B B ¥ R W Rk

23 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES,

DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS (Continued)

Trade and other receivables, deposits and prepayments are

=T A=1+—HLEFE

FEW R
&ﬁﬂ#wf )

R Lt FE UL R

RIE - BRE

JE U BR TR e E At FR WK~ 1 RIS

denominated in the following currencies: IATNFEEEE -
2023 2022
—E-= = S
HK$'000 HK$'000
BEET T BT T
RMB AR 76,155 213,267
HKS okt 33,787 131,341
usD E& 14,020 19,215
123,962 363,823
At 31 December, the ageing analysis of the trade receivables, net R+ZA=+—8 ' BREZRGOREE&

of loss allowances, based on invoice date or date of settlement

BREZANMABERRAYZREDTN

statement are as follows: ™

2023 2022
—_E-= —ET=-=

HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BEETIT
0— 30 days 0%230H 3,400 625
3190 days 31£90H 7,092 -
91— 180 days 912 180H 15 778
Over 365 days 365H A £ 14,047 61,168
24,554 62,571

The credit period is generally within 30 days from invoice date
or the date when the settlement statement is duly confirmed as
stipulated in the respective agreements.

Due to the short-term nature of the current receivables, their
carrying amounts are approximated their fair values.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 1
GEMBMERE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 i ZE—ZE =+ _-_A=+—H Jtif“

24 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE 24 BAFEFABRZEMEE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS
The Group classifies equity investments that are held for trading REEBFIEX S 2 REREDERIRAF
as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss. BEif ABEZESRBE -
Financial assets mandatorily measured at FVTPL include the A FEGABZTERN T EEW
following: e
2023 2022
—EC-=F —E—_—
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT
Hong Kong listed equity securities BELTRAES - 65
Amounts recognised in profit or 10ss RIEa B &5
During the year, the following gain/(loss) were recognised in FAN - TR (B518) BERIBSER ¢

profit or loss:

2023 2022
—E-= —E-—
HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BT T
Net fair value gain/(loss) on equity investments 1z AF Bzt A Bz 2 IRERE R
at FVTPL recognised in other gains, net Hitnl s - FEBR A TE
(Note 8) Wzs, (518) 7 58 (1 7E8) 22,088 (1,169)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 #{ £ =& =

25 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

=T A=1+—HLEFE

25 BERkAEEE

2023 2022

—E-= —E-—F

HK$'000 HK$'000

BET T BEETIT

Cash at banks RITIHE 310,067 53,565
Cash on hand FENRE 79 69
310,146 53,634

Cash and cash equivalents are denominated in the following
currencies:

RBeLREFETIATINEEE

2023 2022
—E-= —EF-—

HK$'000 HK$'000

BET T BT T

HK$ ki 37,969 5,356
RMB ARE 265,609 41,835
Others Hpb 6,568 6,443
310,146 53,634

Bank balances and cash comprised of cash held by the Group
and short-term bank deposits that are interest-bearing ranging
from 0.01% t0 0.41% (2022: 0.01% t0 0.35%) per annum and have
original maturity of three months or less.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group has cash and bank
balances amounting to approximately HK$271,989,000 (2022:
HK$48,253,000) which are held in the PRC. These cash and
bank balances are subject to the rule and regulations of foreign
exchange control promulgated by the PRC government.
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26 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 26 ENERFREMESR

2023 2022

—E=-= —E-F

HK$'000 HK$'000

BET T BT T

Trade payables FERTER K 110,002 117,847
Other payables H Ath fE T 5RI8 50,988 24,350
Accruals FEETE R 13,787 2,834
174,777 145,031
The carrying amounts of trade and other payables are F’Eﬁﬁﬁ KR EL M R FOIE R BREE B E A

approximated their fair values. BEE

At 31 December, the ageing analysis of the trade payables based

R+ZA=+—8 ENEXREREZRAH

on invoice date or date of settlement statement are as follows: NEERRBIBEY 2R OTOT -
2023 2022
:g: = ="
HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BEEFIT
0—30 days 0%£30H 2,958 3,073
181 — 365 days 1812 365H - 170
Over 365 days 365H A £ 107,044 114,604
110,002 117,847
Trade and other payables are denominated in the following FERTBR R R At FE N RIETY A T3 B ¥ 5t
currencies: & :
2023 2022
—ZE:=-= —E——
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BETIT
RMB AR 154,841 134,092
HK$ ot 19,936 10,939
174,777 145,031
BEEHEEAERAR - —B==

——=
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 & ZE — T —=F+_A=+—HILtFE

27 FILM INVESTMENT FUNDS FROM 27 REREENEFRENIE
INVESTORS
The amounts represent investments made by certain investors in ZERIBRE THREEREAEBEMFBETR
respect of film rights held by the Group. In accordance with the BEHBNIRE - REBEBARE HEAOBKRK -
terms of the respective investment agreements, the investors REEEEERELEENLADEEZ AR
are entitled to recoup their investment amounts as appropriate A% 1 BB EE AE RO WA AN B 3% E SRR (403
by the predetermined percentage of income to be generated ) - Z5eRaEIREHERANTE -
from the theatrical release of the films. The financial liabilities
were measured at amortised cost.
During the year, the Group recognised a loss on film investment FRN - AEEREEERER G LHREER
funds from investors amounted to approximately HK$268,210,000 REREENEZRERBEZEBBEOBE
(2022: Nil) upon the theatrical release of the respective film 268,210,000t (ZBE-—F : @)  RHAZSE
because certain film investors invested film rights held by the TEXREEREAEEMBTELRE - M
Group which income distributed by the Group to these investors BERRE LME  NEERESRAZEFER
after the theatrical release of the films was more than the BEMNRASRETWEREREFRIE - AR
investment funds received. Therefore, the Group needed to SEERRRAREENEFRERIBZE
recognise loss on film investment funds from investors. B
28 BORROWINGS 28 B
2023 2022
—=E-= =
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T ST IT
Unsecured borrowing IR E K - 33,833
Secured borrowings (Note) BEIPEFK D) - 74,434
- 108,267
Note: As at 31 December 2022, the borrowings were secured by other MisE - T ZF+ZA=+—H  ZEBZA

receivables of HK$71,000,000 (Note 23).

As at 31 December 2022, except for a borrowing amounted
to HK$33,833,000 is interest-bearing at 4.35% per annum, the
borrowings were interest-free and repayable within one year.

Due to the short-term nature of the borrowings, their carrying
amounts are approximated their fair values.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 i ZE—ZE =+ _-_A=+—H Jtif“

29 DEFERRED INCOME TAX

The analysis of deferred income tax is as follows:

9 EEFEH

BEEFBRAMAT

N
'\g,
\\ . /’

4 .‘e“}\

hd

L

2023 2022
—E-= ==
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT
Deferred tax assets BRI EE 2,952 7,837
Deferred tax liabilities REFTEAE (2,532) (19,949)
420 (12,112)
Movements on the deferred income tax account are as follow: BELEASHER 2ZEHOT
Deferred tax assets
ELEHEEE
Changes in
fair value of
film rights Lease
Tax loss  investments liabilities Total
PEEE ZATEED HESE HE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BT BT BEFT
At 1 January 2022 R-Z-_—4F—F—H 7,270 - 7,270
Credited to consolidated FTALREEER
statement of profit or loss Hip2EKER
and other comprehensive
income 1,162 - 1,162
Exchange differences R ER (595) - (595)
At 31 December 2022 i
+-A=+—H 7,837 = 7,837
At 1 January 2023 R-ZE-=%—-8A—H 7,837 - 7,837
(Charged)/credited to (B A) A ALZE B
consolidated statement REMEEK T
of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income (7,661) 330 2,613 (4,718)
Exchange differences fEHER (176) - (167)
At 31 December 2023 N-ZE-=%
+-A=+—H - 330 2,622 2,952
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29 DEFERRED INCOME TAX (Continued) 29 EEFIEB(E)
Movements on the deferred income tax account are as follow FRIEPTERER 2 ST (&)
(Continued):

Deferred tax liabilities

EEBBREE
Changes in
fair value of
filmrights  Right-of-use
investments assets Total
ZATFERE EREEE e
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T BT T
At 1 January 2022 R-ZE-—F—H—H (21,947) - (21,947)
Credited to consolidated statement st A4RA 1Bz KR
of profit or loss and other Hitt2mlER
comprehensive income 298 - 298
Exchange differences fEHZ% 1,700 - 1,700
At 31 December 2022 RZE_—F
+—A=+—H (19,949) - (19,949)
At 1 January 2023 R-Z2E-=%—HA—H (19,949) - (19,949)
Credited/(charged) to consolidated &+ A (k% B) 4R & 1B
statement of profit or loss and NEM 2 EWR R
other comprehensive income 19,505 (2,670) 16,835
Exchange differences EHER 444 138 582
At 31 December 2023 R-B-=F
+=BA=+—H - (2,532) (2,532)
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DEFERRED INCOME TAX (Continued)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unrecognised
tax losses of HK$693,744,000 (2022: HK$936,750,000) available
for offset against future profits of which the amount of
approximately HK$587,587,000 (2022: HK$503,580,000) may be
carried forward indefinitely and the amount of HK$106,157,000
(2022: HK$433,170,000) will be expired in five years from the year
of assessment.

Deferred income tax liabilities of approximately HK$17,498,000
(2022: HK$3,759,000) have not been provided for the withholding
tax that would be payable on the unremitted earnings
of subsidiaries of approximately HK$174,980,000 (2022:
HK$37,589,000) in the PRC. The unremitted earnings are used
for reinvestment. The income tax liability is not recognised,
because the Group is able to control the timing of the reversal of
the temporary differences and it is probable that the temporary
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

9 EEFFEHR(E)

P = =1 B N N R T e v S S ]
ZABRREEE BB 693,744,0007T
(ZZT = — 4% : B%936,750,0007T) * &
BB 587,587,000L (—FE - —

75 #503,580,0007T) AJ & [R Hi 45 88 K A X
BE106,157,000c(Z 2 —F : B
433,170,0007T) #% B :EH F E BT A F N E
e

BIEPTISTR A ERE¥17,498,000t (=T =
— 4 : JB3,759,0007T) I £ BA B E 2 B AR
B 1 22 1) 40 7 16 174,980,000t (Z T ==
76 #37,589,0007T) X B & 2 RN TR 51 12
Bk - RELENDARBRE - IEHREA
BARTHER  SEAKEREHE %U%é‘@i’*%
ZRZBEHAERZENA R RRERE
SEM -

SHARE CAPITAL 30 IR
Number
of shares Share capital
R EE [N
HK$'000
BT T
ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each SREEBE0.01T2EER
Authorised: EIE
At 1 January 2022, 31 December 2022, R-—ZE-_—_F—HF—H8-
1 January 2023 and 31 December 2023 - —F+-A=+—8"
—FZ=F—-H—HK
—E-=F+-"A=+—H 50,000,000,000 500,000
Issued and fully paid: ERITRHRE :
At 1 January 2022, 31 December 2022, RZEZ=—F—H—QH "
1 January 2023 and 31 December 2023 —E-_F+=-A=+—8"
—E-=F—-A—-HEK
—E-=F+=-RA=+—H 3,656,472,362 36,565

BEEHEEEEARAA -
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 HEZE =T ==F+=-_A=+—HIFE
RESERVES 31 #fE
Attributable to owners of the Company
KRRBEEAES
Share-based Accumulated
Share payment Translation losses
premium reserve reserve (Note) Total
MRGRER B4
B3 &E ARz ERfE (iE) fag
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BT BT BT BETT
At 1 January 2022 i S = 3,506,614 101,615 89,896 (2,079,421 1,618,704
Loss for the year TEEER - - - (221,812) (221,812)
Other comprehensive loss Eh2ESS - - (105,021) - (105,021)
Total comprehensive loss for the year ~ AFEZABELR - - (105,021) (221812) (326,833
At 31 December 2022 RZE-—#+-A=1+-H 3,506,614 101,615 (15,125) (2,301,233) 1,291.871
At 1 January 2023 RZE-=F-f-H 3,506,614 101,615 (15,125) (2,301,233) 1,291,871
Profit for the year TEERA - - - 159,135 159,135
Other comprehensive oss E2EBE - - (34,003) - (34,003)
Total comprehensive income/(loss) AEEZME
for the year Wi/ (BREE - - (34,003) 159,135 125,132
At 31 December 2023 RZZ-=%+-B=+-H 3,506,614 101,615 (49,128) (2,142,098) 1,417,003
Note: The capital reserve arising from the Group reorganisation represented i : SEEAEEZENFEBIDIERRBAZBHN

194

the difference between the nominal value of the share capital issued
by the Company in exchange for the aggregate nominal values of
the share capital of the subsidiaries amounted to approximately
HK$2,099,000 (2022: HK$2,099,000) is included in the accumulated
losses.

The contributed surplus represented the aggregate amounts of
capital reduction and share premium cancellation attributable to the
capital restructuring and the capital reorganisation of the Company
during prior years amounted to approximately HK$149,220,000 (2022:
HK$149,220,000) is included in accumulated losses.
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BRARBRAMBITZRAZEELAGEHEBER
AR AN BEE 2 Z L ERE2,099,000(=ZF =
—F ¢ #¥2,099,0007T) s AREHEE ©

BEHBBIEARANBAETERBRANERRR
NEWREEZEXRBREBRG S EFHNE
S RH) B 149,220,000 (Z T = —F : B
149,220,0007T) * s ARETEIE ©
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32 NOTE TO CASH FLOW STATEMENT

32 BEREBERME

2023 2022
—E-= B
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
Profit/(loss) before tax MRBLADEF (B518) 212,085 (223,272)
Adjustments for: M EIERE
Depreciation of property, plant and Wz - BEREZHBEITE
equipment 507 654
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FRABEEEZINE 13,107 13,171
Amortisation of film and TV programmes B M ERBIMAE 2 B8
rights 289,138 83,991
Amortisation of intangible assets B EE CHHE - 2,288
Net impairment losses on film and TV B R ERBINRE 2 RIEEE
programmes rights FER 106,196 6,083
Net impairment losses on financial assets TREENAGNEEZRER
and contract assets B 3,384 8,491
Pre-production development costs A A RLVE A B A AR - 13,889
Gain on disposal of property, plant and HEWE - KEREH W=
equipment (319) -
Gain on dissolution of subsidiaries S S EYNCId 6 - (1,446)
Finance costs, net WEER - 558 787 2,061
Net fair value (gain)/loss on financial assets BATEFAEBSCEREE
at FVTPL B AFEM) BB (22,088) 1,169
Loss on film investment funds from investors RKEREENBTXIREREZ
& B 268,210 =
Operating cash flows before working LEESEHPR L KERERE
capital changes 871,007 (92,921)
Changes in working capital: EEESEE
Trade and other receivables, deposits and JE 5 AR SR B EL A JRE WK IR
prepayments Ee RIBEMNR 90,783 164,474
contract assets HBRIEBE (47,049) 119
Film and TV programmes rights B RERBIRE (343,947) (472,150)
Prepayments of film and TV programmes BE R EEBIMRETAR K
rights 50,886 38,968
Trade and other payables FE AT BR 3R I E A FE S 5RIE 38,792 (37,366)
Film investment funds from investors REKEENEFIRENRE (246,328) 351,493
Contract liabilities aHAaE (28,235) 1,026
Cash generated from/(used in) operations #& % ¥3% fr
EE/ (FrER)zRE 385,909 (46,357)

BEEHEEEEARAA -
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32 NOTE TO CASH FLOW STATEMENT 32 REREXRWFE)
(Continued)
In the consolidated statement of cash flows, proceeds from REBHRESRERAN  HEME BERK
disposal of property, plant and equipment comprise: HRTERIERE
2023 2022
—E-=F = S
HK$'000 HK$'000
BEET T BT T
Cost disposed HE KA 557 328
Accumulated depreciation REHTE (545) (328)
Gain on disposal of property, HEMH - KE REE W
plant and equipment 319 -
331 -
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32 NOTE TO CASH FLOW STATEMENT
(Continueq)

(@) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from
financing activities

32 WERERMT(E)

(@) REMEES2REYHK

Interest
payable
included in Amount
other  Borrowings duetoa Lease

payables (Note 28)  related party liabilities Total

HPN:L

Ef7E EE Eft—%

ZERFIE (Hit28) BEALFE HEaE fag
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BETT BT BETT BETT
At 1 January 2022 R-ZE--F—f—H - 100,281 15,137 22,509 137,927
Financing cash flows, net BERSRE  FE - 16,204 (14,955) (14,565) (13,316)
Lease modification REBET - - - 20,933 20933
Accrued interest expenses EHFIERX 4,295 - - 1,610 5,905
Exchange differences BEHER (110) (8,218) - (572) (8,900)
At 31 December 2022 RZEZZF+-A=T—-H 4,185 108,267 182 29915 142,549
At 1 January 2023 R-B=-=%-A-H 4,185 108,267 182 29,915 142,549
Financing cash flows, net BERERE TR (7,960) (105,843) (182) (14,268) (128,253)
Addition on lease liabilities REEEEM - - - 1,602 1,602
Accrued interest expenses [ERFIS A% 3,869 - - 1,054 4,923
Exchange differences ERES (94) (2,424) - (435) (2,953)
At 31 December 2023 R=B-=f+-A=+-AH - - - 17,868 17,868

The table above details changes in the Group’s liabilities
arising from financing activities, including both cash
and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing
activities are those for which cash flows were, or future
cash flows will be, classified in the Group'’s consolidated
statement of cash flows as cash flows from financing
activities.

FRAVNAEERREETHELEZEE
2 BRERSMIFRSED - BETE
PEAZBBHERSMEBIAKEELR
EANAEEBGEHERERTHER
BEEELECReRECAE -
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32 NOTE TO CASH FLOW STATEMENT
(Continueq)

(@) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from
financing activities (Continued)

32 BE&ERERKFEFHE)

(a) REMEEB2REHKRGE)

Non-cash investing activities HELRETE
2023 2022
—EC-=F = S
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Lease modification HEEE] - (20,933)
33 COMMITMENTS 33 &I
2023 2022
—E-=F —=E-—
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT IT
Commitments in respect of the acquisition MIEEREE N B8 B bR AE
and production of film and TV programmes FR{E 2 # I (BRI QM AR ER
rights contracted for but not provided inthe & Bf & 3RhR ##)
consolidated financial statements 284,915 328,679
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34 SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

Share option scheme

Pursuant to the resolution passed at the annual general meeting
held on 17 June 2014, the Company'’s shareholders approved
the adoption of a share option scheme (the “Scheme”). The
Scheme became valid and effective for a period of 10 years
commencing on 17 June 2014. The Company operates the
Scheme for the purpose of providing incentives and rewards to
eligible participants who have made or may make contribution
to the Group. The eligible participants of the Scheme include the
Company’s or its subsidiaries’ directors, employees, and any
business consultants, agents, financial or legal advisers and any
other persons whom the board of directors of the Company (the
“Board”) may determine, at its sole discretion, will contribute or
have contributed to the Group.

The share options may be exercised in accordance with the
terms of the Scheme at any time within the period commencing
from the date of grant of the share options and expiring on the
date determined by the Company’s directors, but in any event
such exercise period shall not be more than 10 years from the
date of grant of the share options. The amount payable on the
acceptance of a share option is HK$1 (or such other nominal
sum in any currency as the board of directors of the Company
may determine).

The exercise price of the share options shall be determined by
the board of directors of the Company, but shall not be less than
the highest of (i) the closing price of the Company’s shares as
stated in the Stock Exchange's daily quotations sheet on the date
of grant, which must be a business day; (i) the average closing
price of the Company’s shares as stated in the Stock Exchange's
daily quotations sheets for the five business days immediately
preceding the date of grant; and (iii) the nominal value of the
Company's share.

The maximum number of shares in the Company in respect of
which the share options may be granted under the Scheme and
any other share option schemes of the Company is not permitted
to exceed 10% of the issued share capital of the Company
as at the date of approval of the Scheme by the Company’s
shareholders (the “Scheme Mandate Limit"), or, if such 10%
limit is refreshed, as at the date of approval of the renewal of
the Scheme Mandate Limit by the Company’s shareholders.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, the maximum number of the
Company'’s shares which may be issued upon exercise of all
outstanding share options granted and yet to be exercised
under the Scheme and any other share option schemes of the
Company shall not exceed 30% of the Company'’s shares in issue
from time to time.

34 IR RER 2K

BRETE

RERXR-_ZF-—OFATEABRTZERRE
FRELBBIRZBR  NARRRBLER
M—IEERREET B (%At 8l - ZAt8lE =%
—OEXNATEARER  BRHPRTEF -
RRBRILZET S - AR B BB E KA
EREHAKEELEMZABER2EE - %
AHEZAERSEEREARBHEKE AR
AZEE  EE  UREMEHER K2
A BBIERERRARREZTS((EF
NA2ENBRAHAKRESEH TR
EEHERZEREMAL -

BRETERLBREZAEEANAES
B Z B I HE AR RIEZ AT 8RR T
PATTE - HEZITREBEEEBER TS
BEREAEERE L BEETF - ZRBKR
RENSE/BBIT(RARAEEEA R
BEZNEMEEHEZEMRBESH) -

BEREZTEERARAESSETE  ED
BERUTZERE : )(ARRBRMHREL A
H(WARE R B)ER PN B MR a2 W
B (NARBRODREEE BRI AEZ
XEEBIAERKRMAE ZFHRME &
(iR BB 2 E1E -

RIBZ AT 8 N R R REfa] A At B8 A 4 51 81 AT
BEREZBERESENARBRN&ESEE
NERBARBRRIEZEE B ALQF
BEBITRAR10%([5 B ERER]) - S
10%PRFEAE EH - A NSEBIBA L ABRRL
HEEHEEERBE BARAERTRA
H10% ° BE A LARTE - RIBEZEIRAR
AEMEMBEREFEEREERRITE L
P B R T (RS ] T 31T 2 AR AR D
RERHETEEBARATEHEHTRMK
30% °
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34 SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Continued) 34

Share option scheme (Continued)

The total number of shares of the Company already issued and
to be issued upon exercise of all the share options granted to
each participant in any 12-month period up to and including
the date such new grant is not permitted to exceed 1% of the
total number of the Company’s shares in issue as at the date
of such grant. Any further grant of share options in excess of
this 1% limit shall be subject to the approval of the Company’s
shareholders in general meeting.

Each grant of share options to a substantial shareholder or an
independent non-executive director of the Company or any of
their respective associates in excess of 0.1% of the Company's
shares in issue and with an aggregate value in excess of
HK$5,000,000 in any 12-month period up to and including
the date of such grant must be approved in advance by the
Company's shareholders.

=T A=1+—HLEFE

URGBER 2 NE
BRETE(E

REBEEREBEABFRL AR EEM120EA
HE MEeR2BERENOMEBRERET
@Hﬁﬁi—i‘ﬁ&ﬁﬁ%ﬁéﬁzzﬁﬁ CIEESGE:S &
BEBNZE L ARARF S HTRN AR
1% ° (EE — F R HBBZ1%R A2 B
& BEANRBBRRNBERRES L1 -

R (&)

HMREBERBEABE L BB IIER12E A
HiE AR - 2T ERRA—BBIIE
HTESIARSFEAZEABREALIREZ
BREBEARFEHITRMNMN0.1%NEE

1B 42 %R 88 #55,000,0007T » BAEEAR
AR ESLHLE

Average
exercise price
per share Number of
option  share options
SOBRE
2T EE BREEE
At 1 January 2022, 31 December 2022, R-—ZT-_—_F—H—Q8- HK$2.08 130,700,000
1 January 2023 and 31 December 2023 2 _F+-_A=+—8" 75 #2.087T
—E-=F—H—HkK
—T-=%+=-A=+—H
Vested and exercisable at R-ZBEZ=FR HK$2.08 130,700,000
31 December 2023 and 2022 —E-_-F+=-A=+-—H #B#2.087T

EEBRATHE

No options was exercised or lapsed during the periods covered
by the above tables.

200 HUANXI MEDIA GROUP LIMITED - Annual Report 2023

ERFABRENHE AL EBRERETESK
e



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2, ‘
A5 71 B 55 R P R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 HEZE — T =+ _A=+—HItFE

34 SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Continued) 34 UIRHHBERZARE)
Share option scheme (Continued) BRESTEI(E
Share options outstanding at the end of the year have the FREMAITENEREZZEHA RITEEWD
following expiry date and exercise prices: ™
Grant date Expiry date Exercise price Share options
g l=h A THEE B
2023 2022

—Eg=-= —E- 4
27 April 2018 17 June 2024 HK$2.08 130,700,000 130,700,000
—E-N\FmA=-++tH —EoNERA+TER AEE2.08T
Weighted average remaining contractual life of options outstanding 0.47 years 1.47 years

at the end of period

HAR M RAT R RE AR i 2 i IR T~ & 5 HR 0.47% 1.474F
Fair value of options granted ERHEBRENLFE
The fair value at grant date is independently determined using FEHABANAFEDERALAZENR N R -
an adjusted form of the Black Scholes Model with Binomial Tree FRMNEEERE _EANEEEE(BE
Method which includes a Binomial Tree model that takes into ZIHAEEERI)EEETE - Wit ERE
account the stock price, the exercise price, the time to maturity, B 17EE - JEERE - ERRFIE - 9
the risk-free rate, the dividend yield and volatilities of comparable BB ARMRKRENEERKE I XERT
companies, the sub-optimal factor, and the forfeiture rate. NOZWER o
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34 SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Continued)

Share option scheme (Continued)

Fair value of options granted (Continued)

The model inputs for options granted in 2018 included:

@)

()

options are granted for consideration of HK$1 and vested
period of three years from the employment date of the
respective employees. Vested options are exercisable
before expiry date

exercise price: HK$2.08

grant date: 27 April 2018

expiry date: 17 June 2024

time to maturity: 6.15 years

share price at grant date: HK$2.08

risk-free interest rate: 1.91%

expected dividend yield: 0%

expected price volatility of the company’s shares: 48.38%

forfeiture rate: 0 to 16.35%

fair value per share option: HK$0.72

The expected price volatility is based on the historic volatility
(based on the remaining life of the options), adjusted for any
expected changes to future volatility due to publicly available
information.

During the year, no share-based compensation to employees
was made (2022: Nil).
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34 IR AERZNRGEE)

BRETE(E

ERUIBRER L -FE (&

—E- \FERLBRENKRA G AZIEZEE

1 -

(@) ERELARKEBBEITEL BEHBE
BEEZERBAYEA/EIIF - 25
BB AR AT ERIE B 2 ATTTE

(b) 17E(E : BEE2.087T

© BEBH: ZT-NFEHA=-++H

(d) ZHEH: ZT-mEA++H

) HBRHEARFR : 6.155F

() XL BEHNRE - B%2.087T

® mERFE:1.91%

(h TEHREKEE 0%

() ARIRHIERERKE - 48.38%

() RUE : 0%16.35%

BhERE 2 AFE : B%0T727T

B HR (B85 18 T DA R SR 0 (0 B A R £t
THEH)SER  WRBEARMAIESEMTR
HoRiE Z EFIFERE S IELARREL

FN - BERESELARGD BER Z H M
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35 RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES

The ultimate controlling parties of the Group are Mr. Dong, Mr.
Ning and Mr. Xu and the ultimate holding companies of the
Group are Newwood Investments Limited, Pacific Wits Limited
and Tairong Holdings Limited. Management of the Group are
of the view that the following individuals and companies were
related parties that had transactions or balances with the Group
as at and during the year:

Name of related parties

35 BEALRKE

AREBZHREERAFAELE BEERR
Sk AEE 2 &EER AT ANewwood
Investments Limited + 22784 R A 7] & ZR g 2
IRERAF - AEEEEERATIEAR
RABEERRATENEAARAEBREBRR S
NG BEAL -

Relationship with the Group

BEALHSE BB B EE R

Mr. Dong Executive Director

gh4 HITES

Mr. Ning Non-Executive Director

Bk A EMITES

Mr. Xu Non-Executive Director

TREAE FEMITES

Dirty Monkey (Shanghai) Culture Communication Company Limited* Controlled by Mr. Ning
(“Shanghai Dirty Monkey") H B2 2k A |

BT (B8 XbERAER AR sk
Hainan Ruri Fangsheng Film and Television Culture Communication
Company Limited* (“Hainan Ruri Fangsheng")
BEMB AR EEERAB(EEIE A D)
Khorgas Dirty Monkey Media Culture Company Limited*
(“Khorgas Dirty Monkey")
ERRENEHRFEALERAER AR (EBRMEERT D)
Tibet Jindouyun Film Company Limited* (“Tibet Jindouyun”)
AR ELRERAR(AERBIED

i For identification purposes only

BEEHEEEEARAA -

Under significant influence of Mr. Ning in
relation to the production of a film

M—BEE 2 RER BB EEBTBATE

Controlled by Mr. Ning

FRZES S

Controlled by Mr. Ning
B SR A1
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35 RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES (Continued)

(@) Related party transactions

204

On 20 December 2021, (i) the Group has entered into the
film production agreement with Hainan Ruri Fangsheng,
pursuant to which Hainan Ruri Fangsheng has conditionally
agreed to provide the film production services to the
Group in relation to the film The Movie Emperor (41 5t 4 )
(formerly known as Red Carpet (& KRB £)) (the “Film”);and
(i) the Company entered into the director agreement with
Mr. Ning, pursuant to which Mr. Ning has conditionally
agreed to act as the director of the Film. The transactions
contemplated under the film production agreement and
the director agreement were approved by the independent
shareholders of the Company at the special general
meeting of the Company held on 21 February 2022.

The total production costs of the Film are RMB260,789,360
(equivalent to approximately HK$318,163,000). Mr. Ning
is entitled to a director fee of HK$30,000,000, which is
included in the production costs.

As at 31 December 2023, the total production costs paid
by the Group are approximately HK$283,229,000 (2022:
HK$177,876,000).
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35 BEALHEE

(a)

BEEALTZRS

RZZEZ—F+=A=+8 " ((Fr&5E
AﬁﬁmaﬁﬂéJE%%%%% B
BB B ST ABKRERERER (AL
B A (BT %ﬁa<<£EHHE>>)(fE%E%J>Fﬂ
REBIREEZRERY - R()EAR A
HEAERTERERGZE  BUEL
EHBRHRERETZETCEE - EX
EEGENERERGZE NRET S
RHEHEDERR BB IIRERARF]
RZZBEZZF_A-+—HEITZER
FERIRE EHbE o

ZEFTHNRAEKLEABARAAR
¥ 260,789,360 (HHE R LB
318,163,0007T) ° 2 &4 F #E W E &
Bl <& % # 30,000,0007T © B & EHE LK
gER -

R-ZZE-_=F+=-A=+—8 " £%£E
B EEL ;%;,i@ A #4975 283,229,000
T(ZE =45 : B#177,876,0007T) °



7

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 # =

35 RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES (Continued)

(b) Related party balances

#5 B U  HiR BH RE
—Po=FT-A=t-ALER

35 BEALTHRE(E
(b) EREREAL &8

2023 2022
—E-=F ==
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT
Amount due to P
- Mr. Dong (Note i) - E A (D - 182
Trade receivables JE U AR 3K
- Khorgas Dirty Monkey (Note ii) - ER RGP - 26,122
- Shanghai Dirty Monkey (Note iii) - _EgsERF (MEEin 1,065 1,096
1,065 27,218

The balance was denominated in HK$, unsecured, interest-free
and repayable within one year.

The balance represents the Group’s right to receive income
arisen from a film rights investment where the film was
released. Khorgas Dirty Monkey took the responsibility to
distribute the aforementioned income to the investors of the
film including one of our subsidiaries. There were no business
transactions occurred between the Group and Khorgas Dirty
Monkey during the year. The balance was denominated in RMB,
trade in nature, unsecured, interest-free and receivable subject
to certain conditions.

On 24 December 2018, the Group has entered into a film
investment agreement with Tibet Jindouyun. The Group invested
RMB12,000,000 for 10% of the income rights of the film and the
film was released. The balance represents the Group'’s right
to receive income arisen from the film rights investment from
Shanghai Dirty Monkey, a fellow subsidiary of Tibet Jindouyun.
The Group fully received the balance after the year ended 31
December 2023.

ZREBABEE  BER 28 RA
R—FREE -

ZREBEAREWR —IRE R RERE
FIE AR AERN - ZEFLD LB -
ERRAZEAFRAES LABAD KT
ZEFRET  EPEREAKEET -
RMBAR - REBEERRMERT
REABBETERNEBLR S - ZREH
MARBE REENLYE - S0
RERAEFGETHRENER TR
[E]

R-ZE—NF+-_A-+MHE  A&EH
HEEEAN BT RE RS c A&
E D& AR 12,000,0007T © HZFEH
10%H) IR 251+ SZ BT £ o 24
BRIEASERARG I ZNRRHEA
A EBBETRBEZERREREA
EERANERN - AEEEREE-F
—ZEF+ A=+ HLEER2BEK

BR AR
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 & ZE — T —=F+_A=+—HILtFE

35 RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES (Continued)

(c) Key management personnel
compensation

The remuneration of directors who were considered as key

35 BEATHRE(E

(c) EEEHEASHMH

FARRRAEETIEEEABZES

management personnel of the Group during the year is as BEnT
follows:
2023 2022
—EB-=F ===
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT IT
Short-term benefits kX HAtEF 38,577 21,304
Pension costs — defined contribution RIRE A - R e RETE
plans 18 18
38,595 21,322

The remuneration of directors and key executives is
determined by the Remuneration Committee having regard
to the performance of individuals and market trends.

36 EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

There was no material event after reporting period up to the
date of this annual report.
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37 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF

THE COMPANY

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 #

0 U5 3 W Bk

E-F-=£t+-A=t-ALTE

37 ARQTZMBIRRR

Non-current assets
Interests in subsidiaries
Film and TV programmes rights

Current assets
Prepayment for film and
TV programmes rights
Film and TV programmes rights
Trade and other receivables,
deposits and prepayments
Amounts due from subsidiaries
Cash and cash equivalents

Total assets

FRBEE
iSE) NG 5
BEY REEBIRE

RBEE
BY RBERBIREEMNR

EXNEGBIRE

TR W B R I L At B W RO

e RIEMAR
= PNCIE /O]
RAekReFE

EEAE

BEGREKEEARLAT - —E-=FFH

2023 2022
—E-=F — g
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT
182,754 192,981
178,028 68,943
360,782 261,924
- 101,500
128,609 30,000
13,653 79,614
215,099 324,136
37,743 5,201
395,104 540,451
755,886 802,375

207

.
~
iy



; JNOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
O A R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 & ZE — T —=F+_A=+—HILtFE

37 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF
THE COMPANY (Continued)

37 ARAZHMBRREKGE)

2023 2022
—E-=F —=E-_—
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5T BT T AT IT
Equity s
Share capital N 36,565 36,565
Reserves 1 (@) 680,140 753,829
Total equity R 716,705 790,394
Current liabilities REEE
Other payables E R 3RIE 36,092 8,620
Film investment funds from investors KB EENEZILE B 3,089 3,179
Amount due to a related party FER— R E AT RIA - 182
Total liabilities EE8E 39,181 11,981
Total equity and liabilities EnkEaERAE 755,886 802,375

ARRZHBERAREN B - mE=F=
+EABEFRIE TR THEERRE
FEER

The statement of financial position of the Company was
approved by the Board of Directors on 27 March 2024 and was
signed on its behalf:

Dong Ping Xiang Shaokun, Steven
B5Y¥ HAAERE
Director Director
EE £
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 & == ::¢+ A=+—H Jtif“

37 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF
THE COMPANY (Continued)

37 ARRZHMBRREKGE)

FiE
Reserves @ A

Share-based Accumulated

Share compensation Translation losses
premium reserve reserve (Note b) Total

MR A RER 2 ER
RPEE ZEMEE ERGE (Ktzth) kel
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BETT BETT BETT BETT
At 1 January 2022 i E =| 3,506,614 101,615 66,377 (2,798,183) 876,418
Total comprehensive loss for the year AFE2EFHELER - - (32,350) (90,239) (122,589)
At 31 December 2022 RZZZZ§+=A=1+-H 3,506,614 101,615 34,027 (2,888,427) 753,829
At 1 January 2023 R-E-=%-8-H 3,506,614 101,615 34,027 (2,888,427) 753,829
Total comprehensive loss for the year AFE2EEHELEE - - (23,805) (49,884) (73,689)
At 31 December 2023 R-ZB-=%+-A=1+-A 3,506,614 101,615 10,222 (2,938,311) 680,140

The contributed surplus of approximately HK$199,168,000 (2022:
HK$199,168,000) is included in the accumulated losses. It represented
reduction in issued share capital and share premium cancellation
pursuant to a capital restructuring in 2004 and capital reorganisation
in 2010, 2011 and 2012. Under the Company Law of Bermuda, the
contributed surplus of the Company is available for distribution.
However, the Company shall not declare or pay a dividend, or make a

distribution out of contributed surplus if:

(i) it is, or would after the payment be, unable to pay its liabilities

as they become due; or

(i) the realisable value of its assets would thereby be less than the
aggregate of its liabilities and its issued share capital and share

premium accounts.

b)) EHBBABE199,168,0000(—FE = —F : &

199,168, ooo%):ﬂ\;%:%&ﬂ% o

*%ﬂlﬁﬁ%ﬁ

ERE-_SZENFRAZERE_FT-FTF

T——FR-F

_Eﬂﬁzﬁiéﬂﬁvﬁﬁéﬂmza

BITBRAREHZBRMOEE - REBFREQF

= ﬁ’&ﬁZE%ﬂﬁﬁ%—h‘ 7k ©
BAEBABREIRK

ISR - AREAR
BHEHDIK :

(i) HIRRFTEE sk
afg %

ARfmmAET

O A B

ey

AR A 15 # £8  fF

EYeglp

iy HEEZUEREESEMEREERE

REBBITRAERNEE

o

BEGREKEEARLAT - —E-=FFH

RIAZ 42
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" NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

5 S0 5 Ak Wit B

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 & ZE — T —=F+_A=+—HILtFE

38 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

38.1 Impairment of non-financial assets

210

Assets that have an indefinite useful life and/or not
available for use are not subject to amortisation and are
tested annually for impairment, or more frequently if
events or changes in circumstances indicate that they
might be impaired. Other assets are tested for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate
that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An
impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which
the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable
amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an
asset’s fair value less costs of disposal and value in use.
For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are
grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately
identifiable cash inflows which are largely independent
of the cash inflows from other assets or groups of assets
(cash-generating units). Non-financial assets that suffered
an impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the
impairment at the end of each reporting period.

HUANXI MEDIA GROUP LIMITED - Annual Report 2023
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38 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY 38 HtbAgkBEE K2 S5t HEREBE
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (&)
(Continued)

38.2 Investments and other financial assets B2 REREMEMEE

(i)  Classification (i) #¥E

The Group classifies its financial assets in the REBIZRATFHEEFNEES /M

following measurement categories: BEMETHE

e those to be measured subsequently at fair e MERBEAFEFAEME
value (either through other comprehensive H sk BEmtEs - &
income (“OCI") or through profit or loss); and

e those to be measured at amortised cost. o BIRBEKAFESE -

The classification depends on the entity’s business AEEARERBEESREEZ

model for managing the financial assets and the ¥BEAUERREREZE DK

contractual terms of the cash flows.

For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses
will be recorded in profit or loss.

Recognition and derecognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets
are recognised on trade-date, the date on which
the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset.
Financial assets are derecognised when the rights
to receive cash flows from the financial assets have
expired or have been transferred and the Group has
transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership.

Ko

RIEAFEFEZEEMNS A
Bl e KBRS ET AdBas o

BB R AR

NERBEBERHEZEHME
ENRXSHBEAIAEEAZEE
KEEZEBEZH BR - Btd
MEERDIBESREZENNDL
Bk E  MASBE O EEE
ERZBRID AR KB RE
BRIt EREBEmEE -
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 & ZE — T —=F+_A=+—HILtFE

38 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY 38 HtagtBEE A Z ST HEME

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (48)

(Continued)

38.2 Investments and other financial assets B2 REFKEMEMEE ()
(Continued)
(i)  Measurement (i) FrE

212

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial
asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial
asset not at FVTPL, transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition of the financial asset.
Transaction costs of financial assets carried at FVTPL
are expensed in profit or loss.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are
considered in their entirety when determining
whether their cash flows are solely payment of
principal and interest.

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments
depends on the Group’s business model for
managing the asset and the cash flow characteristics
of the asset. There are three measurement
categories into which the Group classifies its debt
instruments:

Amortised cost: Assets that are held for collection
of contractual cash flows where those cash flows
represent solely payments of principal and interest
are measured at amortised cost. Interest income
from these financial assets is included in finance
income using the effective interest rate method. Any
gain or loss arising on derecognition is recognised
directly in profit or loss and presented in other gains,
net together with foreign exchange gains and losses.
Impairment losses are presented as separate line
item in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 HEZE — T =+ _A=+—HItFE

38 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY 38 Hitt ARt BEAR Z ST BURBE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (&)
(Continued)
38.2 Investments and other financial assets B2 REFKEMEMEE ()
(Continued)
(i)  Measurement (Continued) (i)  FrE (&
Debt instruments (Continued) ERTAGE)

FVOCI: Assets that are held for collection of
contractual cash flows and for selling the financial
assets, where the assets’ cash flows represent solely
payments of principal and interest, are measured
at FVOCI. Movements in the carrying amount are
taken through OCI, except for the recognition of
impairment gains or losses, interest income and
foreign exchange gains and losses which are
recognised in profit or loss. When the financial
asset is derecognised, the cumulative gain or loss
previously recognised in OCI is reclassified from
equity to profit or loss and recognised in other gains/
(losses). Interest income from these financial assets
is included in finance income using the effective
interest rate method. Foreign exchange gains and
losses are presented in other gains/(losses) and
impairment expenses are presented as separate line
item in the statement of profit or 10ss.

FVTPL: Assets that do not meet the criteria for
amortised cost or FVOCI are measured at FVTPL.
A gain or loss on a debt investment that is
subsequently measured at FVTPL is recognised in
profit or loss in the period in which it arises.

BAFEFAREMCEZEYSE &
REEEZRENABUBANRR
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N

38 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY 38 Hitt ARt BEAR Z ST BURBE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (&
(Continued)
38.2 Investments and other financial assets B2 RERHMEMEEE)
(Continued)
(iii)  Measurement (Continued) (i) FEEE)
Equity instruments BmTA
The Group subsequently measures all equity TEEBEREAFLETENER
investments at fair value. Where the Group's BRE AAKEEREDER
management has elected to present fair value gains B ERE 2 A FEREREE
and losses on equity investments in OCI, there is no REMEEKERZ5 - Bl&IE
subsequent reclassification of fair value gains and BRIRER  BEEESHHE
losses to profit or loss following the derecognition AFEREREBEEZEER - A&
of the investment. Dividends from such investments E WA Rz R LR - B
continue to be recognised in profit or loss as other KEZRBEBERNETTRERE
income when the Group’s right to receive payments HEMA o
is established.
Changes in the fair value of financial asset at FVTPL BEAFEHFABGZEREER
are recognised in other gains, net in the consolidated TEEZH NG ERRAME
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive MR P EMlEs  FEPE
income as applicable. Impairment losses (and RAER) - BAFEFAEMS
reversal of impairment losses) on equity investments Bt E s RERERERERE
measured at FVOCI are not reported separately from (BEEE BB ARl MR
other changes in fair value. FEEHHFER
(iv) Impairment (iv) dtE

214

The Group assesses on a forward-looking basis
the expected credit losses associated with its
debt instruments carried at amortised cost. The
impairment methodology applied depends on
whether there has been a significant increase in
credit risk.

For trade receivables and contract assets, the Group
applies the simplified approach permitted by HKFRS
9, which requires expected lifetime losses to be
recognised since initial recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 # =

38 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

38.2 Investments and other financial assets
(Continued)

(iv)

Impairment (Continued)

For other financial assets, it is measured as either
12-month expected credit losses or lifetime expected
credit loss, depending on whether there has been
a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition. If a significant increase in credit risk of a
receivable has occurred since initial recognition, then
impairment is measured as lifetime expected credit
losses.

38.3 Principles of consolidation

(1)

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured
entities) over which the Group has control. The Group
controls an entity when the Group is exposed to, or
has rights to, variable returns from its involvement
with the entity and has the ability to affect those
returns through its power to direct the activities of
the entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from
the date on which control is transferred to the Group.
They are deconsolidated from the date that control
ceases.

The acquisition method of accounting is used to
account for business combinations by the Group
(refer to Note 38.4).

Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised
gains on transactions between group companies
are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated
unless the transaction provides evidence of an
impairment of the transferred asset. Accounting
policies of subsidiaries have been changed where
necessary to ensure consistency with the policies
adopted by the Group.
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38 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY 38 HittAgtBE K 2 5T BURME
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (&
(Continued)

38.3 Principles of consolidation (Continued) 383 A RAI(E)

216

(ii)

Subsidiaries controlled through Contractual
Arrangements

In order to comply with the PRC laws and regulations
which prohibit or restrict foreign control of
companies involved in provision of internet content
and other restricted businesses, the Group operates
its business operations within these areas in the PRC
through certain PRC operating entities, whose equity
interests are held by certain management members
of the Group (“Nominee Shareholders"”). The Group
signed Contractual Arrangements with the PRC
operating entities. The Contractual Arrangements
include exclusive management services and
business cooperation agreement, exclusive option
agreements, equity pledge agreements, powers of
attorney and spousal consents letters, which enable
the Group to:

° govern the financial and operating policies of
the PRC operating entities;

. exercise equity holder voting rights of the PRC
operating entities;

° receive substantially all of the economic
interest returns generated by the PRC operating
entities;
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 # =

38 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

38.3 Principles of consolidation (Continued)

(i)

(i)

Subsidiaries controlled through Contractual
Arrangements (Continued)

. obtain an irrevocable and exclusive right to
purchase part or all of the equity interests in
the PRC operating entities at any time and from
time to time, at the minimum consideration
permitted by the relevant law in China at the
time of transfer; and

. obtain a pledge over all of its equity interests
from its respective Nominee Shareholders as
collateral for all of the PRC entities’ payments
due to the Group to secure performance of
entities’ obligation under the Contractual
Arrangements.

Accordingly, the Group has rights to control these
entities. As a result, they are presented as entities
controlled by the Group.

Joint arrangements

Under HKFRS 11 Joint Arrangements investments
in joint arrangements are classified as either joint
operations or joint ventures. The classification
depends on the contractual rights and obligations of
each investor, rather than the legal structure of the
joint arrangement. The Group has joint operations.

Joint operations

The Group recognises its direct right to the assets,
liabilities, revenues and expenses of joint operations
and its share of any jointly held or incurred assets,
liabilities, revenues and expenses. These have been
incorporated in the consolidated financial statements
under the appropriate headings.
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38

SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

38.3 Principles of consolidation (Continued)

(iv)  Changes in ownership interests

When the Group ceases to consolidate for an
investment because of a loss of control, any
retained interest in the entity is remeasured to
its fair value with the change in carrying amount
recognised in profit or loss. This fair value becomes
the initial carrying amount for the purposes of
subsequently accounting for the retained interest
as an associate, joint venture or financial asset.
In addition, any amounts previously recognised
in other comprehensive income in respect of that
entity are accounted for as if the Group had directly
disposed of the related assets or liabilities. This may
mean that amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or
loss or transferred to another category of equity as
specified/permitted by applicable HKFRSs.

38.4 Business combinations

218

The acquisition method of accounting is used to account
for all business combinations, regardless of whether
equity instruments or other assets are acquired. The
consideration transferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary
comprises the:

o fair values of the assets transferred;

o liabilities incurred to the former owners of the
acquired business;

o equity interests issued by the Group;

o fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a
contingent consideration arrangement; and

o fair value of any pre-existing equity interest in the
subsidiary.
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38 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY HrgEBEA ST HEME
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES ( =)
(Continued)

38.4 Business combinations (Continued) 384 ¥R E6E(E)

Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent
liabilities assumed in a business combination are,
with limited exceptions, measured initially at their fair
values at the acquisition date. The Group recognises
any noncontrolling interest in the acquired entity on an
acquisition by-acquisition basis either at fair value or at
the noncontrolling interest’s proportionate share of the
acquired entity’s net identifiable assets.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.
The excess of the:
o consideration transferred:;

o amount of any non-controlling interest in the
acquired entity; and

o acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity
interest in the acquired entity,

over the fair value of the net identifiable assets acquired
is recorded as goodwill. If those amounts are less than
the fair value of the net identifiable assets of the business
acquired, the difference is recognised directly in profit or
loss as a bargain purchase.

Where settlement of any part of cash consideration is
deferred, the amounts payable in the future are discounted
to their present value as at the date of exchange. The
discount rate used is the entity’s incremental borrowing
rate, being the rate at which a similar borrowing could be
obtained from an independent financier under comparable
terms and conditions. Contingent consideration is classified
either as equity or a financial liability. Amounts classified
as a financial liability are subsequently remeasured to fair
value with changes in fair value recognised in profit or l0ss.
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38 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

38.5 Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less
impairment. Cost includes direct attributable costs of
investment. The results of subsidiaries are accounted for
by the Company on the basis of dividend received and
receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries is
required upon receiving a dividend from these investments
if the dividend exceeds the total comprehensive income
of the subsidiary in the period the dividend is declared or
if the carrying amount of the investment in the separate
financial statements exceeds the carrying amount in the
consolidated financial statements of the investee’s net
assets including goodwill.

38.6 Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent
with the internal reporting provided to the CODM.

The executive directors of the Company, as being the
CODM, assess the financial performance and position of
the Group, and makes strategic decisions.

38.7 Foreign currency translation

220

(i) Functional and presentation currency

[tems included in the financial statements of each of
the Group's entities are measured using the currency
of the primary economic environment in which
the entity operates (‘the functional currency’). The
functional currency of the Company is RMB while the
consolidated financial statements of the Company
are presented in HK$, which management considers
that it is more convenient to the shareholders as the
Company is a listed company in Hong Kong.
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38 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

38.7 Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(i)

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the
functional currency using the exchange rates at the
dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains
and losses resulting from the settlement of such
transactions and from the translation of monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies at year end exchange rates are generally
recognised in profit or loss. They are deferred in
equity if they relate to qualifying cash flow hedges
and qualifying net investment hedges or are
attributable to part of the net investment in a foreign
operation.

Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate
to borrowings are presented in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income, within finance costs. All other foreign
exchange gains and losses are presented in the profit
or loss on a net basis within other gains, net.

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair
value in a foreign currency are translated using the
exchange rates at the date when the fair value was
determined. Translation differences on assets and
liabilities carried at fair value are reported as part of
the fair value gain or loss. For example, translation
differences on non-monetary assets and liabilities
such as equities held at fair value through profit or
loss are recognised in profit or loss as part of the
fair value gain or loss and translation differences on
non-monetary assets such as equities classified as
fair value through other comprehensive income are
recognised in other comprehensive income.
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38 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY 38 Hitt ARt BEAR Z ST BURBE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (&)
(Continued)
38.7 Foreign currency translation (Continued) 38.7 N IRE (2)
(ifi)  Group companies (i) FEEETFLE
The results and financial position of foreign e 25| 8 AR 285

operations (none of which has the currency of a ¥R EREBRME CEE) 2
hyperinflationary economy) that have a functional EBERBBRRILAT I BE
currency different from the presentation currency REINEE

are translated into the presentation currency as

follows:

assets and liabilities for each statement of
financial position presented are translated at
the closing rate at the date of that statement of
financial position;

income and expenses for each statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income
are translated at average exchange rates
(unless this is not a reasonable approximation
of the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing
on the transaction dates, in which case income
and expenses are translated at the dates of the
transactions), and

all resulting exchange differences are
recognised in other comprehensive income.
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38 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

38.7 Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(i)

(iv)

Group companies (Continued)

On consolidation, exchange differences arising
from the translation of any net investment in
foreign entities, and of borrowings and other
financial instruments designated as hedges of such
investments, are recognised in other comprehensive
income. When a foreign operation is sold or any
borrowings forming part of the net investment are
repaid, the associated exchange differences are
reclassified to profit or loss, as part of the gain or
loss on sale.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the
acquisition of a foreign operation are treated as
assets and liabilities of the foreign operation and
translated at the closing rate.

Disposal of foreign operation

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is, a
disposal of the Group's entire interest in a foreign
operation, or a disposal involving loss of control over
a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation), all of
the currency translation differences accumulated in
equity in respect of that operation attributable to the
owners of the company are reclassified to profit or
loss.
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38 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

38.8 Property, plant and equipment

All property, plant and equipment are stated at historical
cost less depreciation. Historical cost includes expenditure
that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the items.
Cost may also include transfers from equity of any gains or
losses on qualifying cash flow hedges of foreign currency
purchases of property, plant and equipment.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying
amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate,
only when it is probable that future economic benefits
associated with the item will flow to the Group and the
cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying
amount of any component accounted for as a separate
asset is derecognised when replaced. All other repairs
and maintenance are charged to profit or loss during the
reporting period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method
to allocate their cost or revalued amounts, net of their
residual values, over their estimated useful lives or, in the
case of leasehold improvements and certain leased plant
and equipment, the shorter lease term as follows:

33% or over the
lease term,
whichever is shorter

o Leasehold improvements
o Furniture, fixtures and equipment 20% t0 33%

o Motor vehicles 20%

HUANXI MEDIA GROUP LIMITED - Annual Report 2023

38 HttAsEBEA 2 ST BRBE

(48)

38.8

M3 - BERRE

FRBME - BB MREBIRE L AR
FEIR - ELRABEREZERE
BEERBEHFEX ° KA TNA] BB 1 i
REEBNIINEBEME  BEMRE
BERRDINE PO EAI KRB

B

{27 HE5% I8 B ARB AR R B F s R A
REMR AR SR B B %R B MR AR RE S ] 58
WEHEMBERT  RERETETA
BEZERHEXBRLABLEE(WNE
) - ERBYEEARNEMBYZ
FREENE R IR o A b
ERREEBRLENRER AR

FENREAERFHEGNERE
MERENRETHERE ;ERE - A%
REEEFH)  WEHRESEKAK
EfeRENREEFENT

e HEMERKE 33%zk A &

(AR E /L)
e KB KERERME 20%Z33%
O E 20%



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

0 U5 3 W Bk

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 i ZE—ZE =+ _-_A=+—H Jtif“

38 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

38.8 Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed,
and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting
period.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately
to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is
greater than its estimated recoverable amount (Note 38.2).

Gains or losses on disposals are determined by comparing
proceeds with carrying amount. These are included in
profit or loss.

38.9 Intangible assets

Software and license

Separately acquired software are shown at historical
cost. Licenses acquired in a business combination are
recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. They have
a finite useful life and are subsequently carried at cost less
accumulated amortisation and impairment losses.

Amortisation methods and periods

The Group amortises software and license with a useful life
using the straight-line method over five years.
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38 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY 38 HMiMeEBEARCEFBERE
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (%)
(Continued)
38.10 Financial liabilities BNEMAE
() Initial recognition and measurement () HEERESE
Financial liabilities of the Group are classified, at $%§éﬁ@%%%miﬁﬁgﬁ%
initial recognition, at amortised cost. DRRIRBHIATE -
All financial liabilities are recognised initially at Pﬁﬁ;ﬁ%ﬂﬁ%@%ﬂbﬂﬁ:&i@%
fair value and, in the case of financial liabilities PARER - ﬁﬂ?ﬁﬁﬁﬁz’xﬁ*%%@j
at amortised cost, net of directly attributable BAERNRHREREER S
transaction costs. EN
(i) Subsequent measurement (i) E#TE
After initial recognition, financial liabilities are ﬁ]*fﬁﬁ?ﬁé : ﬁ%ﬂ%1§f¥?§f§%
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using EV%%'J$>£?°\%1§&$¢JW$;+§; ' HE
the effective interest rate method unless the effect fi Eﬁiﬁ%%ﬂfﬁﬁ - Al &FX$
of discounting would be immaterial, in which Z'JEE ”yﬁE&EﬁgﬁAﬁiﬁE”?%
case they are stated at cost. Gains and losses are E 5%5;@5%*”3‘2%% BFRIR
recognised in the profit or loss when the liabilities mNER °
are derecognised as well as through the effective
interest rate amortisation process.
(i) Derecognition (iii) A1 FERR
A financial liability is derecognised when the @@E\%E\/\‘\E\{EFTZ?&%%
obligation under the liability is discharged or i~ BROR S s A% LERERR, ©

cancelled or expires.
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38 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

38.11 Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net
amount reported in the consolidated statement of
financial position where the Group currently has a legally
enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts, and
there is an intention to settle on a net basis or realise the
asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

38.12 Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for
services performed in the ordinary course of business.
They are generally due for settlement within one year and
therefore are all classified as current.

Trade receivables are recognised initially at the amount
of consideration that is unconditional unless they
contain significant financing components, when they
are recognised at fair value. The Group holds the trade
and other receivables with the objective to collect the
contractual cash flows and therefore measures them
subsequently at amortised cost using the effective interest
method. See Note 23 for further information about the
Group's accounting for trade receivables and Note 3.1(b)
for a description of the Group’s impairment policies.

38.13 Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated
statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents
includes cash on hand and deposits held at call with
financial institutions.
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38 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

38.14 Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity (Note 30).

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new
shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net
of tax, from the proceeds.

Where any group company purchases the Company’s
equity instruments, for example as the result of a share
buy-back, the consideration paid, including any directly
attributable incremental costs (net of income taxes) is
deducted from equity attributable to the owners of the
Company as treasury shares until the shares are cancelled
or reissued. Where such ordinary shares are subsequently
reissued, any consideration received, net of any directly
attributable incremental transaction costs and the related
income tax effects, is included in equity attributable to the
owners of the Company.

38.15 Trade and other payables

228

These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services
provided to the Group prior to the end of financial year
which are unpaid. The amounts are unsecured and are
usually paid within the credit term. Trade and other
payables are presented as current liabilities unless
payment is not due within 12 months after the reporting
period. They are recognised initially at their fair value
and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method.
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38 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY HtngEBEA S HERE
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES ( Z)
(Continued)
38.16 Borrowings 38.16 fB X
Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, net of BRI RQAFEER  HREENHR
transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently S o [EREBIZBHEKARGTE - T

measured at amortised cost. Any difference between the
proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption
amount is recognised in profit or loss over the period of
the borrowings using the effective interest method.

Borrowings are removed from the consolidated statement
of financial position when the obligation specified in the
contract is discharged, cancelled or expired. The difference
between the carrying amount of a financial liability that
has been extinguished or transferred to another party
and the consideration paid, including any non-cash assets
transferred or liabilities assumed, is recognised in profit or
loss as finance costs.

Where the terms of a financial liability are renegotiated
and the entity issues equity instruments to a creditor to
extinguish all or part of the liability (debt for equity swap),
a gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss, which is
measured as the difference between the carrying amount
of the financial liability and the fair value of the equity
instruments issued.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the
Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the
liability for at least 12 months after the reporting period.
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38 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

38.17 Borrowing costs

General and specific borrowing costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition, construction or production
of a qualifying asset are capitalised during the period of
time that is required to complete and prepare the asset for
its intended use or sale. Qualifying assets are assets that
necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready
for their intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment of
specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying
assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for
capitalisation.

Other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which
they are incurred.

38.18 Current and deferred income tax

230

The income tax expense or credit for the period is the tax
payable on the current period’s taxable income based
on the applicable income tax rate for each jurisdiction
adjusted by changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities
attributable to temporary differences and to unused tax
losses.

Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of
the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the end of
the reporting period in the countries where the company
and its subsidiaries and associates operate and generate
taxable income. Management periodically evaluates
positions taken in tax returns with respect to situations in
which applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation.
It establishes provisions where appropriate on the basis of
amounts expected to be paid to the tax authorities.
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38 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY HrgEBEA ST HEME
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES ( =)

(Continued)

38.18 Current and deferred income tax 3818 ENHA RIEFEFT 5B (&)

(Continued)
Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability
method, on temporary differences arising between the tax
bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in
the consolidated financial statements. However, deferred
tax liabilities are not recognised if they arise from the
initial recognition of goodwill. Deferred income tax is also
not accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of an
asset or liability in a transaction other than a business
combination that at the time of the transaction affects
neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred
income tax is determined using tax rates (and laws) that
have been enacted or substantially enacted by the end
of the reporting period and are expected to apply when
the related deferred income tax asset is realised or the
deferred income tax liability is settled.

Deferred tax assets are recognised only if it is probable
that future taxable amounts will be available to utilise
those temporary differences and losses.

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are not recognised for
temporary differences between the carrying amount and
tax bases of investments in foreign operations where
the company is able to control the timing of the reversal
of the temporary differences and it is probable that the
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there
is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets
and liabilities and when the deferred tax balances relate
to the same taxation authority. Current tax assets and
tax liabilities are offset where the entity has a legally
enforceable right to offset and intends either to settle on
a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously.
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38 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

232

38.18 Current and deferred income tax
(Continued)

Deferred income tax (Continued)

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or 10ss,
except to the extent that it relates to items recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this
case, the tax is also recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity, respectively.

38.19 Employee benefits

(i)

(ii)

Short-term obligations

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including
nonmonetary benefits that are expected to be settled
wholly within 12 months after the end of the period in
which the employees render the related service are
recognised in respect of employees’ services up to
the end of the reporting period and are measured at
the amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities
are settled. The liabilities are presented as current
employee benefit obligations in the consolidated
statement of financial position.

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
(the “MPF Scheme”) are recognised as an expense
when employees have rendered service entitling
them to the contributions.

In addition, pursuant to the government regulations
in the PRC, the fulltime employees in the PRC are
covered by various government-sponsored pension
plans under which the employees are entitled to
a monthly pension based on certain formulas.
Contributions to these plans are expensed as
incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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38 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

38.19 Employee benefits (Continued)

(i)

(iv)

Profit-sharing and bonus plans

The Group recognises a liability and an expense
for bonuses and profit-sharing where contractually
obliged or where there is a past practice that has
created a constructive obligation.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are payable when employment
is terminated by the Group before the normal
retirement date, or when an employee accepts
voluntary redundancy in exchange for these benefits.
The Group recognises termination benefits at the
earlier of the following dates: (a) when the Group can
no longer withdraw the offer of those benefits; and (b)
when the entity recognises costs for a restructuring
that is within the scope of HKAS 37 and involves the
payment of terminations benefits. In the case of an
offer made to encourage voluntary redundancy, the
termination benefits are measured based on the
number of employees expected to accept the offer.
Benefits falling due more than 12 months after the
end of the reporting period are discounted to present
value.
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38 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

38.20 Share-based payments

(i)

Employee options

Share-based compensation benefits are provided to
employees via the Group's employee option scheme,
the executive short-term incentive scheme and share
appreciation. Information relating to these schemes
is set out in Note 34.

The fair value of options granted under the employee
option scheme is recognised as an employee benefits
expense with a corresponding increase in equity.
The total amount to be expensed is determined by
reference to the fair value of the options granted:

o including any market performance conditions
(e.g. the entity’s share price),

. excluding the impact of any service and
nonmarket performance vesting conditions
(e.g. profitability, sales growth targets and
remaining an employee of the entity over a
specified time period); and

. including the impact of any non-vesting
conditions (e.g. the requirement for employees
to save or holdings shares for a specific period
of time).

The total expense is recognised over the vesting
period, which is the period over which all of the
specified vesting conditions are to be satisfied. At the
end of each period, the entity revises its estimates
of the number of options that are expected to
vest based on the non-market vesting and service
conditions. It recognises the impact of the revision
to original estimates, if any, in profit or loss, with a
corresponding adjustment to equity.
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38 HttAsEBMEAR 2 ST BRBE
(#8)

38 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

38.20 Share-based payments (Continued) 380 BB HER SR E)

(i)  Share-based payment for cooperation with a film (i) BA—EEBEEHEGIEZURGH

director BEZ 15

Equity-settled share-based payment for cooperation H—2EERAECAERAE
with a film director is measured at the fair value of B ARG BER 2 e K
the goods or services received or the fair value of BRE@mERBE 2 A FEFE @ %
the equity instrument granted if the fair value of WL A EMfh st E MR 2
goods or services cannot be estimated reliably. The ANEE - AEABRTHEZIA
share-based payment is recognised as expenses in MAFEE - BRIFEERIRE
accordance with “HKFRS 2 — Share-based payment” REeBERBERREE  BRINAR
unless the goods or services qualify for recognition MAER A HBIEEBT R
as assets. EEBE2HRIARD ABER

HRIER A/ -
38.21 Provisions 38.21 1845

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events,
it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required
to settle the obligation and the amount can be reliably
estimated. Provisions are not recognised for future
operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the
likelihood that an outflow will be required in settlement
is determined by considering the class of obligations as a
whole. A provision is recognised even if the likelihood of an
outflow with respect to any one item included in the same
class of obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of
management’s best estimate of the expenditure required
to settle the present obligation at the end of the reporting
period. The discount rate used to determine the present
value is a pre-tax rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the liability. The increase in the provision due to
the passage of time is recognised as interest expense.
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38 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

38.22 Dividend income

Dividends are received from financial assets measured
at FVTPL and at FVOCI. Dividends are recognised as
other income in profit or loss when the right to receive
payment is established. This applies even if they are paid
out of preacquisition profits, unless the dividend clearly
represents a recovery of part of the cost of an investment.
In this case, the dividend is recognised in OCI if it relates
to an investment measured at FVOCI. However, the
investment may need to be tested for impairment as a
consequence.

38.23 Interest income

236

Interest income from financial asset at FVTPL is included in
the net fair value gains/(losses) on these assets.

Interest income on financial assets at amortised cost and
financial assets at FVOCI calculated using the effective
interest method is recognised in profit or loss as part of
other income.

Interest income is presented as finance income where
it is earned from financial assets that are held for cash
management purposes, see Note 11. Any other interest
income is included in other income.

Interest income is calculated by applying the effective
interest rate to the gross carrying amount of a financial
asset except for financial assets that subsequently become
credit-impaired. For credit-impaired financial assets
the effective interest rate is applied to the net carrying
amount of the financial asset (after deduction of the loss
allowance).
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38 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

38.24 Profit per share
(i) Basic profit per share
Basic profit per share is calculated by dividing:

. the profit attributable to equity owners of the
Company, excluding any costs of servicing
equity other than ordinary shares; and

. by the weighted average number of ordinary
shares outstanding during the financial year,
adjusted for bonus elements in ordinary shares
issued during the year and excluding treasury
shares.

(i) Diluted profit per share

Diluted profit per share adjusts the figures used in
the determination of basic profit per share to take
into account:

. the after income tax effect of interest and
other financing costs associated with dilutive
potential ordinary shares; and

o the weighted average number of additional
ordinary shares that would have been
outstanding assuming the conversion of all
dilutive potential ordinary shares.
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38 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

38.25 Leases

238

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially
measured on a present value basis. Lease liabilities include
the net present value of the following lease payments:

fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments), less any lease incentives receivable,

variable lease payments that are based on an index
or a rate, initially measured using the index or rate as
at the commencement date,

amounts expected to be payable by the group under
residual value guarantees,

the exercise price of a purchase option if the group is
reasonably certain to exercise that option, and

payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the
lease term reflects the group exercising that option.

Lease payments to be made under reasonably certain
extension options are also included in the measurement of
the liability.

Lease payments are allocated between principal and
finance cost. The finance cost is charged to profit or loss
over the lease period so as to produce a constant periodic
rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability for
each period.
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38 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY 38 HtbAgkBEE K2 S5t HEREBE
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (&)
(Continued)

38.25 Leases (Continued) BBHE(E)

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the
following:

o the amount of the initial measurement of lease
liability,

. any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date less any lease incentives
received,

o any initial direct costs, and

O restoration costs.

Entity-specific details about the Group'’s leasing policy are
provided in Note 18(c).

38.26 Dividend distribution

Provision is made for the amount of any dividend
declared, being appropriately authorised and no longer
at the discretion of the entity, on or before the end of
the reporting period but not distributed at the end of the
reporting period.

38.27 Government grants

Grants from the government are recognised at their fair
value where there is a reasonable assurance that the
grant will be received and the Group will comply with all
attached conditions.

Government grants relating to costs are deferred and
recognised in the profit or loss over the period necessary
to match them with the costs that they are intended to
compensate.
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& FINANCIAL SUMMARY
3 A %5 L2

A summary of the results, assets and liabilities of the Group for the last
five financial years is as follows:

AEBBL T AN REE Y £ AEREBRE
T -

For the year ended 31 December
BE+-RA=1+—-RALtEE

2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
= -"T--fF —T--—F —T-TF —T-NF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BEFT BT BT BB
RESULTS E
Continuing operations BELEER
Revenue and film investment WHREFRE
income/(loss), net WA/ (E18)  F58E 1,332,794 13,630 158,353 633,176 814,425
Profit/(loss) before tax BBATE R/ (B518) 212,085 (223,272) (220,020) (240,157) 186,188
Income tax (expense)/credit FIBREY), e (52,950) 1,460 (15,537) = (81,081)
Profit/(l0ss) from continuing REFELEEBRN
Operations w7/ (E18) 159,135 (221,812) (235,557) (240,157) 105,107
Discontinued operations BERIEEEET
Profit/(loss) from discontinued REERIEEEEBR
operations w7/ (&) - - - 3,766 @)
Profit/(loss) for the year AEERF/(E8) 159,135 (221,812) (235,557) (236,391) 105,103
Profit/(loss) for the year AEZRF/ (518
attributable to: EEN
Owners of the Company ARAEE A 159,135 (221,812) (235,557) (236,391) 105,103
At 31 December
R+=BA=+-8
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
—E-=f -—T--F -—B-—& <—ZT-FTE <—Z-hE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BEFT BETT BT T BETT
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EERAERE
Total assets BELD 2,234,243 2,210,335 2,261,696 1,745,611 1,855,506
Total liabilities BEES (780,675) (881,899) (606,427) (299,178) (725,276)
Total equity T iEs 1,453,568 1,328,436 1,655,269 1,446,433 1,130,230
Attributable to: BB
Owners of the Company VAYNGIE PN 1,453,568 1,328,436 1,655,269 1,446,433 1,130,230
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